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ACCEPTANCE FROM FOREIGN PRIVATE ISSUERS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS WITHOUT RECONCILIATION TO-
U.S. GAAP .
AGENCY: Securities and Exchange Commission.
| ACTION:  Proposed rule.
SUMMARY: The »Commission is proposing to accept from foreigrvllprivate issuers their
financial stat'ements prepared in accordance Wifh International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as published by the Interﬁational Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) Without reconciliation to generally accepted accounting pﬁnciples (“GAAP”)
as used in the United St.a'tes. To implement this, we propose amendrﬁents to Form 20-F
and conforming changes to Regﬁlation .S-X to accept financial statements prepared in
| accordance with the English language version of IFRS as publishéd by the IASB without
reconciliation to U.S. GAAP when contaiped in fhe filings of foreign private issuers §vith,
the Commission.
| We also are proposing conforming amendments to other regulations, forms and
rules under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. Current requirements regarding the

reconciliation to U.S. GAAP will not change for a foreign priVate issuer that uses a basis

of accounting other than the English language version of IFRS as published by the IASB.
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DATES: Comments should be received on or before [insert date 75 days following
publication in the Federal Register].

~ ADDRESSES: Comments may be submitted by any of the following methods:

Electronic Comments:

e Use of the Commission’s Internet comment form
(bttp://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed.shtml); or -

e Send an e-mail to rule-comments@sec.gov. Please include File Number S7-
13-07 on the subject line; or

e Use the Federal Rulemaking ePortal (http://www. regulatlons gov) Follow the
~ instructions for submitting comments. :

Paper Comments:

e Send paper comments in triplicate to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Securities
 and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090.

All submissions should refer fo File Number S7-13-07. The file numbér should be
included on the subject .line. if e-mail is used. To help us process and review your
comments more efficiently, please use only one method. Th¢ Corﬁmission WiH post all
cofnments on the Commission’s Internet Web site
(http://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/shtml). Comments also are availablé for public
inspection and copying in the Cornmiséion’s Public Reference Room, 100 F_Street, NE,
Washingt‘vonv, DC 20549, on official business dayé between the hours of 10:00 am and

~ 3:00 pm. All comments received will be posted without change; We do not edit personél
identifying information from submissions. You should submit only information that you
‘wish to make availablé publicly.

~ FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Questions about this release should

be directed to Michael D. Coco, Special Counsel, Office of International Corporate



Finance, Division of Corporation Finance, at (202) 551-3450, or to Katrina A. Kimpel,
Professional Accounting Fellow, Office of the Chief Accountant, at (202) 551-5300, US.
Securitics and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Wachington, DC 20549-3628.
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission is'publishing for comment
proposed amendments to Form 20-F' under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”»),2 Rules 3-10 and 4-01‘of Regulaticn S-X,’ Forms F-4 and S-4 und_er the
Securities Act,* and Rule 701 under the Securities Act.’
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The term "foreign private issuer” is defined in Exchange Act Rule 3b-4(c) [17 CFR
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business of the issuer is administered principally in the United States.

317 CFR 210.3-10 and 17 CFR 210.4-01. Regulation S-X sets forth the form and content
of requirements for financial statements.

*17 CFR 239.34 and 17 CFR 239.13.

517 CFR 230.701.
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. OVERVIEW AND HISTORY

Foreign private issuers that register sacufities with the SEC, and that reportA ona
peﬁodic basis thereafter under Section 13(a) or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act,’ are currently
required to present audited statements of income, financial position, changes in
shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the past three financial years,’ prepared on
a consistent basis of accounting.® All foreign private issuers are currently required to
reconcile to U;S. GAAP the financial statements that they ﬁie with the Commission if the
financial statements are prépared using any basis of accounting other than U.S. GAAP.?

The Commission is proposing for comment revisions to Form 20-F and
Regulation S-X under which it would accept financial statements of forei gn private

issuers that are prepared on the basis of the Engliéh language version of IFRS as

$15US8.C. 78m(a) or 780(d). Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act requires every issuer of
a security registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 781] to file
with the Commission such annual reports and such other reports as the Commission may
prescribe. Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act requires each issuer that has filed a
registration statement that has become effective pursuant to the Securities Act to file such
supplementary and periodic information, documents and reports as may be required
pursuant to Section 13 in respect of a security registered pursuant to Section 12, unless
the duty to file under Section 15(d) has been suspended for any financial year.

7 Consistent with Form 20-F, IFRS and general usage outside the United States, we use
the term "financial year" to refer to a fiscal year. See Instruction 2 to Item 3 of Form 20-
F. Foreign private issuers that are first-time adopters of IFRS published by the IASB are
permitted to provide financial statements for the most recent two financial years. See
General Instruction G for Form 20 F.

8 See Item 8.A.2 of Form 20-F. Instructions to this item permit a foreign private issuer to
omit a balance sheet for the earliest of the three years if that balance sheet is not required

-by a foreign jurisdiction.

® See Items 17 and 18 of Form 20-F; see also Article 4 of Regulation S-X.



published by the IASB without a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP." The revisions would
allow a foreigh private issﬁer to file financial statements prepared in accordancé with
IFRS és published by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. We are not
proposing to change existing reconciliation requirements for foreign private issuers that
file their financial statements under other sets of accounting standards, or that are not in
full compliance with IFRS as published by the IASB. |
A. History of the U.S. GAAP Reconciliation Requirément

In a_reconcili'ation, a for.eign private issuer that files its financial statements
prepared in accordance \%Vith a baéis of accoﬁnting other than U.S. GAAP must identify
and quantify .the material differences from the requirements of U.S. GAAP and
Regulation S-X. The reconciliation to U.S. GAAP may be presented pursuant to either
Item 17 or ‘Item 18 of Form 20-F. Under Item 17, an issuer is required to provide a
narrative description of differences and a quantitative rgconciliation of specific financial
statemenf line items from non-U.S. GAAP to U.S. GAAP, but without all U.S. GAAP |
and Regulé.tion S-X disclosures. An issuer may use Item 17 when filing its financial
statements in an Exchange Act registration statement 6r annual report filed on Form 20-F,
or as part of a Sécurities Act registratioh statement for inves&nent grade, non-con-vertible
securities or certain rights offerings. Under Item 18, an issuer is required to provide the

reconciling information specified in Item 17 as well as all disclosures required by

'* All references in this release to IFRS as published by the IASB refer to the English

language version of IFRS. The IASB approves the English language text of any IFRS

standard, although the International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation

(“IASC Foundation”) may issue translations into other languages. See “International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), including International Accounting Standards

(IASs) and Interpretations as at 1 January 2005,” International Accounting Standards
Board Preface to IFRS, at 27. '



Regulation S-X and USS. GAAP An issuer must comply with Item 18 when filing -
financial statements in a Securities Act registration statement for offerings of equity,
convertible and other securities.
The Commission first addressed discrepancies in financial information provided
under a foreign basis of accounting and U.S. GAAP through amendments to Forms 20
and 20—K adopfed in 1967." Although a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP was not explicitly
_réquired, the amendedvinStfuctions to Form 20 required that “every issuer registering
securities on this form shall file as a part of its registration statement the financial
statements, schedules and accountants’ certificates which would be required to be filed if
| the registration statement were filed on Form 10.l*1 Any material variation in accounting
principles or practices from the form and content of financial statementé. prescribed inr
Regulatio}n S-X shall be disclosed and, to the extent practicable, the effect of each such
variation gi‘ven.”‘3 The financial statement -instruction_s for the annual report on Form 20-

K contained a similar requirement.

' See Securities Exchange Act Release Nos. 8067 and 8068 (April 28, 1967). Form 20
was the registration statement under Section 12 of the Securities Act and Form 20-K
was the annual report form for foreign private issuers.

2 Form 10 is the registration statement under Section 12 of the Exchange Act for
domestic issuers. o '

13 Although the Commission adopted Regulation S-X in 1940 as an instruction booklet
to be followed in the preparation of financial statements to be included in filings,
~application of the Regulation did not extend to foreign private issuers.

1 Prior to 1967, foreign private issuers were required only to-present financial
statements consisting of a balance sheet as of the-close of the most recent fiscal year
and a profit and loss statement for the fiscal year preceding the date of the balance
sheet. The financial statements were not required to be certified. '
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‘.

In 1979, the Commission adopfed significant amendments to the disclosure

‘requirements applicable to foreign private issuers.” These amendments were based on

the Commission’s belief that “providing more meaningful disclosure to investors in

- foreign securities not only would promote the protection of investors but may encourage

the free flow of capital between nations and tend to reduce any competitive disadvantage
with which United States issuers muet contend vis-a-vis foreign issuers of securities.”'

The Commission adopted the current reconciliation requirements in 1982 when
adepting new Securities Act registration statements for foreign private issuers as part of
its comprehensive efforts to develop an integrated diselosure system."” Prior to 1V982,
offering documeﬁts of foreign private issuers contained a full recohciliatien, while annual
reports required only a narrative description of diffefences between a foreign basis of
accounting and U.S. G Ve |

The Commission’s approach has developed in the context of integrated .

disclosure. In designing the integrated disclosure regime for foreign private issuers, the

1 Secﬁrities Exchange Act Release No. 34-16371 (November 29, 1979).

e Securities Exchange Act Release No. 34-14128 (Neilember 2,1977).-

17 Secuﬁties Act Release No. 33-6437 (November 19, 1982). ,

18 Untii 1980 the only gui}dance with respect to eccountiﬁg principles and financial

statements of foreign issuers were form-based requirements and the continued
applicability of Accounting Series Release 4, which, since 1935, required only that the

accounting principles used by foreign private issuers have authoritative support. In

1980, the Commission amended Regulation S-X adding language to Rule 4-01 to
require foreign issuers’ financial statements prepared in accordance with a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than U.S. GAAP to be reconciled to U.S.
GAAP. h '
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Commission endeavored to “design a system thaf parallels the system for domestic
issuers but also takes into account the different circumstances of foreign registrants,”"
Given the dual considerations of investor protection and even-handedness rtowards
~ foreign private issuers, the Cominission has framed its consideration of the reconciliation
requirement as a Balancing of two policy concerns: investors’ need for the same type of
basic information when making an investment decision regardless of whether the issuer is
foreign or domestic, and the public intérest served by an opportunify to invest in a variety
of securities,.including foreign securities.” Investors’ need for the same type of basic
information implies that foreign and domestic registrants should be subject to the same
disclosure requirements. However, the burden on foreign issuers of meeting the identical
disclosure standards as domestic issuers might discourage them from offering their
- securities én the U.S. market. If foreign issuers chose not to offer their securities in the
United States, it would deprive U.S. investors of investment opportunities and potentially
compel fﬁem to purchase foreign securities on foreign markets, wﬁere disclosure may be
less than that required in filings with the Commission.“
B. The International Accounting Standards Bbard and IFRS

Thé IASB is a stand-alone, pri_yately fuﬁded accounting standard-setting quy

~ established to develop global standards for financial reporting.? It is the successor to the

1% Securities Act Release No. 33-6360 (November 20, 1981) (the “1981 Proposing
Release”).

. Id.
uyg.

2 For more information on the structure and operation of the IASB, see
http://www.iasb.org/Home.htm.
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Intérnational Accounting Standards Co’mmit.tee (“IASC”), which was creéted in 1973 to
develop Intematiénal Accounting Standards (“IAS™). Based in London, the IASB
assumed accounting standard-setﬁng responsibilities ﬁom the JASC in 2001.” Since that
time, the standards that the IASB develops and approves have beeﬁ.lmown as IFRS.*

| The IASB is overseen by the IASC Foundation, a stand-alone organization -
responsible for, among other things, the activities of the IASB.® The 22 trustees of the

IASC Foundation appoint IASB members, oversee its activities, and raise necessary

2 This was the culmination of a reorganization in 2000 based on the recommendations to
the IASC Board contained in a 1999 report by the IASC’s Strategic Working Party
entitled "Recommendations on Shaping the IASC for the Future.” (Full text available at
http://www.iasplus.com/restruct/1999swpfinal.pdf). From 1973 until that restructuring,
the entity for setting International Accounting Standards had been known as the IASC.
The IASC issued 41 standards on major topical areas through December 2000, which are
entitled International Accounting Standards. The predecessor standard-setting board was
known as the IASC Board.

% The IASB continues to recognize the IAS issued by the IASC, as modified or
superseded by the IASB. Those IAS now form part of the body of IFRS. See IAS 1,
paragraph 11. Standards that are newly developed by the IASB or are extensive revisions
of earlier IAS are entitled International Financial Reporting Standards.

In general usage, and in this release, the term IFRS will be used to encompass both IAS
and IFRS. The term IFRS is used to refer both to the body of IASB pronouncements
generally and to individual standards and interpretations applicable in specific
circumstances. For purposes of this release, financial statements "prepared in accordance
with IFRS" refer to financial statements that an issuer can unreservedly and explicitly
state are in compliance with IFRS as published by the IASB and that are not subject to
any qualification relating to the application of IFRS as published by the IASB.

% The IASC Foundation is comprised of twenty-two individuals each serving a term of
three years subject to one re-appointment. Its staff works directly with the IASB and
project resource groups, conducts research, participates in roundtable meetings,
analyzes public comments, and prepares recommendations and drafts for consideration
by the IASB. ' '
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funding for the JASB, .the IASC Foundation, the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC™), and the Standards Advisory Council (“SAC”).26
The IASC Foundation Trustees select members of the IASB to coniprise “Within
that group, the best available combination of technical skills and background éxperience
of relevant international business and market condiﬁons in order to contribute to the
development of high-quality, global accounting standards.”” The fourteen members of
the IASB, twelve full-time and two part-time, serve a five-year term subject to one re-
appointmént.‘ They are required to sever all emp1§yment relationships and positions that
‘may give risg to economic incéntives which might compromise a member’s independenf
judgment in setting accounting standards. The current IASB members come from nine
' ’cbuntries' and have a variety of backgrounds. In selegting IASB members, the IASC |
Foundation Trustees ensure that the JASB .is not dominated by any. particular
constituency. Member selection is not based on gquraphic representation.
To date, the IASC Foundation has financed IASB operations largely through
voluntary .contributions from companies, accounting firms, international organizations

and central banks. Original commitrhehts were made for the period 2001-2005 and have

% TFRIC interprets IFRS and reviews accounting issues that are likely to receive
divergent or unacceptable treatment in the absence of authoritative guidance, with a
view to reaching consensus on the appropriate accounting treatment. The IFRIC is
comprised of twelve voting membeérs, appointed by the IASC Foundation Trustees for
renewable terms, of three years. IFRIC Interpretations are ratified by the IASB prior to
becoming effective.

The SAC supports the IASB and provides a forum where the IASB consults individuals
and representatives of organizations affected by its work that are committed to the
development of high-quality IFRS. The Commission is an observer of the SAC.

7 JASC Fouhdation Constitutioh, Paragraph 20; see
http://www.iasb.org/About+Us/About+IASB/About+IASB.htm.
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been extended for an additional two years through 2007. In June 2006, the IASC
Foundation TrusteeS agreed on four elemeﬁts that should govern the establishment of a
funding approach that would enable the IASC Foundation to remain a stand-alone,
private secfor organiiation with the hecessary resources to conduc’; its work in a timely
fashl;on.28 The Trustées continue to make progress in obtaining stable funding that
satisfies those elements.

The IASB has stated that it is committed to “developing, in the public interest, a |
single set of high-quality, understandable and enforceable global accounting standards
that reciuire transparent and comparable information in general purpose financial
statements.”” In addition, the IASC Foundation has cbmrﬁitted to the continued
development of IFRS vtlo,achie_ve high-quality solutions through the convergenée of

national accounting standards.

2 The Trustees determined that “characteristics of the new scheme for 2008 would be:

e Broad-based: Fewer than 200 companies and organizations participate in the
current financing system. A sustainable long-term financing system must expand
the base of support to include major participants in the world’s capital markets,
including official institutions, in order to ensure diversification of sources.

e Compelling: -Any system must carry with it enough pressure to make free riding
very difficult. This could be accomplished through a variety of means, including
official support from the relevant regulatory authorities and formal approval by

‘the collecting organizations.

e Open-ended: The financial commitments should be open-ended and not
contingent on any particular action that would infringe on the independence of the
IASC Foundation and the International Accounting Standards Board.

¢ Country-specific: The funding burden should be shared by the major economies
of the world on a proportionate basis, using Gross Domestic Product as the

" determining factor of measurement. Each country should meet its designated
target in a manner consistent with the principles above.”
See http://www iasb.org/About+Us/ About+the+Foundation/Future+Funding.htm.

¥ See www.iasb. org/About+Us/About+IASB/About+IASB htm. See also the IASCF
Foundation Constltutlon
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The use of IFRS is increasingly widespread throughout the world. Almost 100

countries now require or allow the use of IFRS, and many other countries are replacing

their national standards with I[FRS. The European Union (“EU”), for example, has, under

a regulation adopted in 2002, required companies incorporated in one of its Member
States and whose securities are listed on an EU regulated market to report their

consolidated financial statements using endorsed IFRS beginning with the 2005 financial

'year.3° It has been estimated that these requirements affect approximately 7,000

companies in the EU.*' In addition to issuers in the 27 EU Member States, these IFRS
requirements also apply in the three European Economic Area countries of Iceland,

Lichtenstein and Norway.** Other countries, including Australia and New Zealand, have

- adopted similar requiréments mandating the use of IFRS by public companies.”* More

- % Regulation (EC) .No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19

July 2002 on the application of international accounting standards, Official Journal L.

243, 11/09/2002 P. 0001-0004 (the “EU Regulation). EU regulations have the force of

law within EU Member States without further implementing legislation at the national
level.

*! Committee of European Securities Regulators (“CESR”), "European Regulation on
the Application of IFRS in 2005: Recommendation for Additional Guidance Regarding
the Transition to IFRS," (December 2003).

32 The current EU Member States are: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech ‘
Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy,

‘Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania,

Slovenia, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom.

v

¥ Some countries, such as Australia, have adopted IFRS by incorporating them into
their national standards.
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countﬁes have plans to adopt IFRS as theif national accounting standards in the future,
including Canada* and Israel. **
C. The Financial Accounting Standafds Board

The FASB is the independent, private-sector body whose pronounéements
estab}ishjng and amending accounting principles the Commission has, since 1973,
recognized és “authoritative” and “generally accepted” for purposes of the federal
securities laws, abseﬁt any contrary determination by thé Commission.** The FASB is
overseen by the Finéncial Accounting Foundétion (“FAF”’), which is responsible for
fuﬁding the activities of the FASB and selecting the seven full-time FASB members. ¥
The FAF is an independent, non-profit organization that is run by a sixteen-member
- Board of Trustees. The FASB has oversight of the Emerging Issue; Task Force, which is

the interpretative entity of U.S. GAAP.  The FASB also is sﬁpported by fhe Financial

34 See “Implementation Plan for Incorporating International Financial Reporting
Standards into Canadian GAAP,” available at

http://www.acsbcanada.org/client_asset/document/3/2/7/3/5/document_8B452E12-FAFS5-
7113-C4CB8F89B38BCOF8.pdf?sfgdata=4.

3 See Israel Accounting Standard No. 29 “Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards,” stipulating that Israeli public companies that prepare their
primary financial statements in accordance with Isracli GAAP are obliged to adopt
IFRS unreservedly for years starting on January 1, 2008. See also
http://www.iasplus.com/country/israel.htm.

* See “Statement of Policy on the Establishment and Improvement of Accounting
Principles and Standards,” Accounting Series Release No. 150 (December 20, 1973)
(expressing the Commission’s intent to continue to look to the private sector for
leadership in establishing and improving accounting principles and standards through the
FASB) and “Policy Statement: Reaffirming the Status of the FASB as a Designated
Private-Sector Standard Setter,” Release No. 33-8221 (April 25, 2003) (the “2003 Policy
Statement”). More 1nformat10n about the FASB is available on their website at

WWW, fasb org.

7 See http://www.fasb.org/facts/bd members.shtml.
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Accounting Standards Advisory Council, which is responsible for consulting with the

FASB as to technical issues on the FASB’s agenda and project priorities.

Consistent with the FASB’s objective to increase international comparability and
the quality of standards used in the United States, the FASB participates in international
accounting standard setter activities. This objective is .consistent with the FASB’s
obligation to its domestic constituents, who benefit from compérability of informatiqn
across national borders. The FASB pursues this objective in cooperation with the IASB,
as discussed in more detail below, and with national accounting standard setters.

- The Commission oversees the activities of the FASB as part of its rgsponéibilities
under the securities laws. While the Commission coﬁsistently has looked to the private |
sector to set accounting standards, thé securities laws provide the Commission wi_th the
authority to set accounting standards for public companies and other entities that file
financial Statements with the Commission.”  As part of its oversight resp‘onsibilities, the
Commission providés views' regarding the sel’ection of FASB members, and, in certain
circumstances, refers issues relating to accourniting standards to the FASB or one of its

affiliated organizations. The Commission and its staff do not, however, prohibit the

FASB from addressing topics of its choosing and do not dictate the outcome of specific

FASB projects, so long as the FASB’s conclusions are in the interest of investor

protection.”

* This authority was reaffirmed in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Section 108(c) of which
states, “Nothing in this Act, including this section...shall be construed to impair or limit

_ the authority of the Commission to establish accounting principles or standards for

purposes of enforcement of the securities laws.”

* See the 2003 Policy Statement.
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D. The Commission’s Past Consideration of a Single Set of Globally Accepted
Accounting Standards and Facilitation of the Use of IFRS by Registrants

" The Commission has long advocated reducing disparity between the accounting
and disclosure practices of the United States and other countries as a means to facilitate

cross-border capital formation while ensuring adequate disclosure for the protection of

‘investors and the promotion of fair, orderly and efficient markets. The Commission also

has encouraged the efforts of standard setters and_other market participants to do the
same. In a 1981 release proposing revisions to Form 20-F, the Commission expressed its
support fér the work of the IASC in formulating guidelines and international disciosure
standards.” As part of a 1988 Policy Statement, the Commission explicitly supported the
establishment of mutually acceptable international accounting standards as a critical goal
to reduce reguiatory impediments that result from disparate national accounting standards
without compromising investor protection.*' Accordingly, it urged “secuxitiés regulators

and members of the accounting profession throughout the world [to] continue efforts to

‘revise and adjust international accounting standards with the aim of increasing

comparability and reducing cost” and reafﬁrmed its commitment to working with
securities regulators around the world to achieve the goal of an efficient international
securities market system.*

In eﬁcouraging the acceptance of mutually agreeable global accounting principles

and reducing reguIatory burdens while protecting investors, the Commission has

“* See the 1981 Proposing Release.

1 See Release No. 33-6807 (Novembér 14, 1988) (the “1988 Policy Statement”).

“1d.
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recognized that information fequired by an international accounting standard may be
adeQuate for investors even in that informétion is not the same as information required
under U.S. GAAP. One example of this approach is the 1994 amendment to Form 20-F
to accept without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP a cashv flow statement prepared in
accordance with IAS No. 7, “Cash 'Flow Statements,” which the IASC amended in 1992.
In propqsing fhat amendment, the Commission noted that “while thefe are differences -
between a cash flow statement prepared in accordance with IAS 7 and one prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP ...the Commission believes statements prepared in
accordance with IAS 7 should provide an investor with adequate: information regarding
cash flows without the need for additional information or modiﬁc.ation.”“3 In adopting |
this and other revisions to Item 17 of Férm 20-F, the Commission expresséd its belief that
streamlined reconciliation requirements will facilitate foreign companies’ entry into the
United States public securities markets in a manner consistent with investor protection.*
The Commission more closely examined efforts to develop high-quélity;

comprehensive global accounting standards in its 1997 report undertaken at the direction

* The Commission proposed these amendments in Release No. 33-7029 (November 3,
1993) and adopted them in Release No. 33-7053 (April 19, 1994) (the “1994 Adopting
Release™). Other examples in which the Commission amended its requirements for
financial statements of foreign issuers to permit the use of certain IASC standards
without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP are described in the SEC Concept Release
“International Accounting Standards,” Release No. 33-7801 (February 16, 2000) (the
“2000 Concept Release”).

* See the 1994 Adopting Release.
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of Congress.” In that study, the Commission noted that for issuers wishing to raise
capital in more than one country, compliance with differing accounting requirements to
be used in the pfeparation of financial statements increased compliance costs and created -
inefficiencies. As a step towards addressing these concerns and to increase the access of
U.S. investors to foreign investments in the U.S. public capital market, the Commission
encouraged the IASC’s efforts to develop a core set of accounting standards that could. |
serve as a framework for financial reporting in cross-border offerings, and indicated an
intent to remain active in the development of th;)ée standards. In that report, the
Commission indicate_d that its evaluation of IASC core standards would involve an
assessment of whether they constituted a comprehensive body of transparent, high-
quality standards that could be rigorously interpreted and applieci.46 ‘

In February 2000, the Comnﬁssion issued a Concept Release on International
Accounting Standards, seeking public comment on the elements necessary to encourage
cohvergence towards a high quality global financial reporting framéwork while
upholding the quality of financial reporting domestically.*’ In that release, the
Commission described high-quality standards as consisting of a “comprehensive set of
neutral princibles that require consistent, comparable, relevant and reliable information

that is useful for investors, lenders and creditors, and others who make capital allocation

* Pursuant to Section 509(5) of the National Securities Markets Improvement Act of
1996, “Report on Promoting Global Preeminance of American Securities Markets”
(October 1997). ’

46 I_(_l_

7 See Concept Release No. 34-42430 “International Accounting Standards” (February
16, 2000).
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decisions.”® The Commission also expressed the view that high-quality accounting
standards “must be supported by an infrastructure that ensures that the standards are

rigorously interpreted and applied.” The release sought comments as to the conditions

under which the Commission should accept financial statements of foreign private issuers

that are prepared using IFRS, and considered the issue of the U.S. GAAP reconciliation

of IFRS financial statements. The Commission has continued to monitor international

- developments in the subject areas that are discussed in the release.

In 2003, the Cornfnission staff prepared a study on the adoption of a principles-

~based accounting Systerri, as mandated by Congress in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.® The

conclusion of that study was that an optimal approach to accounting standard-setting

would be based on a coﬁsistently applied conceptual framework and clearly stated
objectives rather than solely on either rules or principles,.b'ne benefit of whicﬁ V.vould be -
the facilitétion of greater convergence between U.S. GAAP and international standards.
By téking an objectives-based approach tb convergence, the study noted, standard setters
would be able to arrive at an agreement on a principle more quickly than would be

possible for a detailed rule. The staff’s report to Congress interpreted convergence as a

- “process of continuing discovery and opportunity to learn By both U.S. and international

“ 1d.
“ 1d.
%% Study Pursuant to Section 108(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption

by the United States Financial Reporting System of a Principles-Based Accounting
System (July 25, 2003).
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standard setters,” the benefits of which include greéter comparability and improved
capital formation globally.”! |

In February 2006, Chairman Cox reaffirmed his commitment to the v“Roadmap”
that‘ was first descﬁBed by a former Chief Accountant of the Commission in April 2005.%
The Roadmap sets forth the goal of achieving one set of high-quality, globally accepted

accounting standards and suggested several considerations that could affect the

‘achievement of that goal.

The Commission also has taken steps to facilitate the use of IFRS by registrants.
When the European Union adopted a regulation in 2002 to require the use of IFRS by all
European issuers with publicly traded securities beginning with their 2005 financial year,

the Commission.adoptéd an accommodation to allow first-time adopters of IFRS to file

* two years rather than three years of financial statements in their Commission filings.” In

so doing, the Commission sought to facilitate the transition to IFRS of the foreign |

registrants that were using it for the first time. The Commission recognized that this
accommodation would reduce costs t‘o foreign issuers and encourage their continued
participation in the U.S. public capital market, which would beneﬁt investors by
increasing investment possibilities and funﬁedng the efficient allocation of capital,

Acknowledging the significant efforts expended by many foreign private issuers in their

51,

52 SEC Press Release No. 2006-17, Accounting Standards: SEC Chairman Cox and EU
Commissioner McCreevy Affirm Commitment to Elimination of the Need for
Reconciliation Requirements (Feb. 8§, 2006).

>3 Release No. 33-8567 (April 12, 2005).
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transition to IFRS, the Commission also extended c'ompliance dates for management’s
report on internal control over financial reporting.*

E. FASB and 1ASB Efforts to Develop a Work Plan to Achieve High Quality,
Compatible Accounting Standards

In October 2002, the FASB and the IASB announced the i.ssuance ofa

. memorandum of understanding, calied the Norwalk Agreement, which' marked a
significant step towards formalizing their commitment to the convergence Qf U.S. and
intematiqnal accounting staﬁdafds. The two bodies ackﬁowledged their joint -
commitment to the development, “as soon as practicable,"’ of high quality, cofnpatible
-accounting standards that could be used for both domestic and cross-border financial
reporﬁng. Atthat time, the FASB and the IASB pledged to use their best efforts to make
their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as is practicable and
to co-ordinate their future work programs to ensure that once achieved, éompatibility is
maintaivned; In a 2006 Memorandum of Understanding, the FASB 'and the IASB
indicated that a common set of high quélity global standards remains the long-term
strategicvpriori.ty of both the FASB and the IASB and set out a work plan covering the

next two years for convergence with specific long- and short-term projects.”

5 Release No. 33-8545 (March 2, 2005).
% “A Roadmap for Convergénce between IFRS and U.S. GAAP - 2006-2008,”

Memorandum of Understanding between the FASB and the IASB, February 27, 2006
(the “2006 Memorandum of Understanding”).
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II. ACCEPTANCE OF IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FROM FOREIGN
PRIVATE ISSUERS WITHOUT A U.S. GAAP RECONCILIATION AS A
STEP TOWARDS A SINGLE SET OF GLOBALLY ACCEPTED .
/ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Commission has encouraged movement towards a single set of high-quality
globally accepted accountihg standards as an important goal both for the protection of
investors and the efficiency of capital markets.*® The work towards acceptance of
financial statements from foreign private issuers prepared in accordance with IFRS as
published by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP seeks to foster the continued

movement to a single set of high-quality, globally Vaccept-ed accounting standards. As a

long-term objective, the use of a common set of high-quality standards for the preparation”

of financial statements will help investors to understand investment opportunities more

" clearly and W1th greater comparablhty than if they had to gain familiarity with a

multlphclty of national accounting standards.
A. A Robust Process for Convergence
Continued progress towards convergence between U.S. GAAP and IFRS as

published By the IASB is one consideratioﬁ in the élimination of the U.S. GAAP
recénciliation. As noted in this releése, both the IASB and the FASB have established
“processes for selecting board members and developing staﬁdards to support the
development by each board of high-quality accounting standards. Additionally, the
FASB and the IASB have established a work plan that seeks the convergence of U;S.
GAAP and IFRS. In so doing, both bodies have pledged to use their best efforts to make

existing standards fully compatible as soon as practicable, and to coordinate their future

%8 See the 1988 Policy Statement.
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work programs to ensure that compatibility, once achieved, is maintained.”’” This work is
expected to continue for many yéars, and both bodies have expressed a commitment to it.
We fully support continued progress on convergence towards the optimal standard,
whether that standard may be based on U.S. GAAP, IFRS, or a jointly developed new
" approach. |

As part of this commitment, both the IASB and the FASB are working together
on several major projects, and Have coordinated agendas so that major projects that one
board takes up may also be take_ﬁ up by the other board.* Also, both boards have been
: working on “short-term convergence > under which convergence will occﬁr quickly in
certain areas. Thls process allows for incremental lmprovements and the opportunity to.

eliminate differences without rethinking an issue entlrely If the IASB and the FASB

. conclude that nelther of their models in a partlcular area is sufficient, they consider a

: _broader standard-setting project.

We do not believe that a pafticular degree of convergence should be a prerequisite
for our acceptance of financial statements prepared' under IFRS as published by the IASB
without reconciliation. Our proposal to do so is based on; among éther considerations,
the robustness of a process that lends itself to continued p_rogr'ess of the IASB and the
FASB towards convergence over time through, among other things, the joint

development of future standards. As noted elsewhere, we recognize that there remain

57 See the 2006 Memorandum of Understanding.

* The joint projects of the FASB and IASB constitute part of the IASB’s broader goal
to work with national standard setters to develop high quality solutions.
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specific accounting subjects and other matters in IFRS that have not beeﬁ fully addressed.
There is a risk that constituents of the two boards may not continue to -support
convergence if [FRS ﬁnancial statements are accepted by the Commiésion without
reconciliation to U.S.l GAAP. The future work of the IASB and the FASB may resuit in
standards that are significantly different or that are not timely in their development.
Nonetheless, we believe that if robust processes for the joint development of high quality
stfindards by the IASB and the FASB are in place,'\&e need not delay considering the
acceptance of financial statements that comply with IFRS as published by the IASB
without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. |

. We will continue to consider the convergence process and the continued progfess '
of the IASB and the FASB in their work plan. We also will consider whether interested
paﬁies will continue to have an incentive to support this convergence work should the
Commission accept IFRS financial statements from forei gn private issuers without

reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.

Questions

I. Do investors, issuers and other cofhmenters agree that IFRS are widely used

and have been issued through a robust process by a stand-alone standard
- setter, resulting in high-quality accouﬁting standards?

2. Should convergence between U.S. GAAP and IFRS as published by the IASB
be a consideration in our acceptance in foreign private issuer filings of |
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by the
IASB without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation? If so, has such convergence been

‘adequate? What are commenters’ views on the processes of the IASB and the
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FASB for convergence? Are investors and other rﬁarket participants
comfortable with the convergence to date, and the ongoing process for
convergence? How will this global process, and, particularly, the work of the
IASB and FASB, be impacted, if at all, if we accept financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by the IASB without a U.S.
GAAP reconciliation? Should our amended 'ru.les contemplate that the IASB
and the FASB may in the future publish substantially different final
accounting standards, principles or approaches in certain areas?
B.  Consistent and Faithful Application of IFRS
The consistent énd faithful applicat.i_dn of IFRS as published by the IASB is an
important consideration both td accepting financial statemen;cs prepared on that basis
without .a U.S. GAAP reconciliation and -to demonstrating that IFRS as published by the _
IASB represent a single set of high-quality accounting standards, and not a multiplicity of
standards under the same name. Over the years, the Commission staff has acquired a
broad understanding of the standards comprising IFRS. For over ten years, a lirﬁited
number of foreign private issuers have included in their filings under the Securities Act
and the Exchange Act financial statements prepared in accordance with IAS or IFRS, and
over the past year, many more companies have done so. These filings have been subject
to the staff’s review process, through which the staff has gained experience with the

standards.

1. Staff Review of IFRS Financial Statements Filed in 2006
Over the course of 2006, many foreign private issuers filed annual reports on

Form 20-F that contained IFRS financial statements following their switch to IFRS for
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the 2005 financial year. The Commission staff has. conducted reviews of those IFRS
financial statements as part of its functibn of reviewing the periodic reports of publicly
registered companiés, consistent with its normal practice in reiliewing filings from U.S.
companies and from forei gn issuefs with financial statements other than those prepared in
accordance with IFRS reconciled to U.S. GAAP.® These ongoing reviews are an
important part of the Commission’s effort to gain familiarity with IFRS.. In conducting
its reviews of IFRS financial statements, the staff made a number of comménts regardiﬁg
the appliéation of IFRS, which have been brought to the attention of isSu@rS through the
comment prbcess.“’ Cbnsistent with practice _in the staff review program, many issuers
indicated that they will address the matters that the staff has raised in future filings, most
commonly through iﬁlprovéd preseﬁtations or enhanced disclosures.’ The staff has been, -
and, following the issuance of this Proposing Release, will _continue to consider whether

issuers address those matters adequately in their Forms 20-F for the 2006 financial year

" which will help inform the Commission’s view as to the quality of the application of

IFRS in practice. The staff will continue its regular review function with regard to issuer

and auditor practice in applying IFRS. Information obtained from this work will assist in

~our evaluation of the quality of the application of IFRS in practice.

At present, in filings with the Coinmission, IFRS (either as published by the IASB

ora jurisdicﬁonal variation) is used principally by issuers from Europe and Australia.

* Section 408 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 mandates that the Commission shall
review disclosures made by reporting companies on a regular and systematic basis.

0 Staff comment letters are available, 45 days or longer after complet'ion of the staff

review, through the SEC website at www.sec.gov. See SEC Press Release dated June
24,2004. o : ' ’
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.The' number of companies from these areas that are registered under the Exchange Act
has decreased over the iast several years.®® Thus, although our staff has reviewed the
anﬁual reporfs of first-time adopters of IFRS, its level of experience is not as great as
with U.S. GAAP. In addition, the staff has not undertaken any review of financial
statements prepared in accordahce with IFRS by foreign companies that are not registered
under the Exchange Act. Therefore, the staff’s review of IFRS ‘ﬁna.ncial statements is
limited to a small portion of the total universe of éompanies that use IFRS.

We recognize the first-year effort undertaken by preparers, auditors, and others in
changing the basis of accounting to IFRS. Our staff will continue to identify thelareas for
improvement to IFRS filers in order to promoté increased disclosure and clearer
preseﬁtation in subsequent financial statements ﬁled with the Commission.

2. Market Participants’ Views Regarding IFRS Application in Practice

Market participants from whom the Commission has héard at a March 2007
roundtable held by tﬁe Commission staff have indicated their support for the use of IFRS
by foreign issuers. Although we have heard from ;<1 limited group of representatives from
the investor community, those partic‘ipants, which included representatives of mutual
funds, pension funds, rating agencies and other institutional inv.estors, expressed their

accéptance of IFRS financial statements for foreign private issuers.*

' The number of registered companies from Europe and Australia has declined from
over 400 at the end of 2002 to less than 250 at the end of 2006. Not all companies from
these jurisdictions switched to IFRS for their filings in 2006. The number of foreign
private issuers that filed annual reports on Form 20-F that contained IFRS financial
statements during 2006 was less than 200.

82 Information regarding the Roundtable held on March 6, 2007, including a transcript,
is available on the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/spotlight/ifrsroadmap .htm.
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Based on information that we have gathered through the Roundtable and from

other commenters, we believe that the auditor community has embraced IFRS as a

: Workable set of standards that can generally be applied across industries and countries.

The global auditing profession has been able to audit and report on many thousands of
financial statements prepared using either IFRS as published by the IASB or a.
jurisdictional variation of IFRS. |

Some foreign regulators have published reports relating to the implementation of
IFRS in their country. For example, the U.K. Financial Reporting Review Panel and the
Autorité des Marchés Financiers (;he “AMF”) of France have both published such reports |
making observations on IFRS as applied in their jurisdictions.

Although a small number of companies have prepared IFRS financial statenients
for several years, it was not until the first half of 2006 that a large ﬂumber of companies
published audited annual IFRS ﬁnencial sfatements fof the first time. Also, as diseussed

below, audit firms have not been required to opine on IFRS as published by the IASB but

have limited their opinions to jurisdictional variations of IFRS, consistent with a

company’s basis of presentation. In light of this wide-scale use of IFRS being less than
two years old, the degree of experience, familiarity and understanding among companies,
audit firms, investors, analysts, brokers, regulators, and others is continuing to develop.

As experience with IFRS continues to grow, the Commission will monitor for any -

% For the report of the U.K Financial Reporting Review Panel, see ‘Prellmlnary Report
IFRS Implementation” available at
http://www.frc.org.uk/images/uploaded/documents/IFRS%20Implementation%20-
%?20preliminary.pdf. For the report of the AMF, see “Recommendations on accounting
information reported in financial statements for 2006,” dated December 19, 2006,
available at http://www.amf-france.org/documents/general/7565_1.pdf.
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possible flaws in the standards and any issues associated with the faithful and consistent .
application of those standards. -

3. Processes and Infrastructure to Promote Consistent and Falthful Application
of IFRS

As discussed rn Part LB. above, the IASB has stated it is committed to developing
a single set of high-quality, understandable and enforceable global accounting standards.
In working towards this goal, both the IASB and IFRIC have demonstrated their -
commitment to resolving significant accounting issues as expediently as possible.
Hower/er, developing high-quality standards and issuing high-quality interpretations of
IFRS may take some time.

A question arises as to what should be done, if anything, in circumstances where
nefther the IASB nor IFRIC has addressedv‘a particular accounting issue that causes
significant difﬁqulties 1n practice. A securities regulator or its staff, including the
Commission, may find it necessary as an interim measure to staté a view on such an
accounting issue.* if it were to do so, the regulat§r subsequently could consider referring
the accounting issue to the IASB or the IFRIC for resolution of the issue for all

constituencies. Any view expressed by the regulator may be rescinded upon the IASB or

the IFRIC establishing authoritative literature addressing the issue. The Commission and

the staff would not expect to issue guidance that is inconsistent with IFRS as published

by the IASB, the interpretations provided by IFRIC, or the definitions, recognition

criteria and measurement concepts in the IASB’s Framework.

® This is not new, as securities regulators have long been involved in resolvmg 1ssues .

related to national accounting standards.
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~ Regulators havé put in place _infraétructure to identify and address the inconsistent
and inacpurate application of IFRS globally. This infrastructure will foster the consistent
and féithful application of IFRS around the world. The International Organization of
Securities Commissions (“_IOSCO”), in which the Commission participates, continues to
support the implementation énd consistent application of IFRS in the global financial
markets. In January 2007, IOSCQO’s database for cataloguing IFRS interpretations and
1.65

sharing decisions on application by regulators around the world became operational.

Further, the Commission and the European Commission (the “EC”) have agreed

~ that regulators should endeavor to avoid conflicting conclusions regarding the application

and enforcement of IFRS. To this end, the Commission and CESR, which thé EC has
charged with evaluating the implementation of IFRS in the EU, published a work plan in

August 2006.% That work plan covers information-sharing regarding IFRS

implementation in regular méetings of fhe Commission staff and CESR-Fin, the group

within CESR focused on financial reporting. The SEC-CESR work plan also

contemplates. the con_ﬁdentialv exchange of issuer-speé.iﬁc information between CESR
members and the Commission, with implementing protocols. In addition, CESR has |
éstablished among its members a forum and a confidential database for partiéipants to

exchange views and share experiences with IFRS.*

% See IOSCO’s press release regarding its IFRS database at
http://www.iosco.org/news/pdf/IOSCONEWS92.pdf.

% The press release announcmg the SEC-CESR work plan, and the text of the work
plan, are available at http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2006/2006-130.htm.

¢ See CESR Press Release 07-163 (April 2007), available at http: /hwrww .cest-
eu.org/index. php7page—groups&mac—0&1d—13
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Having noted the areas for improverﬁent identified in the Comfnission staff’s
review to date of the application of IFRS in filings with the Commission, as well as the
potential for other areas requiring standard-setting action, we believe that the approach |
proposed by the Commission and the information-sharing infrastructure which the
international regulatory community is building should contﬁbute to increasing
consistency and faithfulness in the application of IFRS across jurisdictions.

Questions.

3. Is there sufficient comparability among ‘companies using IFRS as pub.lished
by the IASB to allow investors and others to use and understand the financial
statements of forei gn pri.vate issuers prepared in accordance with IFRS as
published by the IASB without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation?

4. Do you agree that the information-sharing infrastructure being built in which '
the .Comfnission participates through both multilateral and bilateral platforms
will lead to an improved a‘bil‘ity to identify and address inconsistent and
inaccurate applications of IFRS? Why or why not?

5. | What are commenters’ views on the faithfull application and convsistent
application of IF RS by foreign companies that are registered under the
Exchange Act and those that are nét so registered? |

6. Should the timing of our accept‘ance of IFRS as published by the IASB
without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation depend upon foréign issuers, audit firms
énd other constituencies having more experience with preparing IFRS |

financial statements?
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7. Should the timing of any adoption of these proposed rules be affected by the
number of foreign companies registered under the Exchange Act that use

IFRS?

C. - The IASB as Standard Setter

Our consideration of acceptance of financial statements prepared using IFRS as
published by the IASB is also premised on the IASB’s sustainability, governance and
continued operation in a stand-alone manner as a standard setter, which is a factor in the

developmeﬁt of a set of high-quality globally accepted accounting standards. As

~ described in more detail in Part L B., oversight by the IASC Foundation Trustees through

the go?em#nce reforms that have been implemented, as well as the due process
mechanisms established for the consideration and adoption of new IFRSs, contribute to
the JASB’s role as a standard setter dedicated to developing accounting standards in the
pu‘biic interest. The IASB is free to choose and conduct projects necessary to promote

convergence and develop high-quality standards. The IASB solicits views and seeks

‘input from the public throughout the standard-setting process from selecting items for its

agenda to developing and publishing an exposure draft and issuing a final standard. The
IASB’s meetings are open to public observers and summaries of comments received on
discussion papers and exposure drafts are made public on the IASB website.® This

transparent process enables the JASB to obtain relevant views from interested parties, and

* See the IASC Foundation Due Process Handbook for the IASB approved by the
Trustees March 2006. For additional information, see -
http://www.iasb.org/NR/rdonlyres/7D97095E-96FD-4F1F-B7F2-

‘ 366527CB4FA7/O/DueProcessHandbook.pdf.
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‘. ' at the same time tp cdnclﬁde final standards based on its own deliberati;)ns, and without
undue external pressure.
Since the late 1980s, the Commission staff has participated in the development of
IAS and IFRS primarily through 10SCO, taking an active role in the standard-setting |
~ process undertaken by the IASC and the IASB. In this regard, the Commission staff has
reviewed and contributed to comments on many eprsure drafts of standards published
by the IASC and the IASB. Additionally, the Commission staff as an IOSCO
representative serves as a non-voting observer at IFRIC meetings. The Commissioﬁ also

is an observer of the IASB Standards Advisory Council.®

Questions
8.  The IASB Framework establishes channels fpr the communication of
. A - regulators’ and others’ views in the IFRS standard-setting and interpretive
| processes. How should thé Commission and its staff further support the IFRS
standard-setting and interpretive processes?
9. How should the Commission ;:onsider the implication of its role with regard to

the IASB, which is different and less direct than our oversight role with the
FASB?

D. | Summary

Fostering the use of a single set of high-quality, globally accepted accounting

principles, would, in our view, serve to protect investors and promote capital formation

- % See http://www.iasb.org/About+Us/About+SAC/SAC+Members.htm.
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by enhancing comparability across companies and increasing access to foreign issuer
investment opportunities for investors in the U.S. public capital markets while reducing
regulatory burdens and costs for issuers. As noted earlier, the Commission has for over

20 years sought to promote the dei/elopment of a global, high-quality set of accounting

_principles. The acceptance of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as

published by the IASB without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation will further promote this

| goal. By such acceptance,'the Commission will demonstrate its commitment to both

investors and to the global capital markets.

Achieving a single set of globally accepted accoimtirrg standards will require the
contributions of many parties, including standard setters, regulators, auditors, issuers, and '
investors themselves. The IASB and _the FASB have established procedures for their

ongoing joint efforts to achieve convergence. The infrastructure is being developed to

lead to the consistent and faithful appﬁcaﬁon of IFRS by issuers. We will continue to

evaluate the progress towards convergence, the application of IFRS, and the work of the

IASB. .

We believe it is an appropﬁate time to propose and solicit comment on
acceptance, in the filings of foreign private issuers, of financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS as published by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.
Questions | |

10.  The Commission has gathered certain i_nformation from representatives of
issuers, investors, hnderWﬁters, exchanges and other market participants at its
public reundtable on IFRS. ‘We are interested in receiving information from a

broader audience. Is the development of a single set of high-quality globally
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II1.

accepfed standards important to investors? To vi/ha_t degree are investors and
other market participants able to understand and use financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by the IASB without a U.S.
GAAP reconciliation? We also encourage commenters to discuss ways in
which the Commission may be able to assist investors and other market
participants in improving their abilit}’/ to understand and use financial
statements prepared in accordanee with IFRS. How familiar are investors
with financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by
the IASB? Will the ability of an investor to understand and use ﬁnanciai
statements that comply with IFRS as published by the JASB vary with the size
and nature of the investor, the value of the investment, the market
capitalization of the issuer, the industry to which the issuer in question
belongs, the trading volume of its Securities, the foreign markets on which
those secilrities are traded and the ieguletion to which they may be subjected,

or any other factors? If so, should any removal of the reconciliation

requirement be sensitive to one or more of these matters, and, if so, how?

DISCUSSION OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ALLOW THE
USE OF IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITHOUT
RECONCILIATION TO U.S. GAAP

Eligibility Requirements

The proposed amendments to allow a foreign private issuer to file financial

statements without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP as currently required under Item 17 or

18 of Form 20-F, as appropriate, would apply only to a foreign private issuer that files its

financial statements in full compliance with the English language version of IFRS as
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published by the IASB.™ The proposed amendments will apply to an eligible issuer
regardlesé of whether it complies with IFRS as published by the IASB voluntarily or in
accordance with any requirements of its home country regulator or an exch.ange on which
its éecuritieS are listed.

Under the proposals, in order to be eligible to omit the reconciliation, an issuer
would be required, in a prominent footnote to its financial statements, to state .
unreservedly and explicitly that its financial statements are in con;pliance with IFRS as
published by the IASB.” In addition, in its report, the independent auditor must opine

similarly on whether those financial statements comply with IFRS as published by the

JASB.™

- The proposed amendments would not be available to an issuer that files financial

statements that include deviations from IFRS as published by the IASB. A foreign

private issuer that does not state unreservedly and explicitly that its financial statements

are in compliance with IFRS as published by the IASB, or for which the auditor’s report

~ contains any qualification relating to the application of IFRS as published by the IASB,

would continue to be required to provide the U.S. GAAP reconciliation under current

rules. Similarly, an issuer that files its financial statements using a set of generally

_ accepted accounting principles of another jurisdiction also would continue to reconcile to

- These proposed amendments would not encompass use, if finalized, of the IASB’s

proposed IFRS for Small and Medium-sized Entities.

7! This statement is consistent with the language requirements of IAS 1 “Presentation of

Financial Statements,” paragraph 14.

2 This language could be provided in addition to any representation about compliance
with standards required by the home country.
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U.S. GAAP as under current rules when preparing its ﬁnancial statements for inclusio'n in
a registration statement or annual report.”

The proposed amendments will not apply to issucrs using a jurisdictional or other
variation of IFRS. It would be acceptable for an issuer to state compliance with both
IFRS as published by the IASB and a jurisdictional variation of lFRS, and an audit firm
to opine that financial statements comply with IFRS as published by the IASB and a
jurisdictional variation of IFRS, so long as the statement relating to the former was
unreserved and explicit.

In their filings with the SEC, the maj oriiy of foreign private issuers that have
referenced IFRS have stated that their financial statements are in compliance with IFRS
as published by the IASB (in addition to stating compliance with a jurisdictional variation

of IFRS). In contrast, few audit reports contained an opinion on IFRS as published by the
IASB. (in addition to opining on a jurisdictional Variation of IFRS).

We believe that the beneﬁts.of moving towards a single set of globally accepted
~ standards as -a long-term obj ectivc, including increased transparency and comparability of
financial statements, are attainable only if IFRS represents a single set. of high-quality
accounting standards and not a multiplicity of divergent standards using the same name.

Thus, we believe that it is appropriate to condition our acceptance of IFRS without

? An issuer that is eligible to rely on the proposed rules, if adopted, would be permitted
to continue to reconcile its IFRS financial statements to U.S. GAAP. An issuer that
elects to do so would follow all current requirements with regard to the preparation of
that U.S. GAAP reconciliation contained in Item 17 or 18 of Form 20-F, as applicable.
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reconciliation on the financial statements being in full compliance With IFRS as

‘published by the IASB.

Our acceptance of a set of financial statements without reconciliation to U.S.

- GAAP w.ould mark a significant change in our requirements. We are proposing that the
amendments apply if an issuer fo‘lldws the approved English language version of the
standards to assist U.S. investors to understand IFRS, to assist in achieving comparability
and consistency across jurisdictions, and, as a practical inatter, becaﬁse the Commission’s
work is chducted in English..

Questions
11. Without a reéonciliation, will investors be able to understand and use financial
statefnents prepared using‘ IFRS as. published by the IASB in their evaluation
of the financial condition and performance of a foreign private issuer? How
- useful is the reconciliation to U.S. GAAP from IFRS as published by the
IASB as a basis of comparison between companies using different bases of
accounting? Is there an alternative way to elicit important information
Without a reconciliation?
12.  In addition to reconciling certain specific financial statement line items,
1ssuers presenting an Item 18 reconciliation provide additional information in
~ accordance with U.S. GAAP. What uses do investors and other market
participants make of these additiohal disclosures?
13.  Should we put any limitations on the eligibility of a foreign priv.ate issuer that

uses IFRS as published by the IASB to ﬁle financial statements without a U.S.

~GAAP reconciliation? If so, what type of limitations? For example, should

41



14.

the option of allowing IFRS .ﬁnancial statements without recohciliation be
phased in? If so, what shouid be the criteria for the phase-in? Should only
foreign private issu‘érs that are Weliaknown seasoned issuers, or large
acceleratéd filers, or accelerated filers,™ and that file IFRS financial
statements be permitted to omit £he U.S. GAAP reconciliation?

At the March 2007 Roundtable on IFRS, some investor representatives

commented that IFRS financial statements would be more useful if issuers

filed their Form 20-F annual reports earlier than the existing six-month

deadline. We are considering shortening the deadline for annual reports on

Form 20-F. Should the filing deadline for annual reports on Form 20-F be

accelerated to five, four or three months, or another date, after the end of the

financial Year? Should the deadline for Form 20-F be the same as the deadline
for an issuer’s annual report in its home market? Should we adopt the same
deadlines as for annu.al reports on Form 10-K? Why or why not? Would the
appropriateness of a shorter deadline for a Form 20-F annual report depend on
whether U.S. GAAP information is included? 1If a shorter deadlin¢ ié
appropriate for foreign privafe issuers that would not provide a U.S. GAAP |
reconcviliétion under the proposed amendments, should other forei gn private
issuers also have a shorter deadline? Should it depend on the public ﬂéat of

the issuer?

™ The terms “accelerated filer” and “large accelerated filer” are defined in Rule 12b-2
under the Exchange Act [17 CFR 240.12b-2]." “Well-known seasoned issuer” is defined
in Rule 405 under the Securities Act [17 CFR 230.405].
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' | 15.  Although reconciliation to U.S. GAAP of interim periods is not ordinarily

required under thé Exchange Act, foreign private issuers that conduct
_ contiﬁuous offerings on a shelf registration statement under the Securities Act

may face ‘black-out periods that prevent them from_acéessing the U.S. public'
capital market at various times during the year if their interim financial
information is not reconciled. Even if commenters believe we should
continue the U.S. GAAP reconciliation requirement for annual reports that
include IFRS ﬁnahcial statements, to address this issue should we at least
eliminate the need for the U.S. GAAP reconciliation requirément with respect
to required interim period financial st;cltements prepared using IFRS as
published .by the IASB for use in continuous ovffe'rings?75 Should we extend

‘ , | this approach to all required interim financial statements?

16 .I; there any reason why an issuer should not be able to unreservedly and
explicitly state its compiiance with IFRS as published by the IASB? Is there
any reason why an audit firm should not be able to unrgservedly and explicitly
opin¢ that the financial statements comply with IFRS as published by the
IASB? What factors may have resulted in issuers and, in particular, auditors

- refraining from expreésing coﬁpliance with IFRS as published by the IASB?

17.  If the proposed amendments are adopted, should eligible issuers Be able to file

ﬁnancial statements prepared using IFRS aé published by the IASB withdut a

U.S. GAAP reconciliation for their first filing containing audited annual

7 See Item 8.A.4 of Form 20-F, which requires interim penod financial statements in
‘ certain circumstances.
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financial statements? If'the amendments are adopted, what factors should we
consider in deciding when issuers can use them? For example, should we
consider factors such as the issuer’s public float (either in the Uﬁited States or
world wide), whether the issuer has issued only public debt, or the nature of
the filing to which the amendments would be applied?. Will investors be
prepared to analyze and interpret IFRS financial statements without the
reconciliation by 20097 If not, what further steps, including investor
education, may be necessary?

B.  U.S. GAAP Reconciliation

1. | .General

* The basic reciuirements for ﬁnancial statements filed by foreign private issuers are

described in Items 17 and 18 of Form 20-F. Under Item 17(c), a foreign private issuer

currently has two options: either to prepare its financial statements and schedules

according to U.S. GAAP; or, alternatively, to prepare them under the generally accepted

accounting principles of another jurisdiction with a reconciliation of specific line items to

U.S. GAAP as enumerated under Item 17(c)(2). This reconciliation includes a narrative

discussion of reconciling differences,” a reconciliation of net income for each year and
any interim periods presented,”” a reconciliation of major balance sheet captions for each

year and any interim periods,” and a reconciliation of cash flows for each year and any

76 See Item 17(c)(1) of Form 20-F.
7 See Item 17(c)(2)(i) of Form 20-F.

7 See Item 17(c)(2)(ii) of Form 20-F.
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~interim periods.” We are proposing to revise Item 17(c)(2).so that reconciliation will no

longer be required from issuers using IFRS as p}lblished by the IASB.¥
As discussed in Section IIL.D., portions of Regulation S-X that do not relate to -the.

form and content of an issuer’s financial statements, includiﬁg, for examble; auditor
qualification and report requirements and financial statement requirements for entities
other than the issuer, would still continue to apply to foreign private issuers that prepare
their financial statements using IFRS .as published by the IASB without a U.S. GAAP
reconciliation.

. Several sub-paragraphs of Item 17(c)(2) relate to reconciling disclosure required

of issuers that rely on certain IAS. The partial accommodations contained in these sub-

_ parégraphs were available to issuers using home country GAAP or IFRS. - They are rarely

relied upon in practice and appear no longer needed by issuers that use IFRS as published

by the IASB.®' We are therefore proposing to eliminate these sub-paragraphs for

purposes of all foreign private issuer filings. Specifically, we are proposing to delete
Items 17(c)(2)(iv)(B) and (C), which relate to reconciling disclosures to be provided by

iésuers that rely on IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.” We

v See Item 17(c)(2)(111) of Form 20-F, containing the exceptlon relatlng to IAS 7 “Cash

Flow Statements.”

% We are not proposing to amend Item 17(b), which we do not read as imposing U.S:
GAAP requirements on financial statements prepared using IFRS as published by the
IASB.

¥ As noted above, the IASB has incorporatéd IAS developed by the IASC into IFRS. -

In addition, the sub-paragraphs were added at a time when IFRS was undergoing

~ substantial development and it was appropriate to permit compliance with selected

international standards. Such partial compliance with IFRS is not consistent with these
proposals, which are based on full compliance with IFRS as published by the IASB. .
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also are proposing to delete Item 17(c)(2)(viii) relatihg to reconciling disclosures to be
provided by issuers using IAS 22 “Business Combinations,” with respect to the period of
amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill, as IAS 22 has been superseded by IFRS
3 “Business Combinations” and may no longgr be used by an issuer preparing ﬁnancial
statements under IFRS. For this reason, we also are proposing to eliminate the related
Instruction 6 to Item 17. However, we are retaining the IAS 7 “Cash Flow Statements”
accommodation contained in Item 17(c)(2)(ii1). {

Item 17(c)(2)(vii) relat‘es to discloéﬁres that issuers using proportionate
consolidation may omit from their U.S. GAAP reconciliation. We are not propdsing any
revision to this paragraph, which continues to apply to issuers using home country GAAP
af peimitted by that GAAP). An issuer using IFRS as published by the IASB would
satisfy the requiréments of this paragraph by providing IAS 31 “Interests in Joint
Ventures” disclosures. |

A U.S. GAAP reconciliation under'It.em 18 builds on the information content of
Item 17. In addi_tion to providing reconciliﬁg information for the line items specified in
Item 17(c), Item 18(b) requires that an issuer also provide in it's financial statements all
information required by U.S. GAAP and Regulation S-X.** The broposed elimination of -
the reconciliation requirement for IFRS financial statements also applies in situations in
which the issﬁer currently would be required to prepare a reconciliation under Item 18.

Accordingly, we propose revising Item 18(b) to indicate that disclosures required by U.S.

822 U.S. GAAP and Regulation S-X information need not be provided for a period in
which net income has not been reconciled to U.S. GAAP, or for financial statements for
an entity or subsidiary covered by Rules 3-05 or 3-09 of Regulation S-X.
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GAAP and Regulatiorl S-X would not be re‘qﬁired if a registrant files its financial
statements using IFRS as publis}red by the IASB.
Questions
18. Do we need to make any other changes to Items 17 or 18 or elsewhere to
implement fully the proposed elimination of the reconciliation requirement fer
issuers using IFRS as published by the IASB? |
19. Isany revision‘necessary to clarify that the provisions relating to issuers that
use proportionate consolidation contained in Item 17(c)(2)(vii) would not
apply to IFRS financial statements that are not reconciled to U.S. GAAP
under the proposed amendments? If so, what changes would be.appropriate?
20.  Is the IAS 21 accommodation still useful for non-IFRS issuers? Is it clear that
an issuer using IFRS would not need to provide disclosure under Item

| 17(c)(2)(iv)? If not, what changes would be necessary to make it clear?

-2, Interim Period Financial Statements

Under the proposal, foreign private issuers that are eligible to omit the U.S.
GAAP reconciliation in their audited ennual financial statements would likewise be able
| \ _
to omit a reconciliation from their unaudited interim period financial statements. To the
extent a foreign private issuer is required to provide interim period financial statements,

the financial statements would have to be prepared. in accordance with IFRS as published

byvthe IASB.®

* The discussion in this section relates solely to registration statements and
prospectuses under the Securities Act and initial registration statements under the
Exchange Act. There are currently no requirements under our rules relating to the form
or content requirements of a foreign private issuer’s reports on Form 6-K under the
Exchange Act. See Form 6-K [17 CFR 249. 306]
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Questions
21.  Would issuers have any difficulty in preparing interim period financial
statements that are in accordance with IFRS as published by the IASB?
22. Do foreign private issuers that have changed to IFRS generally prepare
interim financial statements that are in accordance with IFRS, and do they
make express statements to that effect?
a. Financial Inforniation in Securities Act Registration Statements and

- Prospectuses and Initial Exchange Act Registration Statements Used Less
Than Nine Months After the Financial Year End

In registration statements and prospectuses under the Securities Act and initial
registration statements under the Exchange Act, if the document is dated less than nine
months after the end of the last audited financial year, foreign private issuers are not

required to include interim period financial information. However, if a foreign private -

issuer has published interim period financial information, Item 8.A.5 of Form 20-F
requires these registration statements and prospectuses to include that information.** The

intent of this requirement is to make information available in U.S. offering documents as

current as information that is available elsewhere.

The instructions to Item 8.A.5 require that an issuer providing interim financial

information describe any material variations between the accounting principles, practices

and methods used and U.S. GAAP, and quantify any material variations that are not

 already quantified in the financial statements. We are adding an instruction to Item 8.A.5 -

% Under Item 512(a)(4) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 22.512(a)(4)], a foreign private
issuer that registers securities on a shelf registration statement basis is required to
undertake to include any financial statements required by Item 8.A of Form 20-F at the
start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering.
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of Form 20-F with regard to interim period financial information that is made public by a
foreign private »issuer to clarify that interim period informétion does not ﬁeed to be
reconciled to US GAAP when the interim information is prepared in accordance with
v[FRS as published by the IASB.

b. Financial Statements in Securities Act Registration Statements and

Prospectuses and Initial Exchange Act Regist_ration Statements Used More
Than Nine Months aﬁcr the Financial Year End :

In registration statements and prospectuses under the Securities Act and initial :
registration statements under the Exchange Act, if the document is dated more than nine
months after the end of the last audited financial year, foreign private issuerS must
provide consolidafed interim period financial stéternents covering at least the first six
months of the financial year and the comparative périod for the prior financial year.*

- These unaudited interim period financial statemenfs must be prepared using the same
basis of acco.unting as the audited financial statements contained or incorpbrated by
reference in the document and include or incorporaté by reference a reconciliation to U.S.
GAAP.* The instructiqri that we are proposing to add to Item 8.A.5 would clarify that an

issuer does not need to pfoVide that reconciliation if it prepares its interim ﬁnaﬁcial
statervnentsvusing IFRS as published by the IASB.

Under the proposed rules, although an eligible issuer may provide IFRS financial
statements for an interim period without reconciliation, that issuer would continue to be

required to comply with Arti-élc 10 of Regulation S-X with regard to financial statements

8 See Item 8.A.5 of Form 20-F and Item 512(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

% See Items 17(c) and 18 of Form 20-F.
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for interim periods, when that information is required under Item 8.A.5 of Form 20-F.

There are several differences between IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting,” which

prescribes the minimum content of an interim financial report and the principles for

recognition and meésurement in financial statements pre_sénted‘ for an interim period, and
Article 10 of Regulation S-X. First, because IAS 34 permits mo?e condensed balance
sheet, income statement and cash flow information detail than does Article 10, financial
statements prepared under IAS 34 can be limited to major headings and subtotals. _

Second, unlike IAS 34, Article 10 contains an explicit statement that interim disclosures

" must be sufficient to make interim period information presented not misleading. Third,

Article 10 requires contingent liability disclosures even if no change has occurred since
the year énd, whereas IAS 34 requires disclosure of any changes in contingent liabilities
since the year end. Fourth, Article 10 requires footnote disclosure of summarized data
for equity investees that is not required under IAS 34.
Questions:
23.  How significant are thei differences between IAS 34 and Article 107 Is the
information required by IAS 34 adequate for investors? If rfot, what would bé
the best approach to bridge é.ny discrepancy between IAS 34 é.nd Article 107
- Should issuers be required to comply with Article 10 if their interim period
financial statements comﬁly with IAS 34? Should we consider any revision to
existing rules ds they apply to an issuér that would not bé required to provide

a U.S. GAAP reconciliation under the proposed rules?
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3. . IFRS Treatment of Certain Areas
As noted, IFRS as published by the IASB constitute a comprehensive basis of

accounting that may be used by foreign private issuers in the preparation of their financial

. statements that are contained in Commission filings. There are certain limited areas in

“which the IASB has yet to develop standards or in which IFRS permits disparate options.

These areas are not.‘new,l and existed at the time the IASB and the FASB were developing
their 2006-2008 work plan..87 However, based on our staff’s review of IFRS filings with
the Commission to date, we ﬁave a number of observations regarding the application in
practice in these areas, in which we also ask for public feec.iback.

a. Accounting for Insurance Contracts and Extractive Activities

* There are two industry areas that have been identified by the IASB as lacking

" standards: insurance contracts and extractive activities.

IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” provides limited guidance on the accounting to be
followed by companies that issue insurance contracts or hold reinsurénce contracts.
Except in some areas, IFRS 4 permits a company to coﬂtinue to apply its pré—existing
home country accounting principles for insurance contracts. Insurance company

accounting and practices vary greatly throughout the world in areas such as revenue

' reco gnition, claim expense recognition, policy benefit recognition, and policy acquisition

costs, resulting in substantial variation in reporting practices.
The TASB has noted that it is in the process of developing a standard for insurance

contracts because “there was no IFRS on insurance contracts, and insurance contracts

¥ See “SEC Welcomes Plans of U.S., International Standard Setters for Convergence of
Accounting Systems,” SEC Press Release dated February 27, 2007.
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were exciuded from the Scope of existing IFRSs that would have been relevant (e.g.,
IFRSs on provisions, financial instruments, iﬁtaﬂgible assets); and accounting practices
for insurance cont.racts Were-diverse, and also often differed from practices in other
sectors."’“‘

IFRS 6 “Exploratipn for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources” provides limited
guidaﬁce with r»especvt to the accounting for exploratién and evaluation activities
undertaken by oil and gas and mining companies. Except in certain areas; companies are
permitted to look to other sources for guidance. Items not addressed by IFRS 6 include,
for example, thresholds for capitaiizing or expensing a variety of costs, and the manner in
which capitalized cosfs are subsequently depreciAated or amortized.

The 'IA.SB adopted IFRS 6 in December 2004 as a first step in light of the need to
develop a standard in time for it to be applied by companies that were adopting IFRS in
2005.® The IASB acknowledged that its complete consultation in this area could not be
complefed in that time frame, and that developing a global consensus on a rigorous and
comprehensive approach would require extensive consultation.

On both of these projects, the IASB continues to rﬁake progress towafds
developing standards under IFRS. Nonetheless, we do not believe that the laclzk of

comprehensive standards in IFRS in these areas alone should delay our consideration of

fully accepting [FRS as published by the IASB without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation.

8 Excefpt from the IASB website at
http://www.iasb.org/Current+Projects/LASB+Projects/Insurance+Contracts/Insurance+

Contracts.htm.

¥ See IASB Press Release dated December 9, 2004.

52



b. Accounting Treatment for Common Control Mergers, Recapitalization
Transactions, Reorganizations, Acquisitions of Minority Shares Not
Resulting in a Change of Control, and Similar Transactions

There are certain areas, for example, accounting treatment for éommoﬁ control
mergers, recapitalizations, reorganizations, acquisitions of minority interests, and similar
transactioﬁs, for which IFRS does not have a specific standard or interpretation. When a
sténdard or interpretation of IFRS does not address a matter, IAS 8 “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,” provides guidance, including looking to
the most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies. With a lack of specific
guidance, cdmpanies can look to varioué (and differing) recognition, measurement and’.
présentation practices, including their home country accounting principles, in establishing
their accounting po.licies.g0 H:RS, however, does not £equire the disclosure of the impact

if an alternative accounting treatment had been used.

The IASB and the FASB have a joint proj ect underway entitled “Business

Combinations: Applying the Acquisition Method.”' This project is the second phase of -

an overall project on business combinations. In this phase of the business combinations

project, the IASB and the FASB are reconsidering their existing guidance for applying

.the purchase method of accounting for business combinations (now called the acquisition

method). This project will converge numerous areas of application and reduce alternative

'

** IAS 1 requires an entity to disclose the measurement basis used in preparing financial
statements and the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of
the financial statements.

°! For more information on this joint project, see
http://www.fasb.org/project/bc_acquisition method.shtml and
http://www.iasb.org/Current+Projects/IASB+Projects/Business+Combinations/Business+
Combinations+ILhtm. ‘
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 treatments but will not address all of the transactions discussed above. Final standards by

the IASB and the FASB are expected to be issued in the third quarter of 2007.

c. Income Statements and Per Share Amounts

IFRS does not provide specific conventions as to the format or content of the
Income st.atement.92 In addition, IFRS permits a company to present on the face of its
income statement or elsewhere in its financial statements any measure on  a per share
basis so long as the figure is reconciled to a line item on the income statement.”
Companies preparing IFRS financial statements are thus permitted to use numerous
- different income statement formats and to chéraéterizé subtotals and amounts using

multipie- and varied daption headings. In addition, companies using IFRS are permittéd |
“to present on the income statement and in footnotes measures that would be otherwise
considered non-GAAP measures that would not be permitted under oﬁr rules.*
The IASB and FASB have a joint project uhderway entitled “Financial Statement
Presentation” to establish a common, high-qual'ity standard for the presentation of
information in the ﬁnancial statements, ‘including the classjﬁcation and display of line

items and the aggregation of line items into subtotals and totals. A discussion paper

which addresses the more fundamental issues related to the presentation of information

2 1AS 1 provides guidance regarding minimum required line items and provides
-examples to which issuers may refer.

% See 1AS 33 “Earnings per Share.”

9f‘ See Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, [17 C.FR. 229.20(BE)}.
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‘ : on the face of the financial statements is expected to be publishedv in the fourth quarter of
2007.

Questions

24, Are there accounting subject matter areés_ that should be addressed by the
IASB before we should accept IFRS financial statements without a U.S.

 GAAP reconciliation?

25.  Can investors understand and use ﬁnanci.al statements prepared using IFRS aé
published by the IASB in those specific areas or other areas that IFRS dées
not address? If IFRS do not require comparability between companies in |
these areas, how should we address those areas, if at all? Would it b¢
appropriate for the Commission to require other disclosures in these areas not

‘ inconsistent with TFRS published by the IASB?

C. Accounting and Disclosure Issues

.1. Selected Financial Data
Under Item 3.A of Form 20-F, issuers must‘provide five years of selected

financial data. As part of this proposal t§ accept financial statements prepared using
IFRS as published by the MSB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, we are proposing
to revise the instructipn to Item 3.A to clarify that selected ﬁnanciall data based on the
U.S. GAAP reconciliation is required only if the issuer prepares its primary financial
statements using a basis of aécounting other than IFRS as published by the IASB.
Question

~ 26. Shoﬁld issuers that are peﬁnitted to omit a U.S. GAAP reconciliaﬁon for their

‘ | current financial year or current interim period be required to disclose in their
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~ selected financial data previously published information based on the U.S.
GAAP reconciliation with réspect to previous financial years or interim
periods?

2. Other Form 20-F Disclosure

a. Reference to U.S. GAAP Pronouncements in Form 20-F

Several non-financial statement disclosure items of Form 20-F make reference to
specific U.S. GAAP prdnouncements, including Financial Accounting Standards
(“FASs”) and interpretations of the FASB. For example, issuers Iare required to provide
disclosure of off-balance sheet arra‘ngerrients under Item 5 (“Operating and Financial
Review and Prospectg”), which expressly refers to FASB Interpretations No. 45
“Guarantor’s Accouﬁting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Includihg
Indirect Guarantees of Indebfednesé of Others,” and No. 46 “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.”™ Also, Item 11 of Form 20-F (“Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk”) sets out the requirements for certain summary
disc]osﬁres vab01.1t market risk which refer to FAS 52 “Foreign Currency Translation,”
FAS 5 “Accounting for Contingencies,” as well as to other FASs.

An [FRS filer thét would not be required to provide a U.S. GAAP reconciliation
under thé.proposed amendments would continue to be required to respond to those itemsr
of Form ZO-F that make reference to FASs, FASB interpretations, or other specific
pronounéements of US GAAP for definitional purposes. In providing that disclosure,
however,A the issuer should apply the corresponding IFRS notion of the principles

embodied in the referenced U.S. GAAP pronouncement.

% See Item 5.E of Form 20-F.

56



.

In order to convey this view, we are proposing to add an instruction to Item 5 and
Item 11 indicating that issuers preparing their financial statements in accordance with
IFRS as published by the IASB should, in responding to paragraphs of those items that
refer to specific pronouncements of U.S. GAAP, look to the appropriate corresponding
standards and interpretations of IFRS that contain similar definitions. If information
called for by the non-financial :statement requirements of Form 20-F duplicates
information that is contained in the IFRS financial statements, an issuer need not repeat
such information but may cross-reference to the appropriate footnote in the audited
ﬁnancial statements.

b. Disclosure fiom il and Gas Companies under FAS 69

‘Pursuant to either earlier Commission rules or more recent FASB standards,
public companies with significant oil and gas activities have been required to disclose
reserve and other information relating to those activities. In November 1982, the FASB

adopted FAS 69 “Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities,” which establishes

a comprehensive set of disclosures for oil and gas producing activities. Under this

standard, public.companies wit}i silch signiﬁcani activities are required to disclose
unaudited supplementary inforinatiop relating to proved oil and gas reserves, and
capitalized costs relating to oil and gas producing activities. As aresult of the FASB’s
adoption of FAS 69, the Commission at first suspended the effectiveness of a rule under

Regulation S-X calling for substantially similar information,” and then deleted the rule

% The requirement was found in former Rule 4-10(k) of Regulation S-X. The
application of this rule was suspended in Release 33-6444 (December 15, 1982).
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altogether.”” The Commission noted that, in light of the FASB standard, its own earlier
mlé requifing this disclosure was no longer necessary.

We are propbsing to afnend Item 18 of Form 20-F to expressly require that any
company that provides disclosure undef FAS 69 continue to provide the information
called for under that statement even though the company is preparing financial statements
in éccordance with IFRS as published by the IASB without a reconciliation to U.S.
GAAP. The nature of the information provided under FAS 69 is not in the ﬁature ofa
U.S. GAAP reconciliation but rather.‘is supplementary information included as an.

unaudited footnote to the audited financial statements. We believe that FAS 69 requires

the disclosure of important information that is useful to investors and that would not

- otherwise be required to be disclosed under IFRS.

c. Market Risk Disclosure and the Safe Harbor Provisions
Pursuant to Item 11 of Form 20-F, foreign private issuers are required to provide

disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about market risk inherent in -

~ derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative commodity

instruments. This information, which is not included as part of the financial statements in

a filing, is expressly subject to the safe harbor provided under Section 27A of the

7 Release 33-6818 (February 17, 1989) proposed the deletion which was adopted in -
Release 33-6959 (September 17, 1992).
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Securities Act® and Section 21E of the Exchange Act® to the extent it constitutes
“forward looking statements.”'® |

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure” as reeently amended, reciuires market
risk disclosure that is sinﬁlar to that required under Item 11."' In this respect, the
sensitivity énalysis provided under [FRS will be based on forward-looking information.
This information will appear in the footnotes to audited IFRS financial statements.

Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act expressly

exclude from the safe harbor any information “included in a financial statement prepared

~ in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.”'” The safe harbor may not

be available to the forward looking information included in IFRS financial statements.
When we adopted the market risk disclosure requirements, the Commission considered

whether the market risk disclosure could be included in a registrant’s financial statements

| and, if so, whether the safe harbor should apply to that disclosure. The Commiséion

~ decided to require that the information required under Item 11 be disclosed outside the

financial statements.'®

- ®15USC 77z-2.

% 15 USC 78u-5

10 See Release 33-7386 (Jan. 31, 1997) for the release adoptlng the derivatives disclosure

‘requirement and the related express safe harbor.

' IFRS 7 will require this information beginning with the 2007 financial year.
12 See Securities Act Section 27A(b)(2)(A) and Exchange Act Section 21E(b)(2)(A).

1 1.S. companies are subject to the same disclosure requirement. See Item 305 of
Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.3-05].
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The apparent non-availability of the safe harbor provisions to information
included in financial statements, including information called for by IFRS 7, is separate -

and distinct from our proposed acceptance of IFRS as published by the IASB without a

U.S. GAAP reconciliation. Regardless of whether we eliminate the U.S‘. GAAP

reconciliation for IFRS filers, the financial statements filed by a registrant must comply

fully with a comprehensive body of accounting principles,' which includes IFRS 7 for

those companies that use IFRS.

Questions

27.  Withregard to references to U.S. GAAP in non-financial statement disclosure
requirements, should we amend the references to U.S. GAAP bronouncements
that are made in Form 20-F to aiso reference appropriate IFRS guidance, and,
if so, what should the feferences refer to? Would issuers be able to apply the
proposed broad approach to U.S. GAAP pfonouncements and would this
approach elicit appropriate information for investors? Should we retain the
U.S. GAAP references for definitional purposes?

28.  Should foreign private issuers that prepare ﬁnanc;ial statements in accordance
with IFRS as published by the IASB be required to continue to comply with
the disclosure requirements of FAS 69?7 What alternatives may bé available to
élicit the same or substantially the same disclosure?

29.  Should the Commission address .the implications of forward-looking -

) disclosure contained in a footnote to the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS 7? For example, would some kind of safe harbor provision or other

relief or statement be appropriate?
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3. Other Considerations Relating to IFRS and U.S. GAAP Guidance

The Commission recognizes that an issuer that would not be required to reconcile

" jts IFRS financial statements to U.S. GAAP may nevertheless pursuant to the application

of IAS 8 look for guidance from Commission sources other than rules and regulations,
including Accounting Series Releases (“ASRs”) and Financial Reporting Releases
(‘iIFRRs™).'"* In addition, such an issuer may look to the guidance that the Commission
staff provides in Staff Accounting Bulletins (“SABs”), .and, if the company is engaged in
certain lines of business, various Industry Guides.'” No changes to such guidance are

planned. We believe that a company that would no longer be required to reconcile its

IHRS financial statements to U.S. GAAP under the proposed améndmen_ts, and its

auditor, would continue to be required to follow any Commission guidance that relates to

auditing issues.” An issuer using IFRS as published by the IASB, although not required

'% FRRs contain the Commission’s views and interpretations relating to financial
reporting. Prior to 1982, the Commission published its views and interpretations relating
to financial reporting in Accounting Series Releases (ASRs). In FRR 1, Adoption of the

- Financial Reporting Release Series and Codification of Currently Relevant ASRs, the

Commission codified certain previously issued ASRs on financial reporting matters.

195 Staff Acéounting Bulletins reflect the Commission staff's views regarding
accounting-related disclosure practices. They represent interpretations and policies
followed by the Division of Corporation Finance and the Office of the Chief

~ Accountant in administering the disclosure requirements of the federal securities laws.

Industry Guides serve as expressions of the policies and practices of the Division of

Corporation Finance. They are of assistance to issuers, their counsel and others

preparing registration statements and reports, as well as to the Commission's staff. v
SABs and Industry Guides are not rules, regulations, or statements of the Commission.
They have not been issued pursuant to notice and comment rulemaking, and the
Commission has neither approved nor disapproved these interpretations.

1% In addition, foreign private issuers are required to have audits conducted in
accordance with the Standards of the PCAOB (U.S.)/U.S. Generally Accepted Audit
Standards regardless of the comprehensive basis of accounting they use to prepare their
financial statements.
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. o follov? U.S. GAAP gui‘dance, may find reference to FRR‘s, ASRs, SABs, and Industry
Guides and other fonﬁs of U.S. GAAP guidance useful in the application of IAS 8.’
Questions
30.  Are there issues on which further guidance for IFRS users thaf do not
recorcile to U.S. GAAP would be necessary and appropriate? Should issuers
and audifors‘ consider guidance related to materiality and quantification of
financial misstatements?

4, First Time Adopters of IFRS

In 2005 the Commission adopted amendments to Form 2OfF to permit foreign
private issuers, for their first year of reporting under IFRS as adopted by the IASB, to file
two years rather than three years of statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity

‘ * and cash flows prepared in accordance with IFRS, Wit_h appfopriate related disclosure.'®
These amendments are contained in General Instruction G to Form 20-F. The proposed
amendments do not éffect the applicability of General Instruction G to issuers that are
first-time adopters of IFRS. If adopted, however, the proposed amendments to eliminate
the U.S. GAAP reconciliatibn will apply to eligible issuers that also may be eligible to
rely on General Instru_ction G, which curreﬁt_ly contains a number of references to a

reconciliation to U.S. GAAP from IFRS. We therefore are proposing to amend General

197 Under IAS 8, in the absence of an IFRS standard or interpretation that specifically
applies to a transaction or event, management should use its judgment in developing
and applying a relevant and reliable accounting policy and look to other
pronouncements in applying that judgment. /

| . % See the 2005 Adopting Release.
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Instruction G to ensure consistency with the pfoposed elimination of the U.S. GAAP
reconciliation requirement for users of IFRS as published by the MSB.

Paragfaph (d) of General Instruction G, “Information on the Company,” currenﬂy
refers to the basis of accounting that an issuer uses to prepzire “the U.S. GAAP
reconciliation.” As the U.S. GAAP reconciliation would no longer Be required of an
issuer.to which General Instruction G applies, we propose to change to reference to “a
U.S. GAAP reconciliation.” This change is intended to eliminate any potentjal inference
‘that the U.S. GAAP reconciliation would still be required, and to clai’ify that the body of |
accounﬁng principles referenced in the paragraph does not refer to a basis that the issuer
used to prepare ﬁnancial staterhents for whic;h a U.S. GAAP reconciliation was required.
Paragraph (e) of General Instruction G directs an issuer to refer to the U.S. GAAP.
reconciliation _fof the years for which financial statements were prepared in accordance
with IFRS and to discuss any differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP not otherwise
discussed in the reconciliation that fhe issuer believes are necessary for an understanding
of the financial statements. Because an issuer would no longer be required to prepare a
reconéiliafion to U.S. GAAP under the proposed rules, we are proposing to eliminate the
reference to the reconciliation in this instruction.

Paragraph (f) of General Instruction G stipulates the financial information that a -
first-time IFRS user must provide in a registration statement filed during the year in
which it makes the change, including interim information. Sub-paragraphs ‘(t)_('2)(B)(i),

(i1) and (iii) set forth three options by which the requirements of Item 8.A.5 for interim
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financial statements may be satisfied.'” The first option allows for three years of
financial statements prepared in accordance with Previous GAAP (as deﬁned in Form 20-
F) and reconciled to U.S. GAAP. As the proposed amendments would continue to
require a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP from financial statements prepared using any basis
of accountingv other than IFRS as published by the IASB, we are not proposing te amend
this requirement. The second option allows for two financial years of audited financial
statementsand interim financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as
published by the .IASB‘ and reconciled te U.S. GAAP as requifed by Item 17(c) or 18.
Consistent with the propesed amendments to Items 17 and 18, we also are proposing to
eliminate the reconciliation requirement from this option. Under the third option,. a first-
time IFRS adopter may.provide three years of audited financial statements pfepared in
accordance with the issuer’s Previous GAAP, reconciled to US GAAP, and two years of
interim financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and reconciled to U.S. |
GAAP. We are not proposmg to amend th1s optlon which was prov1ded as a bridge
between an issuer’s Previous GAAP and IFRS. Because an issuer eligible to rely on that
_option would not yet have provided audited IFRS financial statements in a filing with the
Commission, we believe it is appropriate to continue to require the U.S. GAAP
reconciliation of the interim financial statements prepared under IFRS.
Paragraph (h) of General Instruction G currently requires that ﬁnancial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS for the most recent two financial years be reconciled to

U.S. GAAP under Item 17 or 18. Because first-time filers of financial statements using

"% Ttem 8.A.5 of Form 20-F describes the financial information for interim periods to be
included in a registration statement.
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IFRS as published by the TASB are a subset of the IFRS filers that would be subject to the |
amendments we are proposing in this release, we also propose to climinate that |
requirement from General Instruction G(h) in a manner consistent with the other-
p'ropos,ed' revisions to. Form 20-F. As a conforming amendment we a]so are propdsing to
revise Instruction 2.b of General Instruction G(h) to specify that disclosure on operating
and financial review and prospects provided in response to Item 5 of Form ZO—F need not
refer to a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. That revision is intended to eliminate ambiguity
as to whether the disclosure should refer to any U.S. GAAP reconciling information
prepared for previous years. |

Currently, the accomfnodation to first-time adopters of IFRS contained in General
Iﬁstruction G expires after the first financial year starting on or after January 1, 2007.
- That timing was intended to comport with the requirements of the EU Regulation relating
fo the transition to IFRS of European companies, although the accommodation is
 available to an eligible first-time »a.dopter of IFRS issuer from any jurisdiction. The
Commission is aware that several countries will be changing their national accounting
standards to IFRS; and is therefore proposing to extend the accommodation contained in |
General Instruction G to Form 20-F for five years, to cover financial statements for the |
2012 financial year or earlier that are included in annual reports or regiétration
~ statements.

Paragraph (i) of General Insfruction G contéins a special instruction that requires
European issuers that prepare their financial statemenfs ‘using. IFRS as adopted by the EU
to reconcile their financial stateménts to IFRS as published by the IASB. A U.S. GAAP

‘reconciliation also is required. This paragraph presently applies only to issuers
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incorporated in an EU Member State, and would cease to be applicable after the 2007 |
ﬁnéncial year, at which time the mandatory switch to IFRS under the EU Regula'tipn will
be complete. Because the provisions would no longer be applicable after that time, we
are considering whethef or not to delete General Instruction G(i) as part of this
rulemaking.

Questions

31.  If afirst-time IFRS adopter provides, in a registration statement ﬁled during
the year in which it changes to IFRS, three years of annual financial -
statements under a Previous GAAP and two years of interim ﬁﬁancial
statements prepared under IFRS as published by the IASB, should we
cbntinue to require that the interim financial statements be reconciled to U.S.
GAAP?

32. Would a U.S. GAAP reconciliation be a useful bﬁdge from Previous GAAP
financial statements to annual financial statements prepared under IFRS aé
published by the IASB that are not reconciled to U.S. GAAP?

33. Should the Commission extend .the durlation of the accommodétion contained
in General Instruction G for a period longer or shorter than the proposed five
years? Woﬁld seven years, ten years or an indefinite period be 'appf'opriate?

- If so, why? | | | |
34.  Should any extension of the accommo\dation tp first-time adop’tersvt.)e tied iﬁ

any way to U.S. GAAP reconciliation? If so, how?
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5. . Check Boxes on the Cover Paée of Form 20-F

Currently, an issuer‘ﬁiling a registration statement or annual report on Form 20-F
is required to identify, on the cover page of its filing, whether it prepares its financial
statements in accordance with Item 17 or 18. 'The purpose of this information is to allow
the reader to identify af a glance the type of U.S. GAAP reconciliation that the filing
contains. If the proposed amendments are adopted, the reconciliation requirements

contained in Items 17 and 18 will not applytoa Form 20-F filer that files its financial

-statements using IFRS as published by the IASB. To eliminate possible confusion as to

the information that an issuer would provide on the cover page of Form 20-F in response
to the current check box, we are proposing to add a check box in which a Form 20-F filer

would indicate whether the financial statements included in the filing have been prepared

- using U.S. GAAP, IFRS as published by the IASB, or another basis of accounting. If, in.

response to this check box, an issuer has indicated that it uses a bésis of accounting other
than U.S. GAAP or IFRS as published by the LASB, the issuer would then indicate in
response to a subsequent check box whether it follows Item 17 or 18. |

It is often difficult for the staff to commum'cate: with foreign private issuers or
their counsel, who may be located overseas. As a means of facilitating communication
with foreign private issuers by the Commission staff, we also are proposing to revise the
cover page of Form 20-F to require that issuers provide contact information for a person
to whom enquiries may be directed."® This information would include the name of an

individual at the company or its legal counsel and the telephone, e-mail, and/or facsimile

110 An example of this enquiry would be a staff comment letter. Identifying the person
on the cover page would not make that person an agent for service of process.
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number, or other means by which that person can be contacted. Infonnat{on provided on
tﬂe Form 20-F in response to the proposed check boxes and the company contact
information Will constituté requiréd disclosure that is subject to all applicable federal
securities laws.
D.  Regulation S-X

Regulation S-X contains, among other things, fhe form and content requirements

for financial statements included in filings made with the Commission. It also includes

‘many provisions that do not relate to U.S. GAAP, for example, requirements for auditor

qualifications and reports. If the proposed rules are adopted, Regulation S-X, other than

' its form and content requirements, will continue to apply to the filings of all foreign

private issuers, including those who file financial statements prepared using IFRS as

published by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.

1. Abplication of the Proposed Amendments to Rules 3-05, 3-09, and 3-16

Under Rules 3-05, 3-09 and 3-16 of Regulation S-X, an issuer, in certain
circumstances, must include the financial statements of another entity in its filings.'" _

Although we are not proposing any specific amendments to those sections as part of this

" Rule 3-05 specifies the requirements for financial statements of businesses acquired or
to be acquired. Rule 3-09 specifies the requirements for financial statements of '
unconsolidated majority-owned subsidiaries and 50 percent or less owned investments
accounted for by the equity method. Both Rule 3-05 and 3-09 require financial
statements when the applicable entity is significant to the issuer.

Rule 3-16 specifies the requirement for financial statements of affiliates whose securities
collateralize an issue registered or being registered. The requirement to provide separate
financial statements under Rule 3-16 is based upon whether or not the securities are a
substantial portion (as defined) of the collateral for the class of securities registered or
being registered.
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rulemaking initiative, the amendments that we are proposing in this release will apply

equally in the application of Rules 3-05, 3-09 and 3-16.

a. Significance Testing

Under Rulés 3-05, 3-09 and 3-16, an issuer is required to include the _ﬁnancial
statements of another entity if the entity meets certain significance t‘ests.“2 ‘Requirements
fof significance testing are governed by the financial statements of the issuer. Generally, -
if a foreign private issuer prepares its own financial statements using IFRS as published
by the IASB, that issuer would perform the significance tests under Rules 3-05, 3-09 and

3-16 using IFRS as published by the IASB, regardless of the basis of accounting used by

the other entity. If the significance thresholds under Rule 3-05, 3-09 or 3-16 are met,

then the issuer must provide on a separate basis audited annual financial statements of the
subject entity.

b. Separate Historical Financial Statements of Another Entity Provided under
Rules 3-05 or 3-09 - .

Generally, the historical financial statement requirements for a foréign acquired
business or investee under Rules 3-05 or 3-09 are governed by the status of that entity,
and the burden of reconciling the financial statements of a non-issuer entity would be no

higher than if it were the issuer. In applying the proposed amendments, if the entity’s

. audited financial statemenfs are in accordance with IFRS as published by the IASB, those

 financial statements would not be required to be reconciled to U.S. GAAP. For example,

under Rule 3-05 both foreign private issuers and U.S. companies that acquire a

12 An entity is significant to the issuer if the issuer’s investment in the entity exceeds
20% of the issuer’s total assets, the entity’s income (as defined) exceeds 20% of the
issuer’s corresponding income, or (for Rule 3-05 only) the entity’s total assets exceed
20% of the issuer’s total assets.
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“signiﬁcant” foreign business would be pennittéd, under‘the proposed rules, to include '
the acquiree’s financial statemerits prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by the
TIASB without reconciliation, U.S. .GAAP, or another comprehensive basis of accounting
reconciled to U.S. GAAP. The same would be true for the financial statements of a
“significant” foreign investee under Rule 3-09.

An issuer that includes financial statements for a foreign entity under Rule 3-05 or
Rule 3-09 currently is permitted to omit the reconciliaition to U.S. GAAP for that entity,
regardlessvof the comprehensive basis of accounting in which that entity’s financial
statements arc presented, if the signiﬁcance of that entity, as defined in Rule 1-.02(w) of

Regulation S-X, does not exceed 30 percent of the registrant.'” Although we are not

' proposing to amend Rules 3-05 or 3-09, we are proposing to revise Items 17(c)(2)(v) and

(vi) of Form 20-F to clarify, respectively, that an issuer that uses IFRS as published by
the IASB to prepare the financial statements of the foreign entity under Rule 3-05 or 3-09

may omit the reconciling information specified under Item 17(c)(2)(i)-(iii) regardless of

- the significance of the entity.

2. Pro Forma Financial Statements Provided under Article 11

‘Under Article 11 of Regulation S-X, issuers are required to prepare unaudited pro ‘

- forma financial information that is intended to give effect as-if a particular transaction,

such as a significant recent or probable business combination, had occurred at the
beginning of the financial period. Requirements for pro forma financial information

under Article 11 continue to be governed by the financial statements of the issuer rather .

13 See Item 17(c)(2)(v) and (vi) of Form 20-F.
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than of the acquiree or other entity, as the pro forma results must be presented using the
same basis of accounting as the issuer. Similarly, these rﬁles do not impose a highe;
presentation burden on pro forma financial information than Wpuid be imposed on the
historical financial stateménts of the issuer. We are not proposing to amend Article 11,
but the proposed aniendments will apply in the application of Article 11. Acc':‘ordin.gly, if
the proposed'amendmgnts are adopted, a foreign private issuer uéing IFRS as published
by the IASB as its basis of accounting would not be required to reconcile to U.S. GAAP
its pro forma financial information. Therefore, an issuer using IFRS as published by the
IASB would prepare the pro forma financial information by presenting its IFRS results
and converting thé financial statements of the business acquired (or to be acquired) into
IFRS as published by the IASB.
3. Financial Statements Provided under Rule 3-10

Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X specifies ﬁ'nangial statement requirements for issuers
of guéranteed securities and guarantors.'* Generally, under this rule both the issuer of
the guaranteed security and the guarantor muét follow the financial statement
requirements of a registrant. If both entities are reporting foreign private issuers filing on
Form 2"0-F, we would accept the ﬁnancial‘s.tat.ements prepared in accordance with IFRS
‘as published by the IASB 'wi‘thout reconciliation ﬁofn'éﬁch one under the proposed

rules.'?

"' A guarantee of a registered security is itself a security, so a guarantor of a registered
security is itself considered an issuer of a security. See Securities Act Section 2(a)(1).

115 I this situation, when an issuer of a guaranteed security and a guarantor each file
complete audited financial statements, the separate financial statements of each entity
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- However, Rule 3-10 permits modified reporting by subsidiary issuers of
gﬁaranteed securities and subsidiary guarantors. Separate ﬁnancial. statements need not
be filed for subsidiaries meeting the applicable conditions contained in Rules 3;10(b)
through 3-10(f). Instead, condensed consolidating financial information is presented in
the parent company’s reports in an additional audited footnote to the financial statemeﬁts.
In applying modified reporting under Rule 3-10, howevér, the reconciliation requirement
would be based on the consolidated financial statements of the parent company, as under
curfent rules. A parent issuer or guarantor that presents consolidated financial statements
under [FRS as published by the IASB would i)resent the condensed éonsolidating
financial information on the basis of IFRS as published by the IASB, without
reconciliation to U.S. GAAP We do not believe that any substantive revision to Rule 3-
10 is'necessary to implerﬁent the acceptance of financial statements prepared usihg IFRS
as published by the IASB without reconciliation as proposed.

| The instructions for preparation of condensed consolidating financial information
required by certain paragraphs of Rule 3-10 contain a referénce to a reconciliation of the
condensed consoiidating financial information to U.vS'. GAAP. Asa cdnforming
amendment, we are proposing to revise this reference to clarify that we would accept the
condensed consolidating financial information without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation if it is

prepared using IFRS as published by the IASB.

also may be on a different basis of accounting and, if not prepared under U.S. GAAP or
IFRS as published by the IASB, must be reconciled to U.S. GAAP.

72



. 4. Conforming Amendment to Rule 4-01
| Rule -4-01 of Regulation S-X sets out the general requirements for financial
statements included in Commission filings and requires that foreign private issuers
include an Item 18 reconciliaﬁon if they use a basis of accounting other than U.S. GAAP,
except as otherwise stated in the applicable fovrm.‘i6 In order to implement fglly the
proposed acceptance of financial statements prepared using IFRS as published by the
IASB and to avoid ambiguity for issuers, we propose to revise Rule 4-01 to clarify that
financial statements of foreign private issuers may be prepared using IFRS as published
by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.
Questions ‘
35.  Are the proposed changes to Rules 3-10 and 4-01 sufficient to avoid any
. . , ambiguity about our acceptance of IFRS financial statements without
reconciliation? If not, what other revisions would be necessary?
36.  Are there other rules in Regulation >S-X that should be specifically amended to
| permit the filing of financial statements prepared iﬁ accordance with IFRS as
published by the IASB without a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP? If so, how

- would the application of those rules be unclear if there were no changes to

'8 As noted above, Item 17 reconciliation is permitted in various circumstances.
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those rules, and what changes would be suggested in ordef to make them
clear?
37.  Isthe application of the proposed rules to the preparation of financial
statements provided under Rules 3'-05, 3-09, 3-10 and 3-16 sufficiently clear?
If ﬁot, what areas need to be clarified? Are any further changes needed for
issuers that prepare their financial statements using IFRS as published by the
TASB?

E. Application of the Prdpos_ed Amendments to other Forms, Rules and Schedules

1. ‘Conforming Amendments to Securities Act Fomig F-4 and S-4

In addition to being the combined registration statemeﬁt'and annual report for
foreign private issuers undgr the Exchange Act, F;)rm 20-F also sets forth the disclosure
requirements for registration statements filed by foreign private issuers under the
Securities Act. Because the Securities Act registration étatemehts applicable to foreign
private issuers reference the disclosure and financial statement item requirements of
Form 20-F, the proposed amendments to Form 20-F to eliminate the U.S. GAAP

reconciliation requirement for IFRS issuers also will serve to eliminate the reconciliation

V requirement from most Securities Act forms without direct revision of those forms. In

order to implément fully our acceptanée of financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS as published by.the IASB and to eliminate potcntial ambiguity, we are
proposing to make conforming amendments to references to the U.S. GAAP
reconciliation contained in Securities Act Forms F-4 and S-4.

Form F-4, the registration statement for securities of foreign private issuers issued

- in certain business combinations, contains specific references to the U.S. GAAP
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reconciliation.'” We are proposing to revise these references to the U.S. GAAP
reconciliation contained in Items 10, 12 and 17 of this form to make them consistent with

the proposed revisions to Item 17(c) and 18(b) of Form 20-F to indicate that the

referenced U.S. GAAP reconciliation would apply only to financial statements prepared

using a basis of accounting other than U.S. GAAP or IFRS as published by the IASB.
Form S-4, the registration statement for securities of domestic issuers issued in business
combination transactions, also contains reference to the U.S. GAAP reconciliation in the

instruction to Item 17 which we propose to revise in the same manner.

2. Conforming Amendment to Rule 701

- Rule 701 under the Securities Act provides an exemption from registration for
offers and sales made under certain compensatory benefit plans. The rule is generally not
available to an issuer that has a reporting obligation under the Exchange Act. An issuer
that offers securities in reliance on Rule 701 does not file any information with the

Commission, but is required to deliver to investors certain information, including

financial statements, if more than $5 million in securities are sold over a 12-month

period. For foreigii private issuers relying on Rule 701, these financial statements must
include a reconciliation under Item 17 of Form 20-F if they are not-prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. |

To irilplement the proposed rules fully, we believe that a foreign private issuer

that conducts an offering under Rule 701 and that uses in its financial statements IFRS as

. published by the IASB should not be required to present a U.S. GAAP reconciliation.

W See Form F-4, Items 10(c), 12(b) and 17(b).
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We propose to amend Rule 701 to clarify that a U.S. GAAP reconciliation will not be
required in that circumstance.

3. Small Business Issuers

A Caﬁadian foreign private issuer that qualifies as a small business issuer under
Regulation S-B may elect to provide disclosure in its registration sfatements and annual
reports, in compliance with forms based on Regulation S-B rather than on Form 20-F."
Regulation S-B describes the financial statement requirements for a small business issuer,
which must be prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or, if filed by a foreign private |
issuer that also is a small business issuer, reconciled to U.S. GAAP in accordance with
the requirements of Items 17 or' 18 of Form 20-F, as appr'opriate.”9 At arecent
meeting, '’ the Commission approved a proposal to integrate most of the substantive
provisions of Regulatiqn S-B into Regulation S-K and to eliminate current Regulation
S-B as a separate disclosure system for smaller companies. If we do not adopt tﬁose
proposals; we would consider making conforming changes to Regulation S-B and to

small business forms to implement fully the amendments we are proposing in this release.

1817 CFR 228. A “small business issuer” is defined in Item 10 of Regulation S-B (17
CFR 228.10) as a company that (1) has revenues of less than $25,000,000, (ii) is a U.S.
~or Canadian issuer; and (iii) is not an investment company and is not an asset-backed
issuer; and (iv) if a majority owned subsidiary, the parent corporation is also a small
business issuer. An entity that meets all of these criteria is not a small business issuer if
it has a public float (defined as the aggregate market value of the issuer’s outstanding
voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates) of $25,000,000 or greater.

9 See Notes 1 and 2 to Item 310 of Regulation S-B.

% The proposal that the Commission made in its meeting held May 23, 2007 is
described at http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2007/2007-102.htm.
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1' ~ Ifthe new small business rules are adopted as i)roposed, a foreign private issuer
that also is eligible to rely on those rules would have a choice as to the accounting
standards used to prepare its financial statements. If we adopt the proposed amendments,
a small ‘busir_less issuer that files annual reports on Form 20-F or a Securities Act
registration stafernent based on Form 20-F would be able to file ﬁnancial statements
prepared using U.S. GAAP, IFRS as published by the IASB without a U.S. GAAP
reconciliation, or another comprehensive basis of accountiﬁg with a U.S. GAAP
reconciliation. If that issuer chose to file annual reports on Form 10-K or a Securities Act
form based on Regulétion S-K, financial statements prepared using U.S. GAAP would be
required. |
Questions

. o 38. | Are the proposed changes in Forms F-4 and S-4, and in Rule 7Ql, sufficient to
avoid any ambiguity about our acceptance of IFRS financial statements
withéut reconciliation? If not, how should we revise those forms or rule?

39.  Under Part F/S of Form 1-A relating to offerings conducted under Regulation
A, Canad'ian issuers may use unaudited financial statements that are
reconciled to U.S. GAAP. Should vs-/e amend Form 1-A to permit the use by .-
Canadian companies of financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS as published by the IASB without a reconciliation? Does the fac£ that
financial statements un;ier Form I-A are not required to be audited militate in
favor of retaining a U.S. GAAP reconciliation whenever é Canadian issuerA

uses a GAAP other than U.S, GAAP?
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40. ‘_Are there other rules or forms under the Securities Act that should be -
‘specifically amended to permit the filing of financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS aspublished by the JASB without a reconciliation to |
U.S. GAAP? If so, how would the rules or forms be unclear if there were no
changes to those forms, and what changes would be suggéstéd in order to
make them clear?

4. Schedule TO and Schedule 13E-3

Instruction 8 to Item 10 of Schedule TO, the tender offer statement under the
Exchange Act, ! contains a reference to reconciliation to U.S. GAAP in accordance with-
“Item 17 of Form 20-F. Instruction 2 to Item 13 of Schedule 13E-3,‘22‘the transaction
Statement under Section 13(e) of the Exchange Act, also contains a referenée to U.S.
GAAP reconciliation under Item 17. Because reconciliation requirements for Schedule
TO énd Schedule 13E-3 are provided in Item 17 of 20-F, which we are proposing to
amend, we do not believe any améndment to Schedule TO or Schedule 13E-3 is
neceésa:ry to fully implement our proposed acceptance of financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS as published by the IASB when contained without reconciliation to
U'S. GAAP. |
Question

41.  Should Schedule TO and Schedule 13E-3 be speciﬁcaily amended to permit
the filing of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as |

published by the IASB without a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP? If so, how |

2117 CFR 240.14d-100."

2217 CFR 240.13e-100.
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would the rules or forms be ﬁnclear if there were no changes td those
Schedules, and what changes would be suggested in order to make them
clear? |

F.  Quality Control Issues

On April 16, 2003, the PCAOB adopted certain pre-existing standards of the

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) as interim standards to be

used on an initial transition basis.””® Among these interim standards was PCAOB Rule
3400T, Interirﬁ Quality Control Sténdaf_ds, which consist of the AICPA’s Auditing
Standard Board’s Statements on Quality Control Standards and the AICPA SEC Practig:e
Section’s membership requirements, in each case as in existence on April 16, 2003 and to
the extent not superseded or amended by the PCAOB.

One of these membership requirements related to compliance with Appendix K,
which was applicable to member firms that were members of, correspondents with, or
similarly associatéd with international firms or international associations of firms.
Appendix K provides that member firms seek adoption of policies and procedures by

their international organizations or individual foreign associated firms that address the

‘review of SEC filings by persons knowledgeable in accounting, auditing and

independence standards generally accepted in the United States. This requirement seeks

123 See “Interim Standards™ at : .
www.pcaobus.org/Standards/Interim Standards/index.aspx.
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to enhance the quality of SEC filings by SEC registrants whose financial statements are
audited by foreigh associated audit firms.'**

We are not proposing amendments to our rules that relate to the continued need
for compliance with PCAOB Auditing Standards, including Appendix K. However, we
believe that commenters may wish to address this area in light of our proposed
acceptance of IFRS as published by the IASB without a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.
Questibns |

| 42. Without the reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, should we bé concerned about
member-firm requirements to have persons knowledgeable in accounting,
auditing and independence standards generally accepted in the United States
review IFRS ﬁnancilal statements filed with the Commission?- Are there
alternative ways in which concerns may be addressed?
G. Application to Filings under the Multijurisdictional Disclosure System

Certain Canadian foreign private issuers file registration statements and anﬁual
reports under the Multijurisdictional Disclosure System (“MJDS”), which permits
éligible Canadian companies to use their disclosure documents prepared in accordance
_ wjth Canadian requirements in_ﬁlings with the Commission. Certain filings under the

MIDS are not required to contain a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.'” However, a U.S.

12 See Appendix K at

www.pcaob.org[Standards/hlterim Standards/Quality Control Standards/SECPS 1000.

08 Appendicies bookmarks.pdf#fnameddest=k.

125 A U.S. GAAP reconciliation is not required under Form F-7 relating to rights offers,
Forms F-8 and F-80 for exchange offers and business combinations, Form F-9 relating
to investment grade securities, and Form 40-F when used as an annual report relating to -
an issuer’s Section 15(d) reporting obligations for any of the these offerings or a
Section 13(a) reporting obligation relating to investment grade securities.
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 GAAP reconciliation is required in registration statements and annual reports on Form -

40-F,"® and registration statements on Form F-10,"” each wﬁen used for common equity
securities, securities convertible into common equity securities and other securities not
rated investment grade.

At present, Canadian companies filing under the MIDS generally use either
Canadian GAAP (with a U.S. GAAP reconciliation when called for) or U.S. GAAP in
filings with the Commission. As discussed above, officials in Canada are considering
permitting the use of IFRS as published by the IASB as the basis of accounting fo.r all
Canadian public companies. To implement the proposed rules fully, we believe that a
Canadian company that uses the MJDS fofms andv thét changes its basis of accounting to

IFRS as published by the IASB should not be required to present a U.S. GAAP

reconciliation. However, we do not believe any amendments to Forms 40-F and F-10 are

necessary to accomplish this. F onﬁs 40-F and F-10 already contain a cross-reference to
the U.S. GAAP reconciiiation requirement under Items 17 and 18 of Fonn 20-F, which
will be amended as described above to allow the filing of IFRS ﬁnaﬁcial statements
without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation.
Questions

43.  Should Form 40-F or F -10 be specifically amendéd to permit the filing of

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by the

12617 CFR 249.240f.

%717 CFR 239.40.
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IASB without a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP? If so, how would the forms be
~unclear if theré were no changes to those forms, and what changes would be
suggested in order to make them clear?
IV. GENERAL REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
We request and encourage any interested persons to submit comments regarding:

o the proposéd changes that are the subject of this release,

e additional or different changes, or

. 6ther matters that may have an effect on the propbsals contained in this release.

In addition to providing comments on these matters, we encourage interested parties
to. provide comment on broader matters related to the development of a single set of globally |
accepted accounting standards, for example:

44.  If progress does not continue towards implementing a siﬁgle set of high-
quality globaliy accepfed accounting standards, will investors and i.ssuelrs be
_ served by the absence of a US GAAP recoﬁciliatio.n for financial vstatements
prepared using IFRS as published by ;[he IASB?
‘ 45.  Where will the incentives for continued. convergence ‘lie for standard setters,
issuers, investors and othér 1.1sers. of financial statements if the reconciliation
to U.S. GAAP is eliminated for issuers whose financial statements are
prepared using IFRS as published by the IASB?
46.  Are there additional interim measures, béyond the proposed elimination of the
U.S. GAAP reconciliation from IFRS financial statements, that would
advance the adoption of a single set of high-quality gIobally accepted

accounting standards? If so, what are they? Who should undertake them?
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We request comment from the point of view of registrants, investors, accountants,
accounting standard setters, users of financial statements and other market participants. With
regard to any comments, we note that such comments are of greatest assistance to our |
rulemaking in_itiative if accompanied by_supporting data and analysis of the issues addressed
in those comments.

V. | PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT
A.  Background

~ The proposed amendments contain "collection of information" requirements
within the meaning of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 ("PRA")."”® We are

submitting the proposed amendments to the Office of Management and Budget ("OMB")

" for review in accordance with the PRA.'® The titles for the affected collections of

information are:

(1)  "Form 20-F” (OMB Control No. 3235-0288);

(2)  “Form F-1” (OMB Control No. 3235-0258);

(3) “Form F-4” (OMB Control No. 3235-0325);

(4)" “Form S-4” (OMB Control No. 3235-0324); and

(5)  “Rule 701” (OMB Control No. 3235-0522).
These forms were adopted pursuant to the Exchange Act and the Securities Act and set -
forth the disclosure requirements for annual reports and registration statements filed by

foreign private issuers. The hours and costs associated with preparing, filing and.sending

128 44 U.S.C. 3501 et seq.

129 44 U.S.C. 3507(d) and 5 CFR 1320.11.
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these forms constitute reporting and cost burdens iﬁposed by each collection of
information. An agency may nét conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to
respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a cﬁrrently valid OMB control
number.

The proposed amendments, if adopted, would allow é foreign privéte issuer that'
prepares its consolidated financial statgﬁlents in accordance with IFRS as published by
the IASB, and meets thebother eligibility requirements, to file those financial statements
in its registration statements and periodic reports filed with the Commission without
recOnciHation to US GAAP. These é.mendments would be _collectiohs of information for
purposes of the Paperwork Reduction Act. F 6r pufpbses of this Paperwork Reduction
Analysis, these proposed amendments, if adopted, would result in a decreasé in the hour
and cost burden calcul;itions.’ We bélieve this proposed amendment would eliminaté

- potential burdens and costs for foreign issuers that use IFRS. The disclosure will be |
mandatory. There would be no inandafory retention period for the information disclosed,
and responses to the disclosure requirements would not be kept confidential.

For purposes of the Paperwork Reduption Act, we estimate that the inc_:remental
decreasé in fhe; paperwork burden for all fbrei gn private issuers that use IFRS and issuers
that acqﬁire—foreign_private issuers that use IFRS would be approximately 3,861 hours of
company time and approximately $4,600,720 for the services of outside professionals.
We estimated’the average number of hours each entity spends completing the forms and
the average hourly rate for outside professionals. That estimate includes the time and the

cost of in-house preparers, reviews by executive officers, in-house counsel, outside
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counsel, independent auditors and members of the audit committee.”® Qur estimates of
the number of impacted foreign private issuers are based on the number of recent filings
received from issuers that we believe may be immediately eligible to rely on the
proposals; if adopted. | |
B. Burden and Cost Estimates Related to the Proposed Accommodation
1. Form 20-F

We estimate that currently foreign private issuers file 942 Form 20-Fs each year.
We assume that 25% of the burden required to produce the Form 20-Fs is Borne
internally by foreign private issuers, resulting in 619,601 anpual burdén hours borne by -
foreign private issuers out of a total of 2,478,404 annual burden houfs. Thus, we éstimate
that 2,631 total burden hours per response are currently required to prepare the Form 20-
F. We further assume that 75% of the burden to produce the Form 20-Fs is carried by
outside professionals retained by foreign private issuers at an average cost of $400 per
hour, for a totai cost. of $743,520,600. |
| We estimate that appréximately 110 companies that file Form 20;F will be

currently impacted by the proposal.’' We expect that, if adopted, the proposed

139 In connection with other recent rulemakings, we have had discussions with several
private law firms to estimate an hourly rate of $400 as the cost to companies for the
services of outside professionals retained to assist in the preparation of these
disclosures. For Securities Act registration statements, we also consider additional
reviews of the disclosure by underwriter's counsel and underwriters.

! We are using this figure for purposes of the Paperwork Reduction Analysis based on
the number of Form 20-Fs that were filed with IFRS financial statements during the
2006 calendar year. As additional jurisdictions adopt IFRS as their basis of accounting
in the future, the number of issuers that use IFRS is expected to increase.
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amendment would cause those foreign private issuers to have fewer burden hours. We |
estimate that for. each of the companies affected by the proposal, there would occur a
decrease of 5% (131.55 hours) in the number of burden hours required to prepare their
Form 20-F, for a total decrease of 14,471 hours. We expect that 25% of these decreased
burden .hours (3,618 hours) will be saved by foreign private issuers. We further expect
that 75% of these decreased burden hours (10,853 hours) will be saved by outside firms,
at an average cost of $400 pe; hour, for a total of $4,341,120 in decreased costs to the
respondents of the information coilection.

Thus, we estimate that the proposed amendment to Form 20-F would decrease the
annual burden borne by foreign privafe issuers in the preparation of Form 20-F from
619,601 héurs to 615,983 hours. We further estimate that the proposed amendment ‘

- would decrease the total anhual burden associated with Form 20-F preparation to |
2,463,932 burden hours, which would decrease the average number of burden hours per
response to 2,616. We further estimate that the proposed amend;hent would decrease the
total annual costs attributed to the preparation of Forfn 20-F by outside firms to 
$739,179,600. | |

2. Form F-1

We estimate that currently foreign private issuers file 42 registration statements
on Form F-1 each year. We assume that 25% of the burden requiréd to produce ;chorm
F-1 is borne by foreign private issuers, resulting in 18,999 annual burden hours incurred
by foréign pri\.fate issuers out of a total of 75,996 annual burden hours. Thus, we estimate
that‘ 1,809 total burden hours per response are currently required to prepare a registration

statement on Form F-1. We further assume that 75% of the burden to produce a Form F-
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1 is carried by outside professionals retained by. foreign private issuers at an average cost
of $400 per hour, for a total cost of $22,798,800.

- We estimate that currently approximately five comparﬁes that file registration
statements on Form F-1 will be impacted by the proposal.'®> We expect that, if adopted,
the proposed arnen;irnent would cause those foreign private issuers to have fewer burden
hours. We estimate that each company affected by the proposal would have a 5%
decrease (90.45 houré) in the number of burden hours required to prepare their
regisfration statements on Form F-1, for a tqtal decrease of 452 hours. We expect that
25% of these decreased burden hours (113 hours) will be saved by foreign privaté issuers.
We funh.er.expect that 75% of the decreased burden hours (339 hours) will be saved by
outside ﬁrmé, at an average cost of $400 per hour', for a total of $135,600 iﬁ decreased
costs to the respoﬁdents of the information collection.

Thus, we estimate that the proposed amendment to Form 20-F would decrease the

“annual burden incurred by foreign private issuers in the preparation of Form F-1 from

18,999 hoﬁrs to 18,886 hours. We further estimate that the proposéd amendmenf would
decrease the total annual burden associated with Form F-1 preparation to 75,544 burden
hours, which would decrease the average number of burden hours per reS};onse to 1,799.
We fufthér estfmate that the proposed amendment would decrease the total annual costs

attributed to the preparation of Form F-1 by outside firms to $22,663,200.

- 2 This figure is based on our estimate of the number of Form F-ls that were filed with

IFRS financial statements during the 2006 calendar year.
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3. Form F-4

We estimate that currently foreign private issuers file 68 registration statements
on Form F-4 each year. We assume that 25% of the burden required to produc¢ a Form
F-4 i.s borne internally by fbrei gn private issuers, resu&ting in 24,503 annual burden hours
incurred by fore.ign private issuers out of a total of 98,012 annual burden hours. Thus, we
estimate that 1,441 total burden hours per response are currently required to prepare a
registration statement on Form F-4. W‘e further assume that 75% of the burden to
produce a Form F-4 is carried by outside professionals retained by foreign private issuers
at an average cost of $400 per hour, for a total cost of $29,403,600.

We estimate that currently approximately 5 companies that file registration
statements on Form F-4 will be impacted by the proposal.™® We expect that, if adopted,

the proposed amendment would cause those foreign private issuers to have fewer burden

hours. We estimate that each of the affected companies would have a decrease of 5% (72

hours) in the number of burden hours required to prepare their registration statements on
Form F-4, for a total decrease of 360 hours. We expect that 25% of these decreased

burden hours (90 hours) will be saved by foreign private issuers. We further expect that

- 75% of the decreased burden hours (270 hours) would be saved by outside firms at an

. average cost of $400 per hour, for a total of $108,000 in decreased costs to the

respondents of the information collection.

133 This figure is based on our estimate of the number of Form F-4s that were filed with
IFRS financial statements during the 2006 calendar year.
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Thus, we estimate that the proposed amendment to Form 20-F would decrease the
annual burden incurred by foreign private issuefs in the‘preparati‘on of Form F-4 from
24,503 hours to 24,413 hours. We further estimate that the proposed amendment would
decrease the total annual burden associated with Form F-4 preparation to 97,652 burden
hours, which Would decrease the average number of burden hours per response to 1,436.
We further estimate that the proposed amendment would decrease the total annual costs
attributed to the preparation of Form F-4 by outside lﬁrms to $29,295,600.

4. Form S-4

When a domestic issuer files a registrétion statement on Form S-4 for the

acquisition of a foreign private issuer, the domestic issuer must include the financial

statements of the acquired coinpany in the Form S-4. If those financial statements are

prepared using a basis of accounting other than U.S. GAAP, the domestic issuer must

provide a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, unless a reconciliation is unavailable or not
obtainable without uﬁreasonable cost or expense.

We estimate that issuers file 619 registration statements on Form S-4 each year.
We estimate that 1,355 total burden hours per response are currently required to prepare a
registration statement on Form S-4. We assumé that 75% of the burden required to
produce a Form S-4 is bomne by"the domestic issuer, resulting in 629,059 annual burden

hours incurred by issuers out of a total of 838,745 annual burden hours. We further

- assume that 25% of the burden to produce a Form S-4 is carried by outside professionals

retained by the issuer at an average cost of $400 per hour for a total cost of $83,874,500.
We estimate that currently approximately 6 registration statements filed on Form

S-4 will contain the financial statements of a foreign target that will be impacted by the
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proposal.? We expect that, if adopted, the proposedvamendment would cause the
domestic issuers that file the Form S-4 registration statements to have fewer burden
hours. We estimate that for each of these domestic registrants, there would be a decrease
of 2% (27 hours) in the number of bﬁrden hours required to prepare their registration
statements on Form S-4, for a total decrease of 162 hours.””” We expect that 75% of these
decreased burden hours (122 hours) would be saved by issuers. We further expect that
75% of the decreased burden houis (40 hours) would be saved by outside professionals at
an average cost of $400 per hour for a total of $16,000 in decreased costs to the
respondents of the information collection.

Thus, we estimate that the proposed amendment would decrease the annual
Burden incurred by ilssuers in the preparation of Form S-4 from 629,059 hours to 628,937
hours. We further estimate that the proposed amendment §vould decrease the total annual
burden associated with Form S-4 preparatién to 838,584 burden hours, which would
. decrease the average number of burden hours per response to 1,354.7. We further
estimate that the proposed amendment would decrease t!he total annual costs attributed to
the preparation pf Form S-4 by outside firms to $83,858,500.

5. | Rﬁlé 701
Rule 701 provides an exemption from rgg.istration for offers and sales of securities

pursuant to certain compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation.

134 This figure is based on our estimate of the number of Form S-4s that were filed
during the 2006 calendar year that contained IFRS financial statements.

1 We estimate the burden decrease for purposes of this Paperwork Reduction Analysis

would be less for Form S-4 than for other forms described in this section because, in the
case of Form S-4, the registrant is obtaining the U.S. GAAP reconciliation from the
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issuers conducting employee benefit plan offerings in excess of $5 million in reliance on

Rule 701 are required to provide employees covered by the plan with certain disclosures,

including financial statement disclosures. This disclosure is a.collection of information.

We estimate that currently 300 issuers provide information under Rule 701, and

that the estimated number of burden hours per respondent is two. Therefore, we estimate

an aggregate of 600 burden hours per year. We believe that the reduction in burden hours

caused by the proposed rules will be insignificant. Therefore, we do not believe the

proposed rules will alter current burden estimates associated with Rule 70 1.

C.

Request for Comment
Pursuant to 44 U.S.C. 3506(c)(2)(B), we request comment in order to:

evaluate whether the proposed collections of information are necessary for the

- proper performance of the functions of the Commission, including whether the

information will have practical utility;

eyéluate the accuracy of our estimates. of the burden of the proposed collections of
information;

determine whether there are ways to enhance the quality, utility, and clarity of the

information to be collected;

evaluate whether there are ways to minimize the burden of the collections of

~ information on those who respond, including through the use of automated

collection techniques or other forms of information technology; and
evaluate whether the proposed amendments will have any effects on any other

collections of information not previously identified in this section.

foreign private issuer. Further, the registrant is not required to provide the
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Any member of the public may direct to us any comments concerning the accuracy of |

these burden estimates and any suggestions for reducing the burdens. Persons who desire

" to submit comments on the collection of information requirements should direct their

comments to the OMB, Attention: Desk Officer for the Securities and Exchange
Commission, Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Washington, DC 20503, and

send a copy of the comments to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Securities and Exchange

- Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washingtoh, DC 20549-1090, with reference to File No,

S7-13-07. Requests for materials submitted to the OMB by us with regard to these
collecfiohs of information should be in writing, refer to File No. S7-13-07 and be
submitted to the Secﬁrities and Exchange Commission, Records Man;gement, Office of
Filings and Information Seﬁices, 100 F Street NE, Washington DC 20549. Becaus¢ the
OMB is required to make a decision concerning the collections of information between

30 and 60 days éﬁer publication, your commenfs are best assured of having tﬁeir fuil

effect if the OMB receives thém within 30 days of publication.

VL.  COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS

We are proposing amendments to existing rules and forms to accept financial
statements from foreign private issuers prepared using IFRS as published by the IASB
without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. Currently, financial statements that foreign private

issuers file with the Commission must be prepared either in accordance with U.S. GAAP,

" or in accordance with another. GAAP with a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. The

amendments, if adopted, would therefore provide foreign private issuers with a'third

method of preparing financial statements filed with the Commission. We are not

reconciliation if it is unavailable or unobtainable without unreasonable cost or expense.
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proposing to amend the current reconciliation requirements for foreign pﬁvate issuers
that prepare their financial statements using a basis of accounting other than IFRS as
published by the IASB.

The amendments would apply to a registrant’s financial statements contained in
énnual repérts and registration statements on Form 20-F. as well as to financial statements
~ included in the Securities Act regiStfatioh statements filed by foreign private issuers or,
“when applicable, included ina registration statement or reported pursuant to Rules 3-05,

3-09 or 3-16 of Regulation S-X. We also are proposing a conforming amendment to Rule-
701, which provides an exemption from Securifieé Act registration for securities offered
in certain employee benefit plans, to clarify that a foreign private igsuer conducting an
offering in excess of $5 miilion in reliance on that rule may furnish investors with
financial statements prep'ared ﬁsing IFRS as published by the IASB without
;econciliation. | |
Currently, there are between 1,000 and 1.,200 foreign private issuers registered
with the Commission. The proposed amendments would b.e available to any of those
foreign private issﬁers that éomply with IFRS as published by the IASB, whether
voluntarily or pursuant té a requiiement. Some foreign companies that are registered -
under the Exchange Act alreédy include in their filings with the Commission ﬁnanc.:ial
statements tﬁat comply with IFRS as. publishéd by the IASB. We estimate that there are
approximately 110 foreign private issuers that repres'ent in the footnotes to their financial
statements that the financial statements comply with IFRS as published by the IASB. |
This representation may be in addition to a representation that the financial statements

comply with a jurisdiétional variation of IFRS. If a registrant’s auditors are able to opine
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that those financial statements are in compliance with IFRS as published by the IASB,
then those registrants would be in a position to immediately file their existing financial
statements under the proposed approach. Another approximately 70 foreign private
issuers already include in their filings financial statements that they state are prepéred in
accorda'nce. with solely a jurisdictional variation Qf IFRS. If these companies are also
able to state (and their auditors are able to opine) that their financial statements comply
with IFRS as published ny the IASB, the companies would be in a similar position,
Lastly, approximately 50 additional foreign private iséuers that are incorporated in
jurisdictions that have moved to IFRS include in their ﬁliﬁgs with the Commission
financial statements prepared using U.S. GAAP. Some of these issuers élsd may bein a
position to file financial statements under the.proposed approach.™
We recognize that other registered foreign qompanies include financial statements
. in accordance with a home country GAAP. We believe that there would be different
incentives for these companies to change their basis of acqounting to [FRS as published |
by the IASB and thus be able to omit the U.S. GAAP reconciliation under the proppsed
approach. .Some.forei gn companies are required under home country law or stock
exchange rule to use a home country GAAP and are not permitted for home country
purposes to use IFRS. At présent, these companies generally include in their SEC filings
l‘ financial statements prepared under home country GAAP with 2 U.S. GAAP
reconciliation. These companies would be able to take advantage of the proposed

amendments by preparing for the purpose of Commission filings (but not for home

%6 The ﬁgurés contained in this paragraph are per staff estimates based on the
jurisdiction of the filers.
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country purposes) financial statements in accordance with IFRS as published by the
IASB. While these companies would incur the costs of preparing a sepafate set of
financial statemerits, companies may elect to do so in light of benefits they may derive
from preparing a set. of IFRS financial statements as well as the costs of preparing the
U.S. GAAP reconciliation.

Lastly, in coming years, as more countries adopt IFRS as their basis of accounting
or permitvcompanies to use IFRS as their basis of accounting, we believe that the number
of foreign private issuers that would be eligible to rely on the proposed amendments will
increase, although it is-difficult to quantify that increase at this point in time.

In ‘summary, while ali foreign private issuers would receive a potential benefit
from the third option for preparing financial statements deScribed in this proposal, this
option wili not be immediately equally attractive to all such issuers. We recognize that
the prosted_acceptance of financial statements prepared using IFRS as published by the
IASB without reconciliation does not confer an equal benefit on all foreign private
issuefs, as there are some i‘ssuers that will continue to find it more attractive to reconcile
their ﬁnancial statements to U.S. GAAP. For some foreign private issuers the proposed
amendments are immedie_ltely attraétive. For other foreign private issuers the option may
become attractive at a later date when their situational constraints or. oppoﬂunitieé
change. For still other such issuers, the option may not become attractive or appliéable at |
any time in the foreseeable future. The cost of preparing (or not having to additionally
prepare) the relevant IFRS financial statements is one factor that may influence whether a
foreign private issuer will use the option proposed, be it immediately or at some time in

the future. The proposed option may be most attractive for issuers whose home
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jurisdiction or other capital markets in which the issuer lists securitiés allow financial
statem'ents prepared in accordance with FRS. Foreign pri.vate issuers also may be
concerned about public percéption costs, as they may be perceived as being the outligr if
companies with which they compete for capital commonly report using another basis of
accounting. Such an effect is likely to be smaller if a critical mass of issuers with whom
the issuer competes for capital (such as those in its industry.s'ector) also report in IFRS.
In such situations, by reporting‘in IFRS, the forei gn private issuer has madg it more
efficient for investors to analyze its financial results in comparison with the results of
others with whom it competes for capital.
A. | Expected Benefits

Our perosed acceptance of financial statements prepared using IFRS as
published by the IASB is expected to help foster the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with IFRS as a way of moving to a single set of globally accepted accounting
standards, which we believe will.have positive effects on investors and also issuers.
Financiai statements prepared using a common set of accounting standards help in\Ifestors
better understanci investment opportunities as compared to financial statements prepared
under differing sets of national accounting standards. Without a common standard and
without a requirgd reconciliation, global investors must incur the time and effort to
understand financial statements reported using different bases of accounting so that they
can compare opportunities.

The proposals are expected to increase the likelihood of realizing the net benefits
of a single set of globally accepted accounting standards. This benefit is due to potential

network effects of the proposed amendments: the more issuers that use IFRS as published
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by the IASB and file without a U.S. GAAP reconciliétion, the more benefits there may be
for other issuers to do  so since the utility for investors of a set of accounting standards
increases as the number of issuers using it increases.

~ The resulting reduction of the multiplicity of accounting standards that presently
exist is expectéd to benefit investors by allowing them to spend less time and allocate
fewer resources to learning, or keeping up‘with developments in, myriad GAAPs of
varying quality in favor of a single, high-quality set of globaily accepted standards. In
additfon to these benefits of moving away from a multiplicity of accounting standards:
towards a single set of standards, investors will further benefit from better information if
the single set of standards that issuers use results in higher disclosure quality.

- We believe that issuers would be affected by the proposal in a number of ways,
including needing fewer resources to prepare U.S. filings."” To the extent that an issuer
relying on the proposed amendments can reallocate its cost savings from not preparing a
reconciliation to U.S. GAAP or possibly a second set of financial statements in U.S.
GAAP to higher earning opportunities, and not suffgr a relatively greater increase in the

cost of its capital as a result, then the issuer also will realize a better rate of return on its

“7 For purposes of the Paperwork Reduction Analysis, as described above, we have
estimated that the incremental decrease in the paperwork burden for all foreign private
issuers that use IFRS and issuers that acquire foreign private issuers that use IFRS would
be approximately 3,861 hours of company time and approximately $4,600,720 for the
services of outside professionals. For purposes of these calculations, we estimated the
average number of hours each entity spends completing the forms and the average hourly
rate for outside professionals, including the time and the cost of in-house preparers,
reviews by executive officers, in-house counsel, outside counsel, independent auditors
and members of the audit committee. The impact on an individual issuer may vary,
based on its specific circumstances. . S ' '
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capitat which will benefit investorg. Issuers also may enjoy greater timing flexibility in
accessing the U.S. market if they can ‘prepare IFRS financial statements more quickly
without reconciliation, particularly with regard to the use of automatic shelf registration
statements.

The proposed amendments are expected to benefit investors and issuers alike to
the extent that they facilitate capital formation by foreign compénies in the United States
capital markets. -Our proposed amendments to accept IFRS financial statenients without
reconciliation would reduce régulatory burdens for foreign private issuers that rely on
them, thereby lowering the information disclosure preparation cost of raising capital in
the United States for those issuers. We believe that foreign private issuers may thereifore
be more likely to enter the U.S. capital markets. If they do, investors would, in turn,
benefit from having more investment opportunities in the United States and generally
would incur lower transaction costs when frading a foreign company’s securities in the
United States relative to a foreign market. To the extent our acceptance of IFRS financial
sfétements without reconciliation encourages foreign private issuers to enter or remain in.
the U.S. capifal market, investors also will benefit from the protections of the U.S.

regulatory and disclosure system relative to the protections they may receive if

purchasing those securities overseas. Investors also are expected to benefit from

potential reduction in the cost of capital to issuers, as discussed above.
B. Expected Costs

This proposal has no cost upon either a foreign private issuer of its investors until
the issuer uses the proposed IFRS option. In so doing, the minimum required ﬁnancial

information the investors in the U.S. capital markets receive from any such issuer would
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differ from what it was previously. The extent to which this yields a different required
information set will depend upon how the foreign issuer previously reported its financial
statements. For instance, if the foreign issuer currently files its financial statements using
U.S. GAAP and transitions to reporting in IFRS, then this may or may not represent il-
loss of required information in absolute terms. Whether there is an absolute loss of -
information would depend upon vi'hether IFRS financial statements yielded more or less
infomiation about a particular issuer than do U.S. GAAP financial statements. On the
other hand, if the foreign private issuer cilrrently prepares its statements in IFRS and |

reconciles to U.S. GAAP, then a loss of information would result as U.S. GAAP

information is omitted.

The proposed amendments may lead to some costs to both investors and to

issuers. If the investor community prefers the information communicated by a U.S.

GAAP reconciliation, a foreign private issuer that uses IFRS as published by the IASB

without a reconciliation may face a reduced following in the marketplace. Investors may

prefer a U.S. GAAP reconciliation, if investors are not sufficiently familiar with IFRS

accounting standards. In addition, unfamiliarity with IFRS as published by the IASB
may have an adverse effect on inveétors’ confidence in what they would be investing in
and thus lead them to insist on a risk premiurri for an investnient in the company.

Thé proposed. amendments also would entail some costs to investors. If an issuer
provides IFRS financial statements without reconciliation as pérmitted under the

proposed amendments, investors would not have the benefit of the reconciling

~ information that previously would have been available to them as they evaluate the

financial performance of that issuer. The usefulness of this information may depend on
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the naturg of the investor and other consideratiohs, as discussed below. Also, to the
extent that an investor is not accustomed to working with IFRS finanéial statements, that
inyestor also may be required to dedicate more time and resources to gaining familiarity
with IFRS and financial statements prepared using them.

| Based in part on comments we received from participants at the Commissioﬁ’s
IFRS roundtable held in March 2007, however, we believe that some investors are
familiar with IFRS as a basis of accounting and therefore may make limited use of the.
- reconciliation from IFRS to U.S. GAAP. However, because various investors may be
differently situated in the market and have varying levels of familiarity with IFRS - for |
example, institutional investors may be more familiar with IFRS than retail investors - |
they may not all béar the cost from the proposed amendmen’;s equally. We are aware that
' invest_orfamiliarity ‘with IFRS and the use that a particular investor may make of the
reconciliation will depend on many factors. We believe that these factors may iﬁclude,
émong othér things, the size and nature of the investor, the size of the investment, the size
of the issuer, the industry to which the issuer in question belongs. We also believe that
the costs to investors of working without the reconciliation would be reduced over time
as the use of IFRS as published by the IASB becomes even more widespread and
investors gain increasihg familiarity in working with IFRS financial sfatements.

Given these considerations, in this proposal we are ‘soliciting comment on how

familiar inveétors are with IFRS, the use they make of the U.S. GAAP recqnciliation of
IFRS financial statements, and how their ability to assess and compare investment

~opportunities would be impacted by the proposed amendment to permit the filing of
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financial statements prepared using IFRS as published by the IASB without

reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.. Sy

Questions
47. _

48,

49,

Do you agree with our assessment of the costs and benefits as discussed in this
section? Are there costs or benefits that we have not considered? Are you
aware of data and/or estimation techniques fbr attempting to quantify these
costs and/or benefits? If so, what are they and how might the information be '.
obtained?

Which foreign private issuers would have the incentive to avail themselves of

-the proposed amendments, if adopted? Are there any reasons for which an

issuer that is eligible to file IFRS financial statements without reconéiliation
under the proposed amendménts would elect to file a reconciliation? If so,
what are they?

Are there particular industry sectors for which a critical mass of the issuers
who raise capital globally already report in IFRS? If so, which industries are

they and why?

VII. REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ACT CERTIFICATION

The Commission hereby certifies pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 605(b), that the

vamendiments to Form 20-F under the Exchange Act, Forms F-4 and S-4 and Rule 701

under the Securities Act and Regulation S-X contained in this release, if adopted, would

not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities. The

proposal would amend Form 20-F, Form F-4, Form S-4, Rule 701 and Regulation S-X to

allow foreign private issuers that use as their basis of accounting IFRS as published by
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the IASB to file their financial statements without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP as
described under Items 17 and 18 of Form 20-F.b B.ased on an analysis of the language and
legislative hiétory of the Act, Congress does not appear to have intended the Regulatory
Flekibility Act to apply to foreign issuers. For this reason, the proposed amendment
should not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.
‘We solicit written comments regarding this certification. We reqﬁest that
commenters descriBe the nature of any impact oﬁ small entities and provide empirical
_ dafa to supporf the extent of the iﬁlpact.
VIII. CONSIDERATION OF IMPACT ON THE ECONOMY, BURDEN ON
COMPETITION AND PROMOTION OF EFFICIENCY, COMPETITION
AND CAPITAL FORMATION ANALYSIS '
For purposes of the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Faimess Act of 1996
("SBREFA"),"”* we solicit data to determine whether the proposals constitute a "major"
rule. Under SBREFA, a rule is considered "major" where, if adopted, it results or is
iikely to result in:
* an annual effect on the economy of $100 million or more (either in the form of an
increase ora decrease);
e amajor increase in costs or prices for consumers or individual industries; or
o significant adverse effects on competition; investment or innovation.
We ;equest comment on the potential impact of the proposals on the economy on

an annual basis. Commenters are requested to provide empirical data and other factual

support for their views if possible.

138 Pyb. L. No. 104-121, Title II, 110 Stat. 857 (1996) (codified in various sectlons of 5
US.C., 15USC andasanotetoSUSC 601). '
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Section 2(b) of the Securities Act'*® and Section 3(f) of the Exchange Act'*

require us, when engaging in rulemaking that requires us to consider or determine

‘whether an action is hecessary or appropriate in the public interest, to consider whether

the action will prorhote efficiency, competition, and capital formation. When adopting
rules under the Exchange Act, Section 23(2)(2) of the Exchange Act'! requires us to

consider the impact that any new rule would have on competition. In addition, Section -

* 23(a)(2) prohibits us from adopting any rule that would impose a burden on competition

not necessary or appropriéte in furtherance of the purposes of the Exchange Act.

The purpose of the proposed amendments to Form 20-F under the Exchange Act,

" Forms F-4 and S-4 and Rule 701 under the Securities Act, and Regulation S-X is to allow

foreign private issuers that use as their basis of accounting IFRS as published by the
IASB to include those financial statements in their annual reports and registration

statements filed with the Commission without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. This

proposal is designed to increase efficiency, competition and capital formation by helping

to move towards a single set of globally accepted accounting standards, as well as by
alleviating the burden and cost that eligible companies would face if required to prepare a
U.S. GAAP reconciliation for inclusion in annual reborts and registration statements filed
with us. Due to the cost to issuers of preparing the reconciliation to U.S. GAAP from

IFRS, we believe that the proposed amendment would be likely to promote efficiency by

13915 U.S.C. 77b(b).

1015 U.8.C. 78¢(D).
1115 U.S.C. 78w(a)(2).
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eliminating financial disclosure that is costly to produce. We believe that investors
would have adequate information on which to base their investment decisions and that
capital may be allocated on a more efficient basis.

The proposed amendments are expected to facilitate capital formation by foreign

. companies in the U.S. capital markets by reducing regulatory compliance burdens for

foreign private .issuers that rely on the proposed amendments. Reduced compliance
burdens are expected to lower the cost of preparing disclosure for.purposes of raising
.capitél in the United States for those issuers.

The proposed amendments also may have other impacts on efﬁciehcy and capital
formation, which may not b¢ felt equally by all market participants. For example, the
amendments may have a more favorable competitive impact on foreign private issuers
from jurisdictions in Which the use of IFRS is already required or permitted. Issuers from
such jurisdictions may belable to benefit from the amendments more quickly than issuers
fr-om‘ jurisdictions that do not permit the use of IFRS. Also, some fé_rei'gn private issuers
may beb concerned about the public perception costs of not including a U.S. GAAP
reconciliation, particularly if they compete for capital with other foreign companies that

provide a reconciliation or that prepare financial statements that comply with U.S.

- GAAP.

| - The proposed amendments also may have effects on efficiency and capital
formationvto the extent that investors need to increase their familiarity with IFRS in order
to compare investment opportunities without reference to a U.S. GAAP reconciliation. If
investors prefer the information provided in a U.S. GAAP recbnciliation, a foreign

private issuer that uses IFRS as published by the IASB without reconciliation may face
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adverse competitive effects in the capital markets. For example, investor unfamiliarity |
with IFRS may adversely affect investor confidence in issuers that.prepare IFRS financial
state;hents without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. This may lead investors to insiston a,
risk premium in those companies, which would affect their competitiveness in the capitaI
' markets. Also, if investors must incur costs in order to understand IFRS financial
statements without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation, there méy be an incentive for
inteﬁnediary parties to provide U.S. GAAP _recoriciliaﬁon services. |
We solicit comment on whether the proposed rules would impose a burden on |
competition or whether they woﬁld prombte efficiency, competition and capital
forrﬁation. For example, would the proposals have an adverse effect on competition that -
is neither necessary nor appropriate in furtherance of the purposes of the Exchange Act?
‘Would the proposalé 'creéte an adverse competiti\lfe effect on U.S. issuers or on foreign
issuers that are not in 'a i)osition to rely immediately on the accommodation? Would the
proposed amendments, if adopted, promote efficiency, competition and capital
formation?b Commenters are requested t§ provide empirical data and other factual
support for their views if possible. |
IX. STATUTORY BASIS AND TEXT OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
 We propose the amendment to Exchange Act Form 20-F pursuant to Sections 6,
7, 10, and 19 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amendéd, and Sections 3, 12, 13, 15,.23
and 36 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Text of Proposed Amendments
List of Subj écts

17 CFR Parts 210, 230, 239 and 249
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Accounting, Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Securities.

In accordance with the foregoing, the Commission proposes to amend Title 17,
Chapter II of the Code of Federal Regulations as follows:
PART 210 - FORM AND CONTENT OF AND REQUIREMENTS FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF
1935, INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AND ENERGY POLICY AND
CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975 '

1. The authority citation for Part 210 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77f, 77g, 77h, 77j, 77s, 772-2, 77z-3, 77aa(25), 77aa(26),

78c, 78j-1, 781, 78m, 78n, 780(d), 78q, 78u-5, 78w(a), 7811, 78mm, 80a-8, 80a-20, 805—

29, 80a-30, 80a-31, 80a-37(a), 80b-3, 80b-11, 7202 and 7262, unless otherwise noted.

2. Section 210.3-10 is ‘amended by:
a. ‘Revising the introductory text of paragraph (i), and
b. Revising paragraph (i)(12). |
The revisions read as follows.

§210.3-10  Financial statements of guarantors and issuers of guaranteed securities -
registered or being registered. '

% ok k Xk Xk

(1) Instructions for preparation of condensed consolidating financial
information required by paragraphs (c). (d). () and (f) of this section.

%k ok ok Kk

(12)  Where the parent company’s consolidated financial statements are-

prepared on a comprehensive basis other than U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles or the English language version of International Financial Reporting Standards

as published by the International Accounting Standards Board, reconcile the infbrmation
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in each column to US Generally Accepted Acc’ounﬁng Principles to the extent necessary
to allow investors to evaluate the sufficiency of the guarantees. The reconciliation may
be limited td the information speciﬁed by Item 17 of Form 20-F (§ 249.220f of this
chapter). The reconciling information need not duplicate vinformation. included elsewhere
in the reconciliation of the consolidated financial statements.
* %k % k %

3. Amend §210.4-01 by revising paragraph (a)(2) to read as follows:
§210.4-01 | Form, order and termino_logy.
(a) * *k ¥k
(2) - Inall filings of foreign private issuers (see § 230.405 of this chapter), except as
stated otherwise in the applicébie form, the financial statements may be prepared

according to a comprehensive set of accounting principles, other than those generally

accepted in the United States or the English language version of International Financial

Reporting Standards as published by the International Accounting Standards Board, if a

reconciliation to United States generally accepted accounting principles and the

provisions of Regulation S-X of the type specified in Item 18 of Form 20-F (§ 249.220f

of this chapter) is also filed as part of the financial statements. Alternatively, the

financial statements may be prepared according to United States generally accepted

accounting principles or the English language version of International Financial

Reporting Standards as published by the International Accounting Standards Board.

* % ok ok %

PART 230 - GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS, SECURITIES ACT OF

1933

4. The authority citation for Part 230 continues to read as follows:
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Authorityv: 15U.8.C. 770, 77¢, 77d, 771, 77g, 77h, 77j, 77, 77s, 77z-3, 77sss,
78c, 78d, 78j, 781, 78m, 78r;, 780, 78t, 78w, 7811(d), 78mm, 80a-8, 80a-24, 80a—28; 80a-
.29, 80a-30, and 80a-37, unless otherwise noted.

5. Amend §230.701 by revising the introdﬁctory text of paragraph (e) and

revising paragraph (e)(4) to read as follows:

. §230.701 Exemption for offers and sales of securities pursuant to certain

compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation.

% ok % k ¥

€. Disclosure that must be provided. The issuer must deliver to investors a

. copy of the compensatory benefit plan or the contract, as applicable. In addition, if the

aggregate sales price or amount of securities sold during any consecutive 12-month
period exceeds $5 million, the issuer must deliver the following disclosure to investors a
reasonable peridd of ﬁme before the date of sale:

* % % %k *.

4 F inanéial statements réquired to be furnished by Part F/S of Form 1-A
(Regulation A Offeﬁhg Statement) (§ 239.90 of this chapter) under Regulation A (§§
230.251 —-230.263). Foreign private issuers as defined in Rule 405 must provide a
reconciliation to generally accep£ed accounting principles in the United States (US.
GAAP) if their financial statements are not prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or
the English 1anguage version of IFRS as published by the IASB (Item 17 of Form 20-F (§
249.220f of this chapter)). The financial statements required by this seétion must be as of

a date no more than 180 days before the sale of securities in reliance on this exemption.

T EER

PART 239 — FORMS PRESCRIBED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
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. 6. The general authority citation for part 239 is revised to read as follows:
| Authority: 15 U.S.C. 771, 77g, 77h, 77}, 77s, 772-2, 772-3, 77sss, 78c, 78], 78m,
a 78n, 780, 78u-5, 78w, 7‘811(d), 78mm, 80a-2(a), 80a-3, 80a-8, 80a-9, 80a-10, 80a-13, 80a-.
24, 80a-26, 80a-29, 80a-30,‘and 80a-37, unlgss otherwise' noted.
7. Amend Form F-4 (referenced in §239.34) by:
a. Revising Item 10(c)(2);
. b. Revising Item 10(c)(3);
“¢. Revising Item 12(b)(2)(iii);
d. Revising the Instruction to Item 17(b)(5) and (b)(6).
The revisions read as follows. |
Note: The text of Form F-4 does not and this amendment will not appear in the
‘ Code of Federal Regulations.
| FORM F-4
EEEEX:
Item 10. Information With Réspett to F-3 Companies.
% %k %k %k %k
(C) H*r**x

('1) ¥ kK K K

(2)  Restated financial statements prepared in accordance with or, if prepared using a

basis of accounting other than the English language version of IFRS as published By the
IASB, reconciled to U.S. GAAP and Regulation S-X if there has been a change in

accounting principles or a correction of an error where such change or correction requires

. . amaterial retroactive restatement of financial statements;
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3) Restated financial statements prepared in accordance with or, if prepared using a

basis of a'ccdunting other than the English language version of IFRS as published by the

IASB, reconcﬂed to U.S. GAAP and Regulationl S-X where one or more business
combinations accoﬁnted for 'by the pooling of interest method of accounting have been
consuxﬁmated subsequent to the most recent fiscal year and the acéuired businesses,
considered in the éggregate, are significant pursuant to Rule 11-01(b) of Regulation S-X
(§210.11-01(b) of this chapter); or

¥ %k ok ok ok

Item 12. Information With Respect to F-3 Registrants.

k. %k Kk ok k

(b) * ok ok ok k
) * k & k *

(iii)  Restated financial statements prepared in accordance with or, if prepared using a

_ basis of accounting other than the English language version of IFRS as published by the

IASB, reconciled to U.S. GAAP and Regulation S-X if there has been a change in
accounting principles or a correction of an error where such change or correction requires
a material retroactive restatement of financial statements;

(iv)  Restated financial statements prepared in accordance with or, if prepared using a

basis of accounting other than the English language version of IFRS as published by the

IASB, reconciled to U.S. GAAP and Regulation S-X where one or more business
combinations accounted for by the pobliﬁg of interest method of accounting have been

consummated subsequent to the most recent fiscal year and the acquired businesses,
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considered in the aggregate, are significant pursuant to Rule 11-01(b) of Regulation S-X;
and
% k kK %

Item 17. Information With Respect to Foreign Companies Other Than F-3
Companies.

* % K k %

Instructions to paragraph (b)(5) and (b)(6): If the financial statements required _

by paragraphs (b)(5) and (b)(6) are prepared on the basis of a comprehensive body of

accounting principles other than U.S. GAAP or the English language version of IFRS as

published by the IASB, provide a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP in accordance with Item

17 of Form 20-F (§249.220f of this chapter) unless a reconciliation is unavailable or not
obtainable without‘unreasonable.cost or expense. At a minimum, provide a narrative
description of all material variationé in accounting pﬁnciples, practices and methods. used
in preparing the non-U.S. GAAP financial statements from those accepted in ‘the U.S.

when the financial statements are prepared on a basis other than U.S. GAAP.

* %k ok k

8. Amend Form S-4 (referenced in §239.34) by revising the instruction to Item
17 to read as follows:

Note: The text of Form S-4 does not and this amendment will not appear in the
Code of Federal Regulations.

FORM S-4

sk %k sk ok Xk

' Item 17. Information with Respect to Companies other than S-3 Companies.
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* % k k ok

Instructions:

1.

2.

% % % k k

* % k * %k

If the financial statements required by this paragraph are prepared on the

basis of a comprehensive body of accounting principles other than U.S.

GAAP or the English language version of IFRS as published by the JASB,

provide a reconciliation to. U.S. GAAP in accordance with Item 17 of

Form 20-F (§249.220f of this chapter) unless a reconciliation is

unavailable or not obtainable without unreasonable cost or expense. At a

minimum, provide a narrative description of all material variations in

accounting principles, practices and methods used in preparing the non-

US GAAP financial statements from thbse accepted in the U.S. when the

financial statements are prepared on a basis other than U.S. GAAP.

PART 249 —- FORMS, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

9. The authority citation continues to read, in part, as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 78a et seq., 7202, 7233, 7241, 7262, 7264, and 7265; and

18 U.S.C. 1350, unless otherwise noted.

% Xk k k %k

10. Amend Form 20-F (referenced in § 249.220f) as follows:

a. Add a check box to the cover page indicating the basis of accounting used to

prepare the financial statements;
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Revise the check box on the cover page indicating whether Item 17 or Item 18

Revise the cover page to require contact information for the issuer;
Revise General Instruction G(d),

Revise General Instruction G(e);

Revise General Instruction .G(D(Z)(B)(ii);

Revise Generél. Instruction G(f)(2)(B)(iii);

Revise General Instruction G(h)(2);

Revise Instruction 2.b to General Instruction G(h);

Revise Item 3.A, Instruction 2; |

Add an Instruc_tion to Item 5;

Revise Item 8.A.5, Instruction 2;

Revise Item 8.A.5, Instruction 3;

Add an Instruction to Item 1 1;

Revise Item 17(c);

Remove Item 17(c)(2)(iv)(B);

Rémove Item 17(c)(2)(iv)(C);

Add text at the end ofItein 17.(c)(2)(v); '
Ad_d text at thé end of Item 17(c)(2)(vi);
Remove Item 17(c)(2)(viii);

Remove Item 17, Instruction 6;

Revise Item 18(b).
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Note: The text of Form 20-F does not, and this amendment will not, appear in the

Code of Federal Regulations.

FORM 20-F

h ok ok k

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)
(Translation of Registrant’s name into English)
(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Name, Telephone and Address of Company Contact Person)

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer . Non-acceléra‘ted filer

Indicate by check which basis of accdunting the registrant has used to prepafe the
- financial statements included in this filing:
U.S. GAAP. ... ... Intermnational Financial Reporting Standards as published by the
International Accounting Standards Board (in Engiish) ....... Other.......
If “Other” has been checked ip response to the previous question, indicate by

check mark which financial statement item the registrant has elected to follow.

Item17....... Item18...... p
* % k ¥ k

' GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
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G. First-Time Application of International Financial Reporting Standards

¥ k k k Kk

(b) Applicable Documents. This General Instruction shall be available only for |

the following registration statements and annual reports:

(1) Registration Statements. This instruction shall be available for registration

statements if:

(A) the issuer’s most recent audited financial statements required by Item 8.A.2

are for the 2012 financial year or an earlier financial year;

% %k %k k 3k

(2) Annual Reports. This instruction shall be available for annual reports if:

(A) the annual report relates to the 2012 financial year or an earlier financial year;

% %k k 3k %

(d) Information on the Compaﬁv. The reference in Item 4.B to the “body of
accounting principles used in preparing the financial statements,” means IFRS and not

the basis of accounting that was previously used (“Previous GAAP”) or accounting

principles used only to prepare a U.S. GAAP reconciliation.

(e) Operating and Financial Review and Prospects. The issuer shall present the

information provided pursuant to Item 5. The discussion should focus on the financial

- statements for the two most recent financial years prepared in accordance with IFRS.
‘No part of the discussion should relate to financial statements prepared in accordance

with Previous GAAP.

" (f) Financial Information.
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@B)q) *****

(i1)) Two financial years of audited financial statements and interim financial

_statements (which m'ay be unaudited) for the current and comparable prior year period,

prepared in accordance With IFRS;

(iif) Three financial years of audited financial statements prepared in accordance
with Previous GAAP and reconciled to U.S. GAAP as required by Item 17(c) or 18, as
applicable; interim statementsv (which may be unaudited) for the current and comparable
prior year period preparéd in accordance with IFRS; é.nd condensed financial information
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP for the mogt recent financial year and the
current and comparable brior year interim périod (the form and content of this‘ financial
information shall be in a level of detaii substantially similar to that required by Article 10
of Regulation S-X. |

* ok k ok Kk

(h) Financial Statements.

* %k k ok %

(2) U.S. GAAP Information. The U.S. GAAP reconciliation referenced»in Item

17(c) or 18 shall not be required for periods presented in accordance with the English

language version of IFRS as published by the IASB.

Instructions:
* k ok k k
b.  Present or incorporate by reference operating and financial review and

rospects information pursuant to Item 5 that focuses on the financial statements for the
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. two most recent financial vears prior to the most recent financial vear that were prepared

in accordance with Previous GAAP. The discussion should not refer to a reconciliation

to U.S. GAAP. No part of the discussion should relate to financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRS.

% ¥ %k %k k

Item 3. Key Information

% %k k ¥ %

Instructions to Item 3.A:

% ¥ %k k %k

2. You may present the selected financial data on the basis of the accounting

principles used in your primary financial statements. If you use a basis of accounting

‘ other than the»English language version of IFRS as published by the IASB (“IFRS™),

however, vou also must include in this summary any reconciliations of the data to U.S.

generally accepted accounting principles and Regulation S-X, pursuant to Item 17 or 18

of this Form. For financial statements prepared using a basis of accounting other than

IFRS, vou only have to provide selected ﬁnancibal data on a basis reconciled to U.S.

generally accepted accounting principles for (i) those periods for which you were

reguired to reconcile the primary annual financial statements in a filing under the

Securities Act or the Exchange Act, and (ii) any in_t_erim periods.

* %k %k 3k X

Item S. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

* ok ok k k

‘ » Inétructions to Item 5:
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5. Issuers preparing their financial statements in accordance with the

'English language version of IFRS as published by the IASB (“IFRS”) should, in

providing information in response to paragraphs of this Item 5 that refer to specific -

'provisions of U.S. GAAP, refer to appropriate provisions of IFRS that contain the

definitional principles embodied in the referenced U.S. GAAP items. In responding to

this Item 5, issuers need not repeat information contained in financial statements prepared

in accordance with IFRS.

k k Kk k ¥k

Item 8. Financial Information

* ok % ok ok

Instructions to Item 8.A.5:

* % kok ok

3ok Kk kK

A registrant using the English language version of IFRS as published by-the JASB

-as its basis of accounting is not required to provide the information described in

paragraphs 3(a) and (b) to this Instruction to Item 8.A.5.

* k k k *k

'I_tem 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

% % k k *k

Instruction:  Issuers preparing their financial statements in accordance with the

English languagé version of IFRS as published by the JASB should, in providing

information in response to paragraphs of this Item that refer to specific provisions of U.S.
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GAAP, follow the appropriate provisions of IFRS that contain the principles embodied in

the referenced U.S. GAAP items. In responding to this Item, issuers need not repeat

information contained in financial statements prepared in accordance with the English

language version of IFRS as published by the IASB.

S EEERE

Item 17. Financial Statements
* %k ok ok
(c):  The financial staterﬁents and schedules required by paragraph (a) above
may be pfepared according to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or the .-
- English language version of IFRS as published by the IASB. If the financial statements
“comply with the English language version of IFRS ‘as published by the IASB, (1) it must
be clearly stated in the notes to the financial statements and (ii) the auditor’s fepOrt must
include an opinion on whether the financial statements comply with the English language
version of IFRS as published by the IASB. If the notes and auditor’s report of an issuer
do not contain thé information in the preceding sentence, then the U..S. GAAP
reconciliation information described in‘ péragraphs (c)(1) and (c)(2) mﬁst be provided.
Alternatively, such financial statements and schedules may be prepared according to a
comprehensive body of accounting principles other than those génerally accepted in the
United States orvthe English language version of IFRS as published by the IASB if the
following are disclosed: |
* ok ok ok ok
_ (c)(2)(§): * * * Issuers that prepare financial statements using the English

language version of IFRS as published by the IASB that are furhished pursuant to §
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210.3.05 may omit the disclosures specified by paragraphs (c)(2)(i), (c)(2)(ii), and
(c)(é)(iii) of this Item regardless of the size of the business acquired or to be ac‘quiréd.
(c)(2)(vi):  * ** Issuers that prepare financial statements using the English
langﬁage version of IFRS as published by_ the IASB that are furnished pursuant to §
210.3.09 may omit the disclbsures specified by .paragraph's (©)(2)(), (c)(2)(ii), and
(c)(2)(iii) of this Item regardless of the size of the investee.
(é)(2)(§ii): FRAE

Instructions to Item 17(C)(2):

* ok ok ok K

Item 18. Financial Statements

¥ K K k¥

(b) If the financial statements are prepared using a basis of accounting other than

the English language version of IFRS as published by the IASB, all other information

" required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and Regulation S-X unless
such requirements specifically do not apply to the registrant as a foreign issuer.
However, information may be omitted (i) for any period in which net income has not
been presented on a basis reconciled to United States generally accepted accounting
principles, or (ii) if the financial statements are furnished pursuant to § 210-3-05 or less-
than-majority owned investee pursuant to § 210-3 -09 of this chapter.

Instructions to Jtem 18:

1. All of the instructions to Item 17 also apply to this Item, except

Instruction 3 to Item 17, which does not apply.
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. v 2. An issuer that is required to provide disclosure under FASB, Statement of
Accounting Standards No. 69, “Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities,”
shall do so regardless of the basis of accounting on which it prepares its financial

_ statements.

k 3k k Kk ok

- By the Commission.

| ﬁj S &?/WZ ;W

Nancy M. Morris
Secretary

‘ Dated: July 2, 2007
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
(Release No. 34-55997; File No. PCAOB-2007-01)

July 2, 2007
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board; Notice of Filing and Immediate
Effectiveness of Proposed Rule Change Adjusting Implementation Schedule of Rule

3523, Tax Services for Persons in Financial Reporting Oversight Roles

Pursuant to Section 107(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the ,"Acf"), notice
is hereby given that on April 3, 2007, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(the "Board" or the "PCAOB") filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
"SEC" or "Commission") the proposed rule change described in Items I and II below,
which items have been prepared by the Board. The PCAOB has designated the
propbsed rule change as "constituting a stated policy, practice, or interpretation with
respect to the meaning, administration, or enforcement of an existing rule" under
Section 19(b)(3)(A)(i) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as incorporated, by
reference, into Section 107(b)(4) of the Act), which renders the proposal effective upon
receipt_of this filing by the Commission. The Commission is publishing this notice to
solicit comments on the proposed rule from interested persons.

L Board's Statement of the Terms of Substance of the Proposed Rule

The PCAOB is filing with the SEC an adjustment of the implementation schedule
~for Rule 3523, Tax Services for Persons in Financial Reporting Oversight Roles.
Specifically the Board will not apply Rule 3523 to tax services provided on or before July

31, 2007, when those services are'provided during the audit period and are completed

. bdw &ofgc!



before the professional engagement period begins. The PCAOB is not proposing any
textual changes to the Rules of the PCAOB.
IL Board's Statement of the Purpose of, and Statutory Basis for, the Proposed

Rule

In its filing with the Commission, the Board included statements concerning the
purpose of, and basis for, the proposed rule and discussed any comments it received
on the proposed rule. The text of these statements may be examined at the places
specified in Item IV below. The Board has prepared summaries, set forth in sections A,
B, and C below, of the most significant aspects of such statements.
A. Board's Statement of the Purpose Of, and Statutory Basis for, the

Proposed Rule

(a) Purpose

On July 26, 20035, the Board adopted certain rules related to registéred public
accounting firms' provision of tax services to public company audit clients. The rules
were designed to address certain concerns related to auditor independence when
auditors sell personal tax services to individuals who play a direct role in preparing the
financial statements of public company audit clients or market or otherwise opine in
favor of aggressive'tax shelter schemes. As part of this rulemaking, the Board adopted
Rule 3523, which provides that a registe_red firm, subject to certain exceptions, is not
independent of an audit client if the firm, or an affiliate of the firm, provides tax services

during the audit and professional engagement period® to a person in, or an immediate

L Consistent with the SEC's independence rules, 17 CFR § 210.2-01(f)(5), the phrase "audit and
professional engagement period" is defined to include two discrete periods of time. The "audit period” is
the period covered by any financial statements being audited or reviewed. Rule 3501(a)(iii)(1). The
"professional engagement period" is the period beginning when the accounting firm either signs the initial

2



family member of a person in, a financial reporting oversight role at an audit client. Rule

3523 was approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on April 19,

2006.

On October 31, 2006, thé Board adjusted the implementation schedule for Rule
3523, as it appiies to tax services provided during the period subject to audit but before
the professional engagement period, so that the Board could revisit this aspect of the
rule.2 On April 3, 2007, the Board issued a concept release to solicit comment on the
possible effects on a firm's independence nf providing tax services to a person covered
by Rule 3523 during the portion of the audit period that precedes the beginning of the
professional engagement period, and other practical consequences of applying the
restrictions imposed by Rule 3523 to that nonion of the audit period. The Board has
determined to further adjust the implementation schedulé for Rule 3523 in order to allow

sufficient time for consideration of commenters' views. Specifically, the Board will not

| apply Rule 3523 to tax services provided on or before July 31, 2007, when those

services are provided during the audit period and are completed before the professional
engagement period begins.

No other aspect of the Board's rules on independence and tax services is
affected by this extension. As of November 1, 2006, registered firms have been
required to comply with Rule 3523 as it relates to tax services provided while they serve

as auditor of record for an audit client ~ that is, during the "professional engagement

engagement letter or begins audit procedures and ends when the audit client or the accounting firm notifies

the SEC that the client is no longer that firm's audit client. Rule 3501(a)(iii)(2).

2 See PCAOB Release No. 2006-006 (October 31, 2006), at 2. Specifically, the Board stated that

Rule 3523 will not apply to tax services provided on or before April 30, 2007, when those services are
provided during the audit period and are completed before the professional engagement period begins.



period." In addition, with one exception, all other PCAOB rules concerning
independence, tax services, and contingent fees that were adopted by the Board on
July 26, 2005 and approved by the SEC on April 19, 2006 are now in effect 2

(b) Statutory Basis |

The statutory basis for the proposed rule change is Title I of the Act.
B. Board's Statement on Burden on Competition

The Board does not believe that the proposed rule change will result in any
burden on competitiop that is not necessary or appropriate in furtherance of the
purposes of the Act.
C. Board's Statement onConiments on the Proposed Rule Received

from Members, Participants or Others

The Board did not solicit or receiye written comments on the proposed rule
change.
L. Datg of Effectiveness of the Proposed Rule and Timing for Commission

Action |

The foregoing rule change has become effective pursuant to Section 19(b)(3)(A)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as incorporated, by reference, into Section
107(b)(4) of the Act) and paragraph (f) of Rule 19b-4 thereunder. At any time within 60
days of the filing of the proposed rule change, the Commission may summarily abrogate
such rule change if it appears to the Commission that such action is necessary or

appropriate in the public interest, for the protection of investors, or otherwise in

2 With respect to tax services provided to audit clients whose audit committees pre-approve tax

services pursuant to policies and procedures, Rule 3524 will not apply to any such tax service that is begun
by April 20, 2007. See PCAOB Release No. 2006-001 (March 28, 2006), at 2-3, PCAOB Release No.
2005-020 (November 22, 2005) at 2-3, and PCAOB Release No. 2005-14 (July 26, 2005) at 47-48.



furtherance of the purposes of the Act. .

IV.  Solicitation of Comments

Interested persons are invited to submit written data, views, and arguments
concerning the foregoing, including whether the proposed rule is consistent with the
requirements of Title I of the Act. Comments may be submitted by any of the following
methods:

Electronic comments:
e Use the Commission's Internet comment form

(htto://www.sec.gov/rules/pcacb.shtml): or

e Send an e-mail to rule-comments{sec.gov. Please include File Number PCAOB-

2007-01 on the subject line.

Paper comments:
o Send paper comments in triplicate to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Securities and

Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090.
All submissions should refer to File Number PCAOB-2007-01. This file number should
be included on the subject line if e-mail is used. To help the Commission process and
review your comments more efficiently, please use only one method. The Commission
will post all comments on the Commission’s Internet Web site

(http://www.sec.gov/rules/pcaob.shtml). Copies of the submission, all subsequent

amendments, all written statements with respect to the proposed rule change that are filed
with the Commission, and all written communications relating to the proposed rule
change between the Commission and any person, other than those that may be withheld

from the public in accordance with the provisions of 5 U.S.C. 552, will be available for



inspection and copying in the Commission’s Public Reference Room. Copies of such
filing also will be available for inspection and copying at the principal office of the
PCAOB. All comments received will be posted without change; we do not edit personal
identifying information from submissions. You éhould submit only information that you
wish to make available publicly. All submissions should refer to File Number PCAOB-
2007-01 and should be submitted on or before [insert date 21 days from pilblication in

.vv‘ Ro
the Federal Register]. / &)"M W

By the Commission.

Nancy M. Morris
Secretary '



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Rel. No. 56012 / July 5, 2007

Admin. Proc. File No. 3-12288

In the Matter of

DAVID HENRY DISRAELI
and
LIFEPLAN ASSOCIATES, INC.

ORDER GRANTING PARTIAL PROTECTIVE ORDER

On May 25, 2007, David Henry Disraeli submitted personal financial information to the
Commission and requested a protective order limiting disclosure of this information under Rule of
Practice 322. 1/ Under Rule 322, any party "may file a motion requesting a protective order to
limit from disclosure to other parties or to the public documents or testimony that contain
confidential information." 2/ "A motion for a protective order shall be granted only upon a
finding that the harm resulting from disclosure would outweigh the benefits of disclosure." 3/ The
Division of Enforcement has not opposed Disraeli's request for a protective order.

The Commission recognizes that the documents Disraeli submitted contain sensitive
information. At this stage in the proceeding, we believe that the harm resulting from complete
disclosure outweighs the benefits. However, we have determined that disclosure of certain
information included in the documents will be necessary to the resolution of the issues before us.

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that:
1. Except as otherwise provided in this Order, the documents Disraeli prdvided shall be

disclosed only to the parties to this action, their counsel, the Commission, any staff advising the
Commission in its deliberative processes with respect to this proceeding, and in the event of an

1/ 17 CF.R. § 201.322.
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appeal of the Commission's determination, any staff acting for the Commission in connection
with that appeal.

2. All persons who receive access to these documents or the information contained in
these documents shall keep them confidential and, except as provided in this Order, shall not
divulge the documents or information to any person.

3. No person to whom the documents or information covered by this Order is disclosed
shall make any copies or otherwise use such documents or information, except in connection
with this proceeding or any appeal thereof.

4. The Office of the Secretary shall place the documents in sealed envelopes or other
sealed containers marked with the title of this action, identifying each document and marked
"CONFIDENTIAL."

5. The requirements of sealing and confidentiality shall not apply to any reference to the
existence of the documents or to citation of particular information contained therein in testimony,
oral argument, briefs, opinions, or in any other similar use directly connected with this action or
any appeal thereof. '

6. The Commission expressly reserves the authority to reach a different conclusion
regarding the confidentiality of the documents or information covered by this Order at any time

before it determines the issues raised in the proceeding.

By the Commission.

Nancy M. Morris
Secretary

-~ By: J. Lynn Teylor
~ Assistant Secretary



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

17 CFR Part 240 o ot

[Release No. 34-56010; International Series Release No. 1303;

File No. S7-14-07]

RIN 3235-AJ91

EXEMPTION OF COMPENSATORY EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS FROM
REGISTRATION UNDER SECTION 12(g) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

AGENCY: Securities and Exchange Commission.

ACTION:  Proposed rule.

SUMMARY: The Commission is proposing two exemptions from the registration
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for compensatory employee stock
options. The first exemption would be available to issuers that are not réquired to file
periodic reports under the Exchange .Act. The proposed gxemption would apply only to
the issuer’s compensatory employee stock options and would not extend to the class of
securities underlying those options. The second exemption would be available to issuers
that are required to file those reports because they have registered under Exchange Act
Section 12 the class of securities underlying the compensatory employee st'ock options.
DATES: Comments must be received on or before [insert date 60 days after publication
in the Federal Register].

ADDRESSES: Comments may be submitted by any of the following methods:

Electronic Comments:

« Use the Commission’s Internet comment form

(http://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed.shtml); or
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* Send an e-mail to rule-comments@sec.gov. Please include File Number S7-14-07 on

the subject line; or

« Use the Federal eRulemaking Portal (http://www.regulations.gov). F 6llow the

instructions for submitting comments.

Paper Comments:

« Send paper comments in triplicate to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Secuﬁties and
Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090.

All submissions should refer to File Number S7-14-07. 'fhis file numbe; should be
included on the subject line if e-mail is used. To help us process and review your
comments more efficiently, please use only one method. The Commission will post all
comments on the Commission’s Internet Web site

http://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed.shtml. Comments also are available for public

inspection and copying in the Commission’s Public Reference Room, 100 F Street, NE, -
Washington, DC 20549. All comments received will be posted without change; we do
not edit persoﬁal identifying informétion from submissions. You should submit only
information that you wish to make available publicly.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Amy M. Starr, Senior Special
Counsel to the Director, at (202) 551-3115, Division of Corporation Finance, U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: We are proposing amendments to rule 12h-1"

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.%

! 17 CFR 240.12h-1.

z 15U.S.C. 78a et. seq.



L INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
A. Introduction

In the 1980s, private, non-reporting issuers began using compensatory employee
stock options® to compensate a broader range of employées, including execuﬁve, middle,
and lower-level employees, directors, and consultants.* Compensatory employee stock
options provide a method to use non-cash compensation to attract, retain, and motivate
company employees, directors, and consultants.” Since the 1990s, a number of private,
non-reporting issuers have granted compensatory employee stock options to 500 or more

employees, directors, and consultants.®

o Throughout this release, we use the term “compensatory employee stock options™ to refer to stock
options issued to employees, directors, consultants, and advisors (to the extent permitted under
Securities Act Rule 701 [17 CFR 230.701}).

4 The National Center for Employee Ownership surveyed 275 venture capital-backed private
businesses in the technology and telecommunications businesses. Of these firms, 77% provided
options to all employees while 23% provided them to only select employees. “New Data Show
Venture-Backed Companies Still Issue Options Broadly,”
http://www.nceo.org/library/option venturebacked.html; See also J. Hand, 2005 “Give Everyone
a Prize? Employee Stock Options in Private Venture-Backed Firms,” Working Paper, Kenan-
Flagler Business School, UNC Chapel Hill, available at http://ssrn.com/abstracts=599904 (“Hand
Paper”) (study investigating the impacts on the equity values of private venture-backed firms of
the organizational depth to which they grant employee stock options).

Rule 701, which provides an exemption from Securities Act registration for non-reporting issuers
for offerings of securities to employees, directors, consultants and advisors, and specified others,
pursuant to written compensatory benefit plans or agreements, has given private issuers great
flexibility in granting compensatory employee stock options to employees (and other eligible
persons) at all levels. See Rule 701(d) [17 CFR 230.701(d)]; Rule 701 Exempt Offerings Pursuant
to Compensatory Arrangements, Release No. 33-7645, 64 FR 11095 (March 8, 1999) (“Rule 701
Release™); See also Compensatory Benefit Plans and Contracts, Release No. 33-6768, 53 FR
12918 (April 14, 1988). ‘ ‘

See Hand Paper, note 4 supra.

6 See e.g., no-action letters to Starbucks Corporation (available April 2, 1992); Kinko’s, Inc.
(available Nov. 30, 1999); Mitchell International Holding, Inc. (available Dec. 27, 2000)
 (“Mitchell International”); AMIS Holdings, Inc. (available July 30, 2001) (“AMIS Holdings”);
Headstrong Corporation (available Feb. 28, 2003); and VG Holding Corporation (available Oct.
31, 2006) (“VG Holding”).



Under Section 12(g)’ of the Exchange Act, an issuer with 500 or more holders of

record of a class of equity security and assets in excess of $10 million at the end of its

most recently ended fiscal year must register that class of equity security, unless there is

an available exemption from registration.® Stock options, including stock options issued

to employees under stock option plans, are a separate class of equity security for purposes

of the Exchange Act.” Accordingly, an issuer with 500 or more optionholders and more

than $10 million in assets is required to register that class of options under the Exchange

Act, absent an available exemption. While there is an exemption from Exchange Act

Section 12(g) registration for interests and participations in certain other types of

employee compensation plans involving securities,'® currently there is no exemption for

compensatory employee stock options.

15 U.S.C. 78(g).

The asset threshold was set originally at $1 million in Section 12(g). Pursuant to its authority
under Section 12(h) of the Exchange Act, the Commission has increased the amount three times;
from $1 million to $3 million in 1982 [System of Classification for Purposes of Exempting
Smaller Issuers From Certain Reporting and Other Requirements, Release No. 34-18647 (April
13, 1982)], from $3 million to $5 million in 1986 [Reporting by Small Issuers, Release No. 34-
23406 (July 8, 1986)], and from $5 million to $10 million in 1996 [Relief from Reporting by
Small Issuers, Release No. 34-37157 (May 1, 1996)].

Exchange Act Section 3(a)(11) [15 U.S.C. 78¢(11)] defines equity security to include any right to
purchase a security (such as options) and Exchange Act Rule 3a-11 [17 CFR 240.3a-11] explicitly
includes options in the definition of equity security for purposes of Exchange Act Sections 12(g)
and 16 [15 U.S.C. 78](g) and 78p]. Exchange Act Section 12(g)(5) [15 U.S.C. 78](g)(5)] defines
class to include “all securities of an issuer which are of substantially similar character and the
holders of which enjoy substantially similar rights and privileges.”

The exemption from registration under Exchange Act Section 12(g) which is contained in
Exchange Act Rule 12h-1(a), was adopted in 1965, for “[a]ny interest or participation in an
employee stock bonus, stock purchase, profit sharing, pension, retirement, incentive, thrift,
savings or similar plan which is not transferable by the holder except in the event of death or
mental incompetency, or any security issued solely to fund such plans.” Rule 12h-1 is intended to
exempt from Section 12(g) registration the same types of employee benefit plan interests as
Section 3(a)(2) [15 U.S.C. 77¢(a)(2)] of the Securities Act of 1933 [15 U.S.C. 77a et. seq.]
exempts from Securities Act registration and, thus, does not cover stock options. See e.g., L. Loss
and J. Seligman, Securities Regulations, 3d., at §6-A-4. '




We are proposing an exemption for private, non-reporting issuers from Exchange
Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options issued under
employee stock option plans. We also are proposing an exemption from Exchange Act
Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options of issuers that have
registered under Exchange Act Section 12 the class of equity security underlying those
options.
B. Overview of Applicable Exchange Act Provisions

The addition of Section 12(g) to the Exchange Act was intended “to extend to
investors in certain over-the-counter securities the same protection now afforded to those
in listed Securities by providing that the issuers of certain securities now traded over the
counter shall be subject to the same requirements that now apply to issuers of securities

11 Further, Section 12(g) extended the disclosure and other

listed on an exchange.
Exchange Act safeguards to unlisted securities as a means to prevent fraud.'? The
Commission has noted that the registration requirement of Section 12(g) was aimed at
issuers that had “sufficiently active trading markets and publié interest and conseéuently
Were in need of mahdatory disclosure to ensure the protection of inve:sto.rs.”13

Exchange Act Section lé(h)14 provides the Commission with exemptive authority

with regard to certain provisions of the Exchange Act. Included in Exchange Act Section

12(h) is the authority to create appropriaté exemptions from the Exchange Act

n House of Representatives Report No. 1418 (1964), 88 Cong., 2d Sess., HR 679, p.1. See also
‘Section 3(c) of the Securities Act Amendments of 1964, Pub.L. 88-467; 78 Stat. 565.

12 Senate Committee Report, No. 379 (1963), 88"™ Cong., 1* Sess., p. 63.
13 Reporting by Small Issuers, Release No. 34-23407 (July 8, 1986).
14 15 U.S.C. 781(h).



registration requirements. Under Exchange Act Section 12(h), the Commission may
exempt a class of securities by rules and regulations or by exemptive order if it “finds, by
reason of the number of public investors, amount of trading interest in the securities, the
number and extent of the activities of the issuer, income or assets of the iésuer, or
otherwise, that such action is not inconsistent with the public interest or the protection of
»15

investors.

C. Historical Treatment of Compensatory Employee Stock Options under
Exchange Act Section 12(g)

A number of private, non-reporting issuers faced with registration under
Exchange Act Section 12(g) due solely to their compensatory employee stock options
being held by 500 ér more holders of record (as well as having more than $10 million in
assets) at the end of their fiscal year have requested registration relief from our Division
of C‘orporation Fil_‘lance.16 Since 1992, the Division has provided relief through no-action
letters'” to these private issuers when specified conditions were present.

Before 2001, the Division’s no-action relief in this area was conditioned on,
among other things, the options terminating at‘the time employment terminated. Further,
that relief was conditioned on the compensatory employee stock options not being

exercisable until after either the issuer’s initial public offering or the time at which the

15 Exchange Act Section 12(h) [15 U.S.C. 781(h)].

The Division has delegated authority to grant (but not deny) applications for exemption under
Exchange Act Section 12(h). See Rule 200.30-1(e)(7) [17 CFR 200.30-1].

17 For the conditions necessary to receive relief under these letters and orders see, for example, the
no-action letter to Mitchell International, note 6 supra (for the pre-2001 relief) and the no-action
letters to AMIS Holdings, note 6 supra; ISE Labs, Inc. (available June 2, 2003); Jazz
Semiconductor, Inc. (available Nov. 21, 2005) (“Jazz Semiconductor”); and VG Holding, note 6
supra (for the modified relief beginning in 2001).



issuer was no longer relying on the relief.'® Beginning in 2001, the Division announced
modified conditions to régistration relief for compensatory employee stock options of
private, non-reporting issuers that, due to 'market conditions, were delayed in their plans
to go public.19 Because the Division’s no-action relief applies only to the private, non-
reporting issuer’s compensatory employee stock options, once that issuer has 500 or more
holders of record of any other class of equity security (including, for example, common
stock outstandirig as a result of stock issuances, including option ekercises), it would be
required to register fhat other class of equity security under Exchange Act Section 12(g).
Thé Division’s no-action letters providing Exchange Act Section 12(g) -
registration relief to private, non-reporting issuers currently include the following
paral‘neters:20 '

Scope of Relief:

e The relief is limited solely to compensatory employee stock options granted under

stock option plans; and

e No security appreciation rights or other rights may be issued in connection with

the compensatory employee stock options.

18 See e.g., no-action letters to Kinko’s, Inc., note 6 supra; General Roofing Services, Inc. (évailable
April 5, 2000); and Mitchell International, note 6 supra.

1 See Division of Corporation Finance, Current Issues and Rulemaking Outline Quarterly Update

(March 31, 2001).

2 Following the announcement of the modified conditions to relief in 2001, issuers were still able to
request relief under the former conditions. Since 2002, however, issuers have received relief
based on the modified factors only. See e.g., no-action letters to Jazz Semiconductor, note 17
supra; Network General Corporation (available May 22, 2006); Avago Technologies Limited
(available Oct. 6, 2006); and VG Holding, note 6 supra. Our discussion regarding the current
conditions to relief under the no-action letters refers only to the modified conditions set forth in
the most recently issued no-action letters.



.

Eligible Participants:

¢ The compensatory employee stock options may be issued to a broad class of
participants comprised only of employees, directors, and consultants (to the extent
permitted under Securities Act Rule 701) of the issuer, its parents, or of majority-

owned, direct or indirect, subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents.

Exercisability:

e The exercisability of the compensatory employee stock options need not be
limited while the optionholder is an employee, director, or consultant; however, if
the compensatory employee stock options are not exercisable, there are modified

information conditions.

Transferability and Ownership Restrictions:

e There may be no means through which optionholders may receive compensation
or consideration for the compensatory employee stock options (or the securities to
be received on exercise of the compensatory employee stock options) before

exercise;!

e The compensatory employee stock options must remain non-transferable in most

cases, but the compensatory employee stock options may transfer on death or

2 This would not include payments received on exercise by an issuer or its affiliates of a repurchase
right or obligation with regard to the options or the shares received on exercise of the optlons See
e.g., no-action letter to VG Holding, note 6 supra.



disability of the optionholder or to family members (as defined in Securities Act
.Rule 701) by gift or pI;rsuant to domestic relations orders. These permitted
transferees are not allowed to further transfer compensatory employee stock
options. There may be no other pledging, hypothecation or donative transfer of

compensatory employee stock options or the securities underlying the options;

e The securities received on exercise of the compensatory employee stock options
may not be transferable, except back to the issuer (or to affiliates of the issuer if
thé issuer is unable to repurchase the shares), to family members under Rule 701
by gift or pursuant to domeétic relations orders, or in the event of death or
disability. These perrﬁitted transferees are not allowed to further transfer these
securities. There may be no other pledging, hypothecation or donative transfer of

these securities; and
e The ability of former employees to retain and exercise their vested compensatory
employee stock options for a period of time following termination of employment

need not be limited.

Information Requirements:

e The issuer must provide optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise
of compensatory employee stock options with essentially the same Exchange Act
registration statement, annual report, and quarterly report information they would

receive if the issuer registered the class of securities under Exchange Act Section



O 12, including audited annual financial statements (prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)) and unaudited quarterly

financial information, with the following specific conditions:

- The registration statement-type document must be delivered promptly

after the issuer receives no-action relief;

- The annual report must be delivered within 90 days after the issuer’s fiscal

year end;*

- The quarterly reports must be delivered within 45 days after the end of the

: - 2
. issuer’s fiscal quarter;”?

- The issuer may condition delivery of the information to an optionholder
on the optionholder signing an appropriate confidentiality agreement but it
must make the information available for examination at the issuer’s offices
by optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of options

unwilling to enter into confidentiality agreements;

2 Since 2006, the time period to deliver the annual report and the quarterly report was shortened to
90 days and 45 days, respectively, from the 120 days for the annual report and 60 days for the
quarterly report that was allowed in the earlier no-action letters relying on the modified conditions.

-See no-action letters to VG Holding, note 6 supra and AMIS Holdings, note 6 supra.
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- The issuer must provide certifications similar to those required of

reporting issuers;>* and
- The issuer must provide specified information relating to option vesting
and changes in the stock option plan.”

Recommendation of the Advisory Committee on Smaller Public Companies

The Advisory Committee on Smaller Public Companies,' in its Final Report,

recommended that the Commission provide Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration

relief for compensatory employee stock options.”® In this regard, the Advisory

Committee stated:

[H]olders of employee stock options received in compensatory
transactions are less likely to require the full protections afforded under
the registration requirements of the federal securities laws. Therefore, we
believe that such stock options should not be a factor in determining the
point an issuer becomes subJect to the burdens of a reporting company
under the Exchange Act.”’ -

Overview of the Proposed Exemptions

We believe that it is appropriate at this time to propose two new exemptions from

the registration provisions of Exchange Act Section 12(g) for compehsatory employee

stock options issued under employee stock option plans that are limited to employees,

24

25

26

27

The certification condition requires that the issuer’s chief executive officer and chief financial
officer include a certification as required by the first three paragraphs of the certification required
under Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229. 601(b)(31)] See e.g., no-action letter to
VG Holding, note 6 supra.

See e.g., no-action letter to VG Holding, note 6 supra.

Final Report of the Advisory Committee on Smaller Public Companies to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, April 23, 2006 (“Final Report of the Advisory Committee™).

Id atp. 87.
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directors, consultants, and advisors of the issuer, its parents, and majority-owned
subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents.”® Given the differences between issuers that are
required to file reports under the Exchange Act and those issuers that do not have such an
obligation, including the nature of the trading markets and the amount of publicly
available information, we l.)elieve that it is appropriate to propose separate exemptions for
these different types of issuers.
1. Exemption for Issuers That Afe Not Exchange Act Reporting Issuers

We believe that an exemption from Exchange Act registration of compensatory
employee stock options for pﬁvate, non-reporting issuers will provide useful certainty to
those issuers in their compensation decisions and will help them avoid becoming subject
to the registration and reporting requirements of the Exchange Act prior to the time they
have public shareholders.”’ Based on the factors identified in Exchange Act Section

12(h), we believe that it is appropriate to provi.de an exemption from Exchange Act

% The proposed exemptions would allow compensatory employee stock options to be held only by

those persons described in Securities Act Rule 701(c) [17 CFR 230.701(c)]. Securities Act Rule
701(c) lists the categories of persons to whom offers and sales of securities under written
compensatory benefit plans or contracts may be made in reliance on Rule 701 by an issuer, its
parents, and majority-owned subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents. The categories of persons
are: employees (including specified insurance agents); directors; general partners; trustees (where
the issuer is a business trust); officers; consultants and advisors (under certain conditions); family
members who acquire their securities from such persons through gifts or domestic relations orders;
and former employees, directors, general partners, trustees, officers, consultants and advisors only
if such persons were employed by or providing services to the issuer at the time the securities were
offered. As we note, the proposed amendments use the term “those persons described in Rule
701(c)” to refer to these permitted holders. For ease of discussion, in this release we use the
phrase “employees, directors, consultants and advisors of the issuer” to refer to those persons
described in Securities Act Rule 701(c).

» While we agree that an exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory
employee stock options is appropriate, in this regard, we do not agree with the Advisory
Committee statement that holders of employee stock options received in compensatory
transactions do not require the full protections afforded under the registration requirements of the
federal securities laws. :

12



Section 12(g) registration to a spéciﬁed class of compensatory employee stock options. 30

We believe that the conditions to the proposed exemption and the existing statutory
provisions and rules provide holders of compensatory employee stock options in private,
non-reporting issuers appropriate disclosure and investor protections under the federal
securities laws, given the compensatory circumstances of the securities issuance and the
restrictions on transferability of the compensatory employee stock options and shares
recejved on exercise of those options. As such, we are p_roposing to amend Exchange Act
Rule 12h-1 to provide an exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for
compensatory employee stock options issued under writteﬁ compensatory stock option
‘plans of an issuer that does not have a class of securities registered under Exchange Act
Section 12 and is not subject to the reporting requirements of Exchange Act Section

15(d), where the following conditions are present:*’

30 We believe that our proposal is consistent with the exemption provided for other employee benefit

plans in Exchange Act Rule 12h-1, which is not available for stock option plans, the compensatory
employee stock options issued pursuant to such plans, or the securities issued on exercise of such
compensatory employee stock options. We believe that the characteristics of many employee
benefit plans, which are by their own terms limited to employees, not available to the general
public, and subject to transfer restrictions, obviate the need for applicability of all the rules and
regulations aimed at public trading markets. In addition, because many of the proposed conditions
refer to certain Securities Act Rule 701 definitions and requirements, we believe that the proposed
exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration will allow non-reporting issuers to
continue to rely on Securities Act Rule 701 in offering and selling compensatory cmployee stock
options and the shares issued on exercise of those options.
3 The conditions build on and modify the current conditions to relief in the no-action requests
discussed above. For example, the transferability restrictions in the proposed exemption are more
clearly defined; there is no proposed restriction on the exercisability of the compensatory
employee stock options; and the level of disclosure required to be provided to optionholders and
holders of shares received on exercise of those options is the same level of information that
private, non-reporting issuers relying on Securities Act Rule 701 for the offers and sales of those
options and securities may be required to provide, rather than the level of information an issuer
with public shareholders is required to provide. See the discussion under “Proposed Exemption
For Compensatory Employee Stock Options of Issuers That Are Not Exchange Act Reporting
Issuers,” below.

13



¢ Eligible optionholders are limited to employees, directors, consultants, and

advisors of the issuer;

‘o Transferability by optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of the
options of compensatory employee stock options, shares received, or to be
received, on exercise of those options, and shares of the same class as those

-underlying those options is restricted; and

¢ Risk and financial information is provided to optionholders and holders of shares
received on exercise of those options that is of the type that would be required
under Rule 701 if securities sold in reliance on Rule 701 exceeded $5 million in a

12-month period.*

The proposed exemption would apply only to a private, non-reporting issuer’s
compensatory employee stock options and would not extend to the class of securities
underlying those options.*®

The proposed restrictions on the type of issuer eligible to rely on the exemption,
the limitation on who may be granted and hold the compehsatory employee stock roptions,

the transferability restrictions, and the limitation of the exemption to the compensatory

employee stock options are intended to assure that there is no trading in the options or

32 See the discussion under “Required Information,” below.

3 A private, non-reporting issuer would have to apply the registration requirements of Exchange Act
Section 12 to the class of equity security underlying the compensatory employee stock options
without regard to the proposed exemption. For the class of equity security underlying the options,
for which there could be public shareholders, no transferability restrictions, and trading interest,
we do not believe a Section 12 registration exemption would be appropriate.

14



shares received on exercise Qf the options and that there are no public investors in the
compensatory employee stock options that need the full range of protections that
Exchange Act registration and reporting afford. In light of the circumstances under
which private, non-reporting issuers issue compensatory employee stock options, the
terms of those options, and the information provision requirements of the proposed
exemption, we believe that the proposed amended rule contains appropriate conditions to
an exemption of such compensatory employee stock options of private, non-reporting
issuers from registration under Exchange Act Section 12(g). As such, we believe that the
proposed exemption is in the public interest, in that it wbuld clarify and routinize the
basis for an exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory
employee stock options so private, non-reporting issuers would be able to continue to
issue compensatory employee stock options and would provide appropriate investor
ﬁrotections for optionhc;lders and holders of shares received on exercise of the options.
2. Exemption for Exchange Act Reporting Issuers

We are proposing to amend Exchange Act Rule 12h-1 to provide an exemption
for compensatory employee stock options of issuers that are required to file reports under
the Exchange Act because they have registered under Exchange Act Section 12 the class
of equity security underlying those options. The proposed exemption would be available
only where the options were issued pursuant to a written compensatory stock option plan
and the class of persons eligible to receive or hold the options is.limited appropriately.
We believe that the proposed exemption of compensatory employee stock options from
Exchange Act registration is appropriate for purposes of investor protection and the

public interest because the optionholders would have access to the issuer’s publicly filed

15



Exchange Act reports and the appropriate provisions of Exchange Act Sections 13, 14,
and 16> would apply to the compensatory employee stock options and the securities
issuable on exercise of the compensatory employee stock options.
II. DISCUSSION OF PROPOSALS

We are proposing two amendments to Exchange Act Rule 12h-1. These
amendments. wouid:

e provide an exemption for private, non-reporting issuers from Exchange Act
Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options issued under

employee stock option plans; and

e provide an exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for
compensatory'employee stock options issued by issuers that have registered under
Exchange Act Section 12 the class of equity security underlying the compensatory

employee stock options.

A. Proposed Exemption For Compensatory Employee Stock Options of Issuers
That Are Not Exchange Act Reporting Issuers
We believe it is appropriate to provide an exemption from Exchange Act
registration for compensatory employee stock options of issuers that are not required to
file reports under the Exchange Act. The availability of this proposed exemption would
be subject to specified limitations, including limitations éoncerni-ng permitted

optionholders, transferability and provision of information.

1. Eligible Issuers

34 15 U.S.C. 78m, 78n, and 78p.
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The proposed amendment would provide an exemption from Exchange Act

-Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options of the following

types of issuers:

Issuers that do not have a class of securities registered under Exchange Act

Section 12; and

Issuers that are not subject to the reporting requirements of Exchange Act Section

15(d).*®

The proposed exemption is intended to be available only to those issuers that are

not reporting under the Exchange Act. As such, the proposed exemption would terminate

once the issuer became subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act.*®

Request for Comment

Should the proposed exemption be available to any private, non-reporting issuer?

- If not, which categories of non-reporting issuers should be ineligible for the

exemption?

Should the proposed exemption be available to those issuers that file Exchange

Act reports and, thus, hold themselves out as Exchange Act reporting issuers, but

35

36

Under Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, an issuer’s “duty to file [reports under Section 15(d) is]
automatically suspended if and so long as any issue of securities of such issuer is registered
pursuant to section 12 of this title.”[15 U.S.C. 780(d)].

The proposed exemption under Exchange Act Section 12 would allow issuers 60 calendar days to
register the class of options once an issuer was no longer able to rely on the proposed exemption.
Currently, the no-action letter relief terminates once an issuer becomes subject to the Exchange
Act reporting requirements. See e.g., no-action letter to VG Holding, note 6 supra.
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who have neither a class of securities registered under Exchange Act Section 12
nor an existing reporting obligation under Exchange Act Section 15(d) (also
known as “voluntary filers”)? Should “voluntary filers” be treated differently
under the proposed exemption if thely do not have any public shareholders of any

class of their equity securities?

Eligible Compensatory Employee Stock Options

The proposed exemption ‘for compensatory employee stock optiohs would:
Apply only to compensatory employee stock options that are issued under a
written compensatory stock option plan®’ that is limited to employees, directors,

consultants, and advisors of the issuer;38

Apply to all compensatory employee stock options issued under all of the issuer’s
written éompensatory stock option plans on a combined basis where the securities
underlying the compensatory employee stock options are of the same class of
securities, with the proposed exemptive conditions applying to the compensatory

employee stock options issued under each option plan; and

37

38

Securities Act Rule 701 is available only for offers and sales of compensatory employee stock
options and the shares issuable upon exercise of those options that are issued under written
compensatory employee benefit plans of an issuer, its parents, or majority-owned subsidiaries of
the issuer or its parents. See Securities Act Rule 701(c) [17 CFR 230.701(c)]. Thus, the proposed
requirement that the options be issued under written compensatory stock option plans would not
impose a new obligation on issuers relying on Securities Act Rule 701 in offering and selling its
compensatory employee stock options or the shares issued on exercise of those options.

The proposed exemption for the compensatory employee stock options would not extend to other
rights issued in connection with the compensatory employee stock options, such as stock
appreciation rights. Any such other rights would be evaluated separately for purposes of
Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration.
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e Not extend to any class of securities received or to be received on exercise of the

compensatory employee stock options.

The proposed exemption would cover all compensatory employee stock options
of an issuer meeting the conditions of the exemption, even if the compensatory employee
stock options were issued under separate written option plans. For this purpose, the
compensatory employee stock options would be considered to belong to the same class of
equity security if the same class of securities would be issuable on exercise of the
compensatory employee stock options.? ?
The proposed exemption would apply to the compensatory employee stock
options only and not to the securities issued (or to be issued) on exercise of the
‘ compensatory employee stock options. Thus, the issuer would have to apply the
registration requirements of Exchange Act Section 12 to the class of equity’security
underlying the compensatory employee stock options without regard to the proposed
exemption..40 |

Request for Comment

e Should the exemption cover all compensatory employee stock options issued

under all employee stock option plans of a private, non—repofting issuer?

9 See Exchange Act Section 12(g)(5) [15 U.S.C. 781(g)(5)].

40 For example, if an issuer had more than $10 million in assets and 500 or more holders of a class of
‘ equity security underlying the compensatory employee stock options as of the end of its fiscal

year, it would have to register under Exchange Act Section 12 that class of equity security.

19



® Are there employee stock option plans that are not written that should be

included? If so, what types of unwritten plans should be included and why?

e Are there employee stock options issued under written stock option contracts,
other than written stock option plans, that should be included? If so, what types

of written stock option contracts should be included and why?

e We have proposed to provide that the exemption would apply to all of the issuer’s
option plans on a combined basis where the securities underlying the
compensatory employée stock options are of the same class of securities, while |
the options may be held by employees, directors, consultants, or advisors of an
issuer, its parents, or majority-owned subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents.
Should the class of options covered by the proposed exempti})n include only
options issued by the issuer under its written compensatory plans or should the
class of options covered by the proposed exemption also include options on the
issuer’s securities that are issued under written compensatory plans of the issuer’s
parent, its majority-owned subsidiaries or majority-owned subsidiaries of the

issuer? Please explain.

3. Eligible Option Plan Participants
The proposed exemption would be available only where the class of persons

eligible to receive compensatory employee stock options under the stock option plans is

20



' limited to those persons described in the exemption. These eligible optionholders would
be the same as those participants permitted under Rule 701 and would include:*!
. Empldyees of the issuer, its parents, or maj ority-owned,‘ direct or indirect,

subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents;

¢ Directors of the issuer, its parents, or majority-owned, direct or indirect,

subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents; and

¢ Consultants and advisors of the issuer, its parents, or majority-owned, direct or

indirect, subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents.

We have proposed that the exemption‘ be limited to those sitﬁations where
. compensatory employee stock options may be held only by those persons who are
permitted to hold or be granted compensatory employee stock options under Securities
Act Rule 701. We believe that the experience of issuers and their counsels with Rule 701
will ease compliance with and limit uncertainty regérding the exemption.*? |
Just as Securities Act Rule 701 was designed specifically not to be available for

capital-raising transactions, the proposed exemption would apply only to employee stock

options issued for compensatory purposes. The restrictions on the eligible participants in

4 See the discussion at note 28 supra.

42 In this regard, we note that this category of eligible optionholders is broader than the category of
persons to whom employee benefit securities, including compensatory employee stock options
' may be offered and sold by reporting issuers using a Form S-8 registration statement. See General
' Instruction 1(a) to Form S-8 [17 CFR 239.16b].
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. the stock option plans are intended to assure that the proposed exemption is limited to

employee stock options issued solely for compensatory purposes.*’

Request for Comment

¢ Should the proposal limit further the types of persons eligible to hold
compensatory employee stock options for purposes of the exemption? If so, what

types of persons should not be eligible?

e Is the use of the Securities Act Rule 701 definitions-of eligible participants
appropriate for purposes of the proposed exemption? If not, what definitions
should be used to characterize the optionholders who have received the‘
compensatory employee stock options solely for compensatory purposes and why

. ~ should another definition be used?

e Would the proposed eligibility conditions affect an issuer’s ability to rely on
compensatory employee stock options to attract, retain, and motivate employees,

directors, consultants, and advisors of the issuer?

4. Option Terms

a. Compensatory Employee Stock Option and Share Transferability
Restrictions -

The proposed exemption would be available only where there are certain
restrictions on the transferability by an optionholder or holder of shares received on

exercise of a compensatory employee stock option of those options, the shares issuable

. “ All option grants and exercises must, of course, comply with the requirements of the Securities
Act.
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' on exercise of those options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those

underlying those options.** Specifically, the proposed exemption would be available

only if: %

¢ The compensatory employee stock options and the shares received or to be

received on exercise of those options could not be transferred except:*®
- to family members (as defined in Rule 701) by gift or pursuant to domestic
relations orders; or

- on death or disability of the optionholder;"’

'Optionholders or holders of shares received on exercise of the compensatory

employee stock options through a permitted transfer from the original holder

could not transfer those options or shares further;

44

45

46

47

The proposed exemption would not impose any limitations on the ability of current or former
employees, directors, consultants, or advisors of an issuer to retain or exercise their compensatory
employee stock options. The current no-action letters do, however, contain certain limitations on
retention of both vested and unvested compensatory employee stock options. See e.g., no-action
letter to VG Holding, note 6 supra.

The current no-action letters contain similar conditions on transferability, although the proposed

_tule clarifies the limitations on the ability to engage in certain derivative transactions, such as

restrictions on an optionholder or holder of shares received on exercise of options from entering
into a “put equivalent position” or “call equivalent position” until the issuer become subject to the
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. See e.g., no-action letter to VG Holding, note 6 '
supra.

The proposed transferability restrictions would not supersede other transferability restrictions
imposed for other reasons, including under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended [26

U.S.C. 422(b)(5)].

These permitted transferees are intended to be the same as those permitted under Securities Act
Rule 701(c). See note 28 supra. '
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There could be no other permittedApledges, gifts, hypothecations, or other

transfers of the compensatory employee stock options, shares issued or issuable

. on exercise of those options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those

underlying those options by the optionholder or holder of shares received on
exércise of an option, other than transfers back to the issuer (or to affiliates of the
issuer if the issuer is unable to repurchase those options or shares received on
exercise of those options), until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting

requirements of the Exchange Act;*®

The compensatory employee stock options, the securities issued or issuable upon
exercise of those options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those
underlying those options could not be the subject of a short position, a “put

equivalent position”*

or a “call equivalent position” % by the optionholder or _
holder of shares received on exercise of an option until the issuer becomes subject

to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act; and

48

49

50

If an express prohibition on transfer is not permitted under applicable state law, the proposed
exemption would be available if the issuer retained the obligation, either directly or by assignment
to an affiliate of the company, to repurchase the option or the shares issued on exercise of the
options until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. This
repurchase obligation would have to be contained in the stock option agreement pursuant to which
the option is exercised, in a separate stockholders agreement, in the issuer’s by-laws, or certificate
of incorporation. See the discussion under “Issuer Obligation to Impose the Conditions to the
Proposed Exemption,” below.

17 CFR 240.16a-1(h). Rule 16a-1(h) defines a “put equivalent position” as a derivative security
position that increases in value as the value of the underlying equity decreases, including, but not
limited to, a long put option and a short call option position.

17 CFR 240.16a-1(b). Rule 16a-1(b) defines a “call equivalent position” as a derivative security

position that increases in value as the value of the underlying equity increases, including, but not
limited to, a long convertible security, a long call option, and a short put option position.
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| ' e There could be no market or available process or methodology that would permit
optionholders or holders of shares received on exercise of an option to receive any
consideration or compensation fof the options, the shares issuable on exercisé of
the options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those undérlying the
options, except from permitted transfers to the issuer or its affiliates as discussed
above, until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting requirements of the

Exchange Act.

Under the proposal, the exemption would not be available if optionholders and
holders of shares received on exercise of compensatory employee stock options could
enter into agreements, prior to or after the exercise of those options, that would allow
those holders to monetize or receive compensation from or consideration for such

‘ compensatory employee stock options, the shares to be received upon exercise of those
options, or shares of the same .class of eqﬁity security as those underlying those options.
Thus, the proposed conditions provide that, except with regard to the limited ﬁermitted
transfers specified in the proposed conditions, an optionholder cannot be permitted to
pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise transfer the compensatory _employee stock options, the
shares underlying those options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those
underlying those options, including through a short position, a “put equivalent position,”
or a “call equiQalent position,” until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting
requirements of the Ef(change Act. The proposed exemption would be coﬁditioned ona
similar restriction on the holdérs of shares received on exercise of the options.

The proposed restrictions on transfer of the compensatory employee stock

‘ options, the shares underlying those options, and shares of the same class of equity
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security as those underlying those options by an optionholder or holder of shares received
on exercise of an option are intended to limit the possibility for a trading market to
develop for the compensatory employee stock options or the securities issued on exercise
of those options while the issuer is relying on the proposed exemption. These restrictions
also are intended to assure that an optionholder or holder of shares received on exercise
of an option is not able to profit from the compensatory employee stock options or the
securities received or to be received on exercise of those options (except from permitted
transfers to the issuer or its affiliates as discussed above), until the issuer becomes subject
to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. |

While, in most cases, the securities of private, non-reporting issuers that are
issued on exercise of compensatory employee stock options are deemed to be restricted
securitiesl as defined in Securities Act Rule 144,%' we believe that the proposed
transferability restrictions are necessary to limit further the pdssibility of a market
developing in the securities issued or issuable on exefcise of immediately exercisable
}compensatory employee stock options while the issuer is not reporting under the
Exchange Act. Thus, the proposed amendments would require that the issuer’s securities
received on exercise of compensatory employee stock options be restricted as to transfer
until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting re.quirements of the Exchange Act.**

The proposed transfer restrictions for the compensatory employee stock options

and the shares received or to be received on exercise of those options are consistent in

3t 17 CFR 230.144. See, e.g., Securities Act Rule 701(g).
52 After an issuer becomes subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the issuer

would be able to rely on the exemption for Exchange Act reporting issuers only if it becomes
subject to Exchange Act reporting as a result of its Exchange Act Section 12 registration of the
class of equity security underlying the compensatory employee stock options.
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most respects with the transfer restrictions on compensatory securities in Securities Act

Rule 701.> In addition, we understand that private, non-reporting issuers generally

restrict the transferability of shares received on exercise of compensatory employee stock

options until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange

Act. As such, we believe that transferability restrictions should not impose additional

constraints on such private, non-reporting issuers.

Request for Comment

Should there be any other restrictions on the transferat;ility by the optionholder or
holder of shares received on exercise of the options of the compensatory
employee stock options, the shares received on exercise of those options, or _
shares of the same class of equity security as those underlying those options pribr

to the issuer becoming subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act?

Should there be any other restrictions on the transferability of the securities
received or to be received on exercise of the compensatory employee stock
options or shares of the same class of equity security as the shares underlying

those options?

Should an optionholder be allowed to enter into agreements to transfer the shares
to be received on exercise of the compensatory employee stock options or shares

of the same class of equity security as the shares underlying those options prior to

53

Securities Act Rule 701(c) and (g). The securities sold in Rule 701 transactions are deemed to be
restricted securities as defined in Securities Act Rule 144 [17 CFR 230.144]. The transfer

" restrictions in the proposed exemption are more restrictive than those in Rule 701.
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the exercise of those options while the issuer is relying on the exemption? If yes,
why should an optionholder be able to enter into such arrangements and how
would such arrangements affect whether an optionholder has received value for

the compensatory employee stock options?

- Should there be restrictions on permitted transferees of compensatory employee

stock options being able to further transfer such options? Should the permitted
transferees be able to further transfer such options to other permitted transferees
by gift, pursuant to domestic relations orders, or on death or disability? What

types of other transfers, if any, should be permitted and why?

Do the proposed restrictive provisions sufficiently cover hedging transactions by
optionholders or holders of shares received on exercise of the options that would
permit such persons to circumvent the proposed transferability conditions in the

proposed exemption?

Should the proposed exemption provide explicitly that the issuer may repurchase
the compensatory employee stock options or shares received on exercise of those
options if the issuer is unable to prohibit transfers of such options or shares under

state law?
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Should the restrictive provisions of the proposed exemption apply to the securities

received on exercise of the compensatory employee stock options for so long as

the issuer is relying on the proposed exemption? If not, please explain.

Should the transfer restrictions on the shares received on exercise of the

~ compensatory employee stock options, following such exercise, be a condition to

the proposed exemption only if the issuer does not restrict the transferability of
any of the shares of the same class of its equity security pridr to the issuer

becoming subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act?

The proposed exemption provides that there can bé no market or methodology
that would permit optionholders or holders of shares received on exercise of an
option to profit from or monetize the options, the shares received on exercise of
the options, or shares of t_ﬁe same class of equity security as those underlying the
options. These proposed restrictions are not intended to interfere with any means
by which the issuer values its compensatory employee stock options for purposes
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R (“Statement No.
123R”).>* Do the proposed conditions affect an issuer’s ability to value |
compensatory employee stock options for purposes of Statement 123R? If so,
how would thé valuation ability be affected? If affected, what alternative
provisions should we consider that would not interfere with éuch valuation, yet

not permit an optionholder or holder of shares received on exercise of an option to

54

See Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
(revised 2004) Share-Based Payment.
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monetize or profit from the option, the shares received or to be received on
exercise of the options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those
underlying therptions, prior to the issuer becoming subject to the reporting

requirements of the Exchange Act?

Permitted Exercisability of Compensatory Employee Stock Options

The proposed exemption would not require that there be any restriction on the

timing of the exercise of the compensatory employee stock options:

by the optionholder (regardless of whether the optionholder continues to be an

employee, director, consultant or advisor of the issuer);

in the event of the death or disability of the optionholder, by the estate or guardian

of the optionholder; or

by a family member (as defined in Rule 701) who acquired the options through a

gift or domestic relations order.

Request for Comment

Should there be any restriction on the exercisability of the compensatory

employee stock options while an issuer is relying on the proposed exemption?
Should the compensatory employee stock options be required to terminate if the

optionholder is no longer an employee, director, consultant or advisor of the

issuer? If so, under what conditions should the options terminate?
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e Should the proposed exemption be available only if the compensatory employee
stock options are exercisable only for a limited time perioc_l after the optionholder
ceases to be an employee, director, consultant or advisor of the issuer? If so,
should such a limitation on exercise be different if such a cessation is because of
death or disability, or because of a termination with cause or without cause?

What limited time period should apply and why?

5. Required Information
The proposed exemption would require the issuer to provide information to
optionholdérs and holders of shares received on exercise of compensatory employee
stock options. This condition would require the issuer, for purposes of the proi)osed
‘ exemption, to provide the following information to optionholders (and holders of shares
received on exercise of compénsatory employee stock options):>
e The same risk and financial information that would be required to be provided
under Securities Act Rule 701 if securities sold in reliance on Securities Act Rule
701 in a 12-month period exceeded $5 million, with the optionholders and holders
of shares received on exercise of the compensatory employeé stock options
always having been provided required financial statements that are no;t more than

180 days old;>® and

_ % The information conditions may terminate once the company becomes subject to the reportmg

requirements of the Exchange Act.

56 See Securities Act Rule 701(e) [17 CFR 230.701(e)] for a description of the risk factor and
financial statement requirements. The required information would have to be provided under the
terms of the proposed exemption regardless of whether the issuer would be required to provide the

‘ information under Rule 701 (for example because the issuer did not sell $5 million in securities in
a 12-month period in reliance on Rule 701).
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e The issuer’s books and records, including corporate governance documents, to the

same extent that they are available to other shareholders of the issuer. -

The issuer would be permitted to provide the required information (other than the
issuer’s books and records) to the optionholders and holders of shares received on
exercise of compensatory employee stock options either by:

e Physical or electronic’’ delivery of the information; or

e Notice to the optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of
compensatory employee stock options of:
- the availability of the information on a password-protected Internet site; and

- any password needed to access the information.

The b.asis of the information requiferﬁenf in the proposéd exemption is tﬁe
information that would be required to be provided pursuant to the exemption from
Securities Act registration provided in Securities Act Rule 701 if securities sold in ‘
reliance on Securities Act Rule 701 in a 12-month period exceeded $5 million. In
Securities Act Rule 701, we established the type of information that erhployees holding
compensatory employee stock options must be provided before the exercise of those |

options.® The Securities Act Rule 701 information provisions provide optionholders and

57 Electronic delivery of such information would have to be made in compliance with the

Commission’s interpretations regarding the electronic delivery of information. See e.g., “Use of
Electronic Media,” Release No. 34-42728 (April 28, 2000).

58 See Rule 701 Release, note 4 supra. “The type and amount of disclosure needed in a
compensatory securities transaction differs from that needed in a capital-raising transaction. Ina
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other persons who purchase securities without registration under Rule 701 with important
information. We believe that the ongoing provision of the same information is necessary
and appropriate for purposes of the proposed exemption from Exchange Act
registration.5 o

Securities Act Rule 701 provides that the required information must be provided
to an optionholder a reasonable period of time before the date of exercise of the
compensatory employee stock options. Rule 701 also requires that the required financial
statements must be as of a date no more than 180 days before the sale of the securities
(which in the case of compensatofy employee stock options is the date of exercise ‘of the
options). We believe that the proposed exemption from Exchange Aqt registration
presents the need for ongoing information to be provided to optionholders and holders of
shares received on exercise of those options. As such, the proposed exemption would
require that the optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of the

compensatory employee stock options always be provided the required financial

statements that are not more than 180 days old.

bona fide compensatory arrangement, the issuer is concerned primarily with compensating the
employee-investor rather than maximizing its proceeds from the sale. Because the compensated
individual has some business relationship, perhaps extending over a long period of time, with the
securities issuer, that person will have acquired some, and in many cases, a substantial amount of
knowledge about the enterprise. The amount and type of disclosure required for this person is not
the same as for the typical investor with no particular connection with the issuer.” Id.

» As the Commission reminded issuers when it adopted the amendments to Securities Act Rule 701
in 1999, issuers should be aware that compliance with the minimum disclosure standards for Rule
701 may not necessarily satisfy the antifraud standards of the securities laws. See Rule 701

~ Release, note 4 supra. (Preliminary Note 1 to Rule 701 states that issuers and other persons acting
on their behalf have an obligation to provide investors with disclosure adequate to satisfy the
antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws.) We recognize that the Advisory Committee
has recommended modifications to Rule 701 that would affect the thresholds that would trigger
the disclosure provisions of that rule. -Our proposals do not address the Advisory Committee’s
recommendations regarding Rule 701. See Final Report of the Advisory Committee, at p. 92-93.
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While requiring private, ﬁon-reponing 1ssuers to providé information, the
proposed exemption would allow flexibility in the means of providing the information by
permitting physical, electronic, or Internet-based delivery. Un(ier the proposal, the issuer
would be required to make its books and records available for inspection .by the
optionholder and holders of shares received on exercise of compensatory employee stock
options to the same extént that they are available to other shareholders of the issuer.

To permit issuers to safeguard proprietary or confidential information that may be
contained in the information to be provided, the proposed exemption would permit
provision of the disclosure to be conditioned on the optionholder (or holder of shares
received on exercise of compensatory employee stock options) agreeing to maintain the
confidentiality of the information.®® As proposed, if an optionholder (or holdef of shares)
chooses not to enter into such a confidentiality agreement, the ekemption would permit
the issuer to choose to not provide the information to that optionholder or holder of
shares received on exercise of options if it allows inspection of the documents at one of
the described issuer offices. |

In the no-action registration relief provided to issuers to date, the staff of the
Division of Corporation Finance has provided that relief only where the issuer commits
to providing essentially the same Exchange Act information and reports as if it was
subject to the Exchange Act reporting requirements. We believe that our experience with
Securities Act Rule 701 and the combined conditions of the proposed exemption,
including the eligibility and transferability pfovisions, alleviate the need for that level of

information in the context of an on-going reporting exemption relating to compensatory

- This proposed provision is consistent with the related information required under Securities Act
Rule 701.
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employee stock options.’' As such, we believe that the scope of information that the

optionholders and holders of shares will be provided under the proposed exemption is not

inconsistent with investor protection and the public interest.®

Request for Comment

Should the proposed exemption require additional information to be provided? If

so, what additional information should be required?

Should the proposed exemption require that audited financial statements be
provided in all cases, even if the issuer does not otherwise prepare audited

financial statements?

61
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As the Commiission also recognized when it adopted the Securities Act Rule 701 amendments in
1999, and because many issuers that have 500 or more optionholders and more than $10 million in
assets are likely to have received venture capital financing (see for example the data in the Hand
Paper, note 4 supra), we believe that many of these issuers already have prepared the type of
disclosure required in their normal course of business, either for using other exemptions, such as
Regulation D, or for other purposes. As a result, the disclosure requirement generally would be
less burdensome for them. In adopting the amendments to Rule 701, we stated that a minimum
level of disclosure was essential to meet even the reduced level of information needed to inform
compensatory-type investors such as employees and consultants. See Rule 701 Release, note 4
supra.

For a private, non-reporting issuer with a significant number of optionholders (and with more than
$10 million in assets at the end of its fiscal year), we believe it is likely that such issuer either
already is obligated to provide the same information to optionholders due to sales of securities in
reliance on Securities Act Rule 701 or already prepares and, as such, provides such information to
its shareholders. As a result, it is likely that optionholders and bolders of shares received on
exercise of those options already will have received such disclosures in connection with the option
grants and exercises and, because of the proposed transferability restrictions on the compensatory
employee stock options and the shares received or to be received on exercise of those options, will
not have further investment decisions to make, until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act. Consequently, we believe that the disclosure required under
the proposed exemption is the appropriate level of disclosure to be provided option holders and
holders of shares received on exercise of those options until the issuer become subject to the
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act.
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Should the proposed exemption also require that the information be provided in
specified time frames prior to the exercise of the compensatory employee stock

options?

Should the proposed exemption require that the information be provided to
holders of shares received on exercise of the compensatory employee stock
options until the issuer becomes subj ect to fhe reporting requirements of the
Exchange Act or for so long as the issuer is relying on the proposed exemption?
If not, should there be restrictions on the information provided and, if so, what

restrictions should be imposed and why?

Should the proposed exemption apply to holders of shares received on exercise of
compensatory employee stock bptions only if the issuer has a repurchase right in
the event of an attempted transfer of the shares? If sé, what information would be
provided to a holder of shares prior to the issuer becoming a reporting issuer

under the Exchange Act?

As proposed, the issuer could provide the required information by physical,
electronic, or Internet-based delivery. Is it appropriate to allow issuers to choose
how to satisfy this requirement by using these alternate means? What role should

investor preference play?
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Should the condition specifying the manner in which the information should be
provided mandate that the information be available through a password-protected

Internet site?

The proposed exgmption would _require that issuers make their books and records
available to optionholders aqd to holders of shares received on exercise of the
options to the same extent they are available to other shareholders of the issuer. Is
this an appropriate informétibn requirement for the proposed exemption? If not,
why not? What books and records and corporate governance documents do

private, non-reporting issuers provide to optionholders and holders of shares

received on exercise of options? Would this condition affect issuers’ practices of

granting options to consultants and advisors? If so, why?

As proposed, the exemption does not require private, non-rep.orting issuers to
provide optibnholders or holders of shares received on exercise of an option with
the informationbthat would be required to be disclosed by our issuer tender offer
rules (Exchange Act Rule 13e-4)® or going private transaction rules (Exchange
Act Rule 13¢-3)* if the compensatory employee stock options (or shares received
on exercise of those options) were registered pursuant to Exchange Act Section
12(g). Should the information disclosure requirements of the proposed exemption

be expanded to require disclosure of additional information such as any

63

17 CFR 240.13¢-4.

17 CFR 240.13e-3.
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information that would otherwise be required by Rule 13e-3 or Rule 13e-4? If so,

what information should be required to be provided?

o In addition, beneficial ownership of compensatory employee stock options not
Exchange Act Section 12-registered in reliance on the proposed exemption would
not trigger the beneficial ownership reporting requirements in Exchange Act
Regulation 13D-G% unless the options were exercisable for Section 12 registered

securities within 60 days. Is this the correct result?

6. Issuer Obligation to Impose the Conditions to the Proposed Exemption
For the proposed exemption to be availablé, a private, non-reporting issuer would

“be required to include the necessary limitations and conditions either in the written stock
option plans or within the terms of the individual written option égreements. ‘In addition,
the transferability restrictions on the shares received on exercise of the compensatory
employée stock options also must be included in the issuer’s by-laws, certificate of
incorporation, or a stock purchase or stockholder agreement between the issuer and the
exercising optionholder or holder éf shares received on exercise of an op.tion. We believe
that the self-executing nature of the proposed exemption necessitates the inclusion of the
conditions to the exemption in an enforceable agreement between the issuer, the
optionholders, and the holders of shares received on exercise of an option, or in the
issuer’s by-laws or certificate of incorporation.

Request for Comment

6 17 CFR 240.13d-1 through 240.13d-102.
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Should the proposed exemption require that the conditions be contained in a
particular written document or should the proposed exemption allow the
conditions to be contained in any agreement between the issuer, the

optionholders, and the holders of shares received on exercise of an option?

Should the proposed exemption pennit any of the conditions, including the
transferability restrictions on the shares received on exercise of the compensalltory
employee stock options, to be included in the issuer’s by-laws or certificate of
incorporation?

Proposed Exemption for Compensatory Employee Stock Options of
Exchange Act Reporting Issuers

To provide certainty regarding the obligations of issuers that already have

registered the securities underlying the compensatory employee stock options under the

Exchange Act, we believe it is appropriate to provide an exemption from Exchange Act

registration for compensatory employee stock options of these reporting issuers.®® The

proposéd exemption would be available only for an issuer that has registered under

Exchange Act Section 12 the class of equity security underlying the compensatory

employee stock options. Such a registration gives rise to a requirement to file the reports

required under Exchange Act Section 13.® The filing of these reports is essential to the

67.

Public reporting issuers may be unclear regarding the need to comply with the Exchange Act
Section 12(g) registration requirements for compensatory employee stock options if the issuer has
registered under Exchange Act Section 12 the class of equity security underlying those options or
has registered under the Securities Act the offer and sale of the options and the shares issuable on
exercise of the options on Form S-8. Consequently, we believe the proposed exemption will
provide important guidance regarding, and an appropriate exemption to eligible issuers from, the
Exchange Act registration requirement for compensatory employee stock options.

15U.S.C. 78m.
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proposed exemption, as we believe the exerﬁption is appropriate because the Exchange
Act reports of those issuers will provide the appropriate information to optionholders.

As with the proposed exemption for private, non-reporting issuers, the proposed
exemption for issuers subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act would be
available only where the options were issued pursuant to a written compensatory stock
option plan and where the class of persons eligible to receive or hold compensatory
employee stock options under the stock option plans was limited to these participants
permitted under Securities Act Rule 701.%® The proposed exemption from Section 12(g)
registration for compensatory employee stock options of Exchange Act reporting issuers
would not include any information conditions, other than those arising from the
registration of the class of equity security underlying the options.

As proposed, the availability of the exemption would not be conditioned on the
issuer being current in its Exchange Act reporting. We have not proposed such a
condition, as it would seem inappropriate for the issuer to lose the exemption, and be
required to register a class of compensafory employee stock options under Exchange Act
Section 12(g), because it was late in filing a required Exchange Act report and, for the
days before that report was filed, was not “current” in its Exchange Act reporting. We
are requesting comment as to whether it would be appropriate to include a requirement in
the exemption regarding the issuer’s ongoing satisféctioh of its Exchange Act reporting
obligations.

While the proposed exemption would apply to the registration of compensatory

employee stock options as a separate class of ’equity‘ security, the protections of Exchange

o See the discussion under “Eligible Option Plan Participants,” above, for a description of the
eligible optionholders.
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Act Sections 13(e) and 14(e) will continue to apply to offers for those compensatory

employee stock options. Further, the requirements of Exchange Act Section 16 also will

- apply to the equity securities underlying the compensatory employee stock options and

the beneficial ownership reporting requirements of Exchange Act Sections 13(d) and
13(2)* will continue to apply if the compensatory employee stock options are exercisable
for Exchange Act Section 12 registered securities. " The proposed exemption, therefore,
would be available only to an issuer that had registered under Exchange Act Section 12
the class of equity security to be issued on exercise of the compensatory employee stock
options. As a result, the proposed exemption would not be available to an issuer that is
required to file Exchange Act reports solely pursuant to Exchange Act Section 15(d).

Request for Comment

¢ Should the proposed exemption apply to any issuer that is required to file
Exchange Act periodic reports, whether or not the issuer has registered the class
of equity security underlying the compensatory employee stock options under

Exchange Act Section 12? If so, why?

e Should the proposed exemption be available only to issuers that are current in
their Exchange Act reporting obligations? Should the proposed exemption be
available only to issuers that, at the end of their fiscal years, are current in their

Exchaﬁge Act reporting obligations? If so, why? If not, why not?

6 15 U.S.C. 78m(d) and (g).

" The provisions of Exchange Act Section 16 would apply to the options if the securities to be
issued upon exercise of the options are registered as a class of equity security under Section 12.

See 15 U.S.C. 78p and the rules promulgated thereunder. As a result, we do not believe it is
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Should the proposed exemption be available to issuers that are required to file |

reports under the Exchange Act solely pursuant to Section 15(d)? If so, why?

How would the exclusion from the proposed exemption affect issuers required to
file reports solely pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act? How many

issuers would be affected?

Should the proposed exemption be available to those issuers that are not required
to file Exchange Act reports but file such reports on a voluntary basis (also known

as “voluntary filers”) and, if so, why?

Should the proposed exemption apply only to the reporting obligations under
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and not to the application of other Exchange
Act provisions, such as the tender offer provisions of Section 13(e) and Section

14(e) of the Exchange Act? Please explain.

Is the use of the Securities Act Rule 701 definitions of eligible participants
appropriate for purposes of the proposed exemption? If not, what definitions
should be used to characterize the eligible optionholders? Should the eligible
optionholders only be those persons permitted to be offered and sold options

pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-8? If so, why?

necessary for compensatory employee stock options to be subject to Section 16 as a separate class
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e Should there be any restrictions on the transferability or ownership of the |
compensatory employee stock options, the shares received on exercise of those
options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those underlying those

options under the proposed exemption for reporting issuers?

C. Transition Provisions
The proposed exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for

compensatory employee stock options for private, non-reporting issuers would not affect

" the no-action relief from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration of compensatory

employee stock options that issuers have received from our Division of Corporation
Finance. While the existing no-action letters will remain unaffected by the proposed
exemption if adopted, issuers who have received such letters would b¢ able, of course, to
rely instead on the proposed exemption.

The proposed exemptions are self-executing. If the issuer becomes ineligible té
rely on an applicable proposed exemption, the issuer would be permitted up to 60
calendar days from the date it became ineligible to rely on the proposed exemption to file
a registration statement to register under Exchange Act Section 12(g) the class of
compensatory employee stock options or, in the case of a reporting issuer, the class of
equity security underiying such options.

Request for Coniment

¢ Do the proposed transition provisions of 60, calendar days provide enough time

for private, non-reporting and reporting issuers to comply with the Exchange Act

of equity security.
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Section 12 registration requirements upon the loss of an exemption for the
compensatory employee stock options? Should it be 30 calendar days? 90

calendar days? If not, what time frame should be provided and why?

e Should the proposed exemptions be exclusive exemptions for Section 12

registration of compensatory employee stock options?

D. General Request for Comment

We request and venclourage any interested person to submit comments on the
proposed exemptions and any other matters that might have an impact on the proposed
exemptions. With respect to any lcc;rnments, we note that such comments are of greatest
assistance to our rulemaking initiative if accompanied by supporting data and analysis of
‘the issues addressed in those commients. |
III. PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT ANALYSIS
A. Background

17! contain

Certain provisions of the proposed amendments to Rule 12h-
"collection of information" requirements within the meaning of the Paperwork Redliction
Act of 1995 ("PRA").72 We are submitting these to the Office of Management and
Budget (“OMB”) for review and approval in accordance with the PRA.”> An agency may

not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of

7 17 CFR 240.12h-1.
72 44 U.S.C. 3501 et. seq.
7 44 U.S.C. 3507(d) and 5 CFR 1320.11.
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information unless it displays a currently valid OMB contr01 number.‘ The title for this
information is: |
« Exchange Act Rule 12h-1.

The hours and costs associated with preparation of notices, maintaining Internet
sites, and preparation of information to be disclosed to optionholders and holders of
shares received on exercise of compensatory employee stock options for private; non-
reporting issuers relying on the proposed exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g)”
registration constitute cost burdens imposed by the collection of information. The
proposed exemption available to reporting issuers would not constitute new collections of
information. The proposed amendments would not affect existing collections of
information.

The proposed exemptions from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration would be
adopted pursuant to the Exchange Act. The information collection requirements felated
to the proposed exemption for private, non-reporting issuers would be a condition to .
reliance on the exemption. There is no mandatory retention period for the information
disclosed and the information disclosed is not required to be filed with the Commission.
B. Summary of Collection of Information

Our proposed amendments to Exchange Act Rule 12h-1 would provide an
exemption for private, non-reporting issuers from Exchange Act Section 12(g)
registration for compensatory employee stock options issued under employee stock
option plans. The proposed amendments also would provide an exemption from

Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options of

74 15 U.S.C. 781(g).
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issuers that have registered under Exchange Act Section 12 the class of equity security
underlying those options. |

The proposed requirements reéarding notice of information availability, Internet
availability of information, and, for certain issuers, the preparation of information related
to the proposed exemption from Exchange Act Section 12(g) for compensatory employee
sfock options of private, non-reporting issuers would, if adoptéd, constitute a new
collection of information under the Exchange Act. The proposed information provision
in the proposed exemption for private, non-reporting issuers would not be a new
collection of information for those private, non-reporting issuers that also are required to
provide such information to optionholders pursuant to Securities Act Rule 7017° or that
already prepare and provide such information to their shareholders.

The collection of information would be required for those private, non-reporting
issuers that rely on the proposed exemption because they had 500 or more optionhplders
and more than $10 million in assets at the end of their fiscal year. The issuers likely to
use the prbposed exemption would be those private, non-reporting issuers that had more
than $10 million in assets and had used stock options to compensate employees,
directors, .consultants, and advisors on a broad basis. The proposed exemption from
Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options of reporting issuers
tha.t have registered under Exchange Act Section 12(g) the class of equity security
underlying such options does not impose any new collection of information on these
reporting issuers.

C. Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Estimates

P 17.CFR 230.701.
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If the proposed exemption for private, non-reporting issuers is adopted, we

- estimate that the annual burden for responding to the collection of information in the

proposed exemption would not increase significantly for most private, non-reporting
issuers, due to the current disclosure provisions of Securities Act Rule 701 and the
probability that such issuers already prepare such information for other purposes. The
cdsts may increase for those private, non-reporting issuers who are not relying on
Securities .Act Rule 701 when they grant compensatory employee sthk options or who
do not prepare the informaﬁon for other purposes. The cost of providing such

information may increase because of the requirement in the proposed exemption for

private, non-reporting issuers to provide the required information. We seek comment on

the number of private, non-reporting'issuers that would rely on the proposed exemption

that already prepare the information required by the proposed exemption for other
purposes.

Our estimates represent the burden for private, non-reporting issuers eli gi‘ble to
rely on the proposed exemption. Because the registration provisions of Section 12(g)
apply only to an issuer with 500 or more holders of record of .a class of equity_sequn'ty
and assets in excess Qf $10 million at the. end of its most recently ended fiscal year, only
those private, non-reporting issuers satisfying those thresholds would be sﬁbj ect to the
collection of information. The Division of Corporation Finance has grante(i no-action
relief from registration of compensatory employee stock options to 30 private, non-
reporting issuers during.the period 1992 through 2006. If we assume that approximately
3 new private, non-reporting issuers would be relying on the proposed exemption each

year and that a certain number of private, non-reporting issuers will no longer be relying
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on the exemption because they have become reporting issuers, have been acquired, or
have terminated business, we estimate that approximately 40 private, non-reporting
issuers each year may be relying on the exemption. The proposed exemption for private,
non-reporting issuers would terminate once such issuer became subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act. Thus, the number of private, non—reporting issuers
that may rely on the proposed exemption may vary from year to year.

For purposes of the PRA, we estimate the annual paperwork burden for private,
non-reporting issuers desiring to rely on the proposed exemption and to comply with our
- proposed collection of information requirements to be approximately 20 hours of in-
house issuer personnel time and t§ be approximately $24,000 for the services of outside
professionals.”® These estimates include the time and the cost of preparing and reviewing -
the information and making the information available to optionholders and holders of
shares received on exercise of the options. We assume that the same number of private, -
non—reporting issuers wouid rely on the proposed exemption each year.

We estimate that 25% of the burden of preparation and provision of the
information required by the proposed exemption is carried by the issuer internally and
that 75% of the burden is carried by outside professionals retained by the i_ssuer at an
average cost of $400 per hour.”” The portion of the burden carried by outside
professionals is reflected as a cost, while the portion of the burden carried by the issuer

internally is reflected in hours. We request comment and supporting empirical data on -

76 For administrative convenience, the presentation of the totals related to the paperwork burden
hours have been rounded to the nearest whole number and the cost totals have been rounded to the
nearest hundred.

77 In connection with other recent rulemakings, we have had discussions with several private law

firms to estimate an hourly rate of $400 as the average cost of outside professionals that assist
issuers in preparing disclosures for offerings.
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the number of private, non-reporting issuers that would rely on thé proposed exemption
énd the burden and cost of preparing and providing the information required by the
proposed exemption.
D. Request for Comment
We request comment in order to evaluate the accuracy of our estimate of the
burden of the collections of information.ﬂ.g Any member of the public may direct to us
any comments concerning the accuracy of these burden estimates. Persons who desire to
submit comments on the collection of information requirements should direct their
comments to the OMB, Aftention: Desk Officer for the Securities and Exchange
Commission, Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Washingtbﬁ DC 20503, and
should send a copy of the comments to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Securities and
Exchange Commission, 100 F Street NE, Washington DC 20549-1090, with reference to
File Np. S7-14-07. Requests for materials submitted to the OMB by us with regard to
this collection of information should be in writing, refer to File No. S7-14-07, and be -
submitted to thé Sécurities and Exchange Commission, Office of Filings and Information
Services, Branch of Records Management, 6432 General Green Way, Alexandria, VA
22312. Because the OMB is required to make a decision concerning the collections of
information between 30 and 60 days after publication, your -comments are best assured of
having their full effect if the OMB receives them within 30 days of publication.
IV.  COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS

A. Background

78 Comments are requested pursuant to 44 U.S.C. 3506(c)(2)(B).
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Compensatory stock options provide a method to use non-cash compensation to
attract, retain, and motivate issuer employees, directors and consultants. Since the 1990s,
a number of private, non-reporting issuers have granted compensatory employee stock
options to 500 or more employees,.directors, and consultants. Compensatory employee
stock options also are used routinely by issuers required to report under the Exchange
Act.

Stock options, including stock options issued to employees under stock option
plans, are a separate class of equity security for purposes of the Exchange Act. Under
Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, an issﬁcr with 500 or more holders of record of a
class of equity security and assets in excess of $10 million at the end of its most recently
¢nded fiscal year must register that class of equity security, unless there is an available
exemption from registration. While there is an exemption from Exchange Act Section
12(g) registration for interests and participations in certain other types of employee
compensation plans involving securities, currently there is no exemption for
compensatory employee stock options.

B. Summary of Proposed Amendments

- We are proposing two exemptions from the registration provisions of Exchange

- Act Section 12(g) for compensatory employee stock options issued under employee stock

option plans that are limited to employees, directors, consultants, and advisors of the
issuer.

One proposed amendment to Rule 12h-1 would provide an exemption from
Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options of an

issuer that does not have a class of securities registered under Section 12 and is not
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. subject to the reporting requirements of Exchange Act Section 15(d), where the folIowing
conditions are present:
 Eligible optionholders are limited to employees, directors, consultants, and

advisors of the issuer;

o Transferability by optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of the
options of compensatory employee stock options, the shares received, or to be
received, on exercise of those options, and shares of the same class as those

underlying those options is restricted; and

e Risk and financial information is provided to optionholders and holders of shares
’ | received on exercise of those options that is of the type that would be required
under Rule 701 if securities sold in reliance on Rule 701 exceeded $5 million in a

12-month period.

The second proposed amendment to Exchange Act Rule 12h-1 would provide an
exemption for compensatory employee stock options of issuers that are required to ﬁle‘ )
reports under the Exchange Act because they have registered ﬁnder Exchange Act
Section 12 the class of equity security underlying those options.

1. Expected Benefits |

Benéﬁts of the proposed e’xembtion for private, non-reporting issuers are likely to
include the following: ‘(1) lower costs to, and reduced uncertainty for, private, non-
reporting issuers desiring relief from regisfration under Section 12(g) for compensatory

‘ . employee stock options issued to employees, directors, consultants, and advisors for
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compensatory purposes; (2) benefits to private, non-reporting issuers in designing and
implementing employée stock option plans without regard to concerns arising from
Exchange Section 12(g) registration of the compensatory employee stock options; (3)
benefits to private, non-reporting issuers arising from the use of electronic or Internet-
based methods of providing the information necessary to satisfy the information
requirement of the proposed exemption; and (4) benefits to optionholders and holders of
shares received on exercise of options of private, non-reporting issuers arising from the
required provision of infonﬁation under the proposed exemption.

Private, non-reporting issuers would benefit from cost savings as a result of the
proposed exemption from Section 12(g) registration of their compensatory employee -
stock options. A number of private, non-reporting issuers that have 500 or more
optionholders and assets in excess of $10 million have hired attorneys and requested no-
action relief from the Division o.f Corporation Finance with regard to the registration of
the options. The conditions to no;action relief from the Division include information
provision conditions that are more extensive than in the proposed exemption. The
proposed exemption, which would be self-executing if the provisions of the exemption
were satisfied, would reduce the legél and other costs to a private, non-reporting issuer
arising from the no-action request and relief. Such cost savings include reduced legal and
accounting fees arising from both the request for no-action relief and for preparation of
reports equivalent to Exchange Act reports of a reporting issuer on an ongoing basis.
Because we expect that a number of the issuers that may take advantage of the proposed

exemption may be smaller issuers, these cost savings could be significant relative to

revenues.
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The proposed amendments would require the same information that the issuer
otherwise would be required to provide if securities sold in reliance on Securities Act
Rule 701 exceeded $5 million during any consecutive 12-month period. Thus, for
private, non-reporting issuers with a significant number of optionholders (and with more
than $10 million in assets at the end of its fiscal year), it is likely that such issuer either
already is obligated to provide the same information to optionholders due to sales of
securities in reliance on Securities Act Rule 701, or already prepares and, as such,
provides such information to its shareholders. Further, any. private, non-reporting issuer
that has received no-action felief regarding registration of its compensatory employee
stock options will face reduced disclosure costs under the proposed exemption.

The proposed amendment also would benefit private, non-reporting issuers by
providing the less expensive alternative of electronic or Internet-based methods bf
providing the information necessary to satisfy the information requirement of the
proposed exemption.

Private, non-reporting issuers also would benefit from the certainty that the
proposed exemption would provide in designing and implementing comipensation
programs and employee stock option plans. The proposed amendments would identify
the eligibility provisions and transfer restﬁctions that wo.uld need to be contained in
compensatory stock option plans or agreements, thereby lessening the need for issuers, at
the time that Section 12(g) registration relief' is needed for th‘e compensatory erﬁployee
stock options, to amend their stock option plans and outstanding options to include

provisions that would be necessary to obtain no-action relief. The proposed exemption

would help private, non-reporting issuers avoid becoming subject to the registration and
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_reporting requirements of the Exchange Act prior to the time they héve public
shareholders.

Optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of options also would
benefit from the proposed exemption. The proposed exemption assures the provision of
the information, including financial information that is not more than 180 days old, to
optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of options. Employees,
directors, consultants, and advisors would benefit from the proposed exemption because
private, non-reporting issuers would be able to use options for compensatory purposes
without concern that the option grants would subject the issuer to Exchange Act
registration.

The proposed exemption for reporting issuers also would benefit optionholders
and holders of shares received on exercise of options. Optionholders and holders of
shares received on exercise of options would have access to the issuer’s publicly filed
Exchange Act reports. Further, certain provisions of Sections 13, 14, and 16 would apply
to the options and the securitiés issuable on exercise of the options. Holders of shares
issued on exercise of those options would have the same rights as other shareholders of
the issuer. Thus, the prdposed exemption eliminates épossible disincentive for issuers to
use certain compensatory empioyee stock options. This may be a benefit if this type of
compensation is useful in attracting and retaining qualified employees that increase the
issuer’s competitiveness.

2. Expected Costs
Issuers would be required to satisfy the provisions of the proposed amendments, if

adopted, to avoid registering under Section 12(g) their compensatory employee stock
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options if the registration thresholds are met at the end of the issuer’s fiscal year. Private,
non-reporting issuers may incur certain costs to rely on the proposed exemption including
(1) costs to amen.d their existing employee stock option plans if the plans and option
grants do not contain the restrictive and information provisions of the proposed
exemption; (2) costs arising from preparir.lg and providing the information required by the
proposed exemption to the extent that t.he issuer does not already prepare or provide such
information for other purposes; and (3) costs of maintaiﬁing an Internet site on which the
information may be available if the issuer chooses to use that method to provide the
required information to optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise éf
options.

We believe that the provisions of the proposed exemption are consistent in many
respects with the restrictive provisions of other laws and rules governing option grants
and, thus, the costs to private, nobn—reporting issuers should not be increased. The
proposed exemption provisions also are consistent with or are more flexible than the
existing conditions for obtaining no-action relief from the Division of Corporation
Finance. Therefore, the costs to private, non-reporting issuers to prepare the.information
réquired by the proposed exemption may be the same or léss than the current costs to the
issuer relying on registration relief provided in a no-action letter issued by the Division of
Corporation Finance.

Those private, non-reporting issuers who do notvalready prepare the required
information will face costs if they desire to avail themselves of the proposed exemption.

In addition to the costs discussed in the Paperwork Reduction Act Analysis,” as -

» See discussion under “PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT ANALYSIS,” above.
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~ described below, issuers may face costs in maintaining thé confidentiality of the
information required to be provided, including preparation and enforcement of
confidentiality agreements entered into with optionholders and holders of shares received
on exercise of options. It should be noted, however, that these increased costs would be
borne voluntarily, as it is within the issuer’s control as to the number of optionholders it
may have. Issuers would be able to perform their own cost-benefit analysis to determine
whether to comply with the conditions to the exemption dr avoid issuing options to 500
or more optionholders.

Private, non-reporting issuers may incur costs in providing the informatién
required under the exemption. These costs may include printing and sending the
information or making the information available on an Internet site. .We request
comment on the magnitude of these potential costs and whether there are any other
additional potential costs.

The Division of Corporation Finance has granted no-action relief from
registration of compensatory employee stock options to 30 private, non-reporting issuers
during the period 1992 througﬁ 2006. If we assume that approximately 3 new private, ,
non-reporting issuers would be relying on the proposed exemption each year and fhat a
certain number of private, non-reporting issuers will no longer be relying on the
exemption because they have become 'repvortin.g issuers, have been acquired, or have
terminated business, we estimate that approximately 40 private, non-reporting issuers
each year may be relying on the exemption. The proposéd exemption for pﬁvate, non-

reporting issuers would terminate once such issuer becameé subject to the reporting
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requirements of the Exchange Act. Thus, the number of private, non-reporting issuers
that may rely on the proposed exemption may vary from year to year.

For purposes of the Paperwork Reduétion Act, the Commission staff has
estimated that the annual paperwork burden for private, non-reporting issuers desiring to
rely on the proposed exemption and to comply with our proposed collection of
information requirements to be approximately 20 hours of in-house issuer personnel time,
which is equivalent to $3,500, and to be approximately $24,600 for the services of
outside professionals, for a total paperwork burden cost of $27,500.%° These estimates
include the time and the cost of preparing and reviewing the information and making the
information available to optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of the
options. The Commission staff assumed that the same number of private, non-reporting k
issuers would rely on the proposed exemption each year. The Commission staff
estimated that 25% of the burden of preparation and provision of the information required
by the proposed exemption would be carried by the private, non-reporting issuer
internally and that 75% of the burden would be carried by outside professionals retained
by the private, non-reporting issuer at an average cost of $400 per hour.®'

Althoﬁgh a private, non-reporting issuer relying on the proposed exemption
would benefit from cost savings associated with not having to register the compensatory

employee stock options as a separate class of equity security under the Exchange Act, or

80 For administrative convenience, the presentation of the totals related to the paperwork burden

hours have been rounded to the nearest whole number and the cost totals have been rounded to the
nearest hundred.

& In connection with other recent rulemakings, we have had discussions with several private law

firms to estimate an hourly rate of $400 as the average cost of outside professionals that assist
issuers in preparing disclosures and conducting registered offerings. Consistent with recent
rulemaking releases, we estimate the value of work performed by the company internally at a cost
of $175 per hour.
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obtaining no-action relief, by not doing so, an optionholder or holder of shares received
on exercise of an option would not have the benefit of the discloéu;res contained in
Exchange Act reports that the issuer otherwise would be obligated to file with us,
including audited financial statements, or the disclosures required to be provided under
the terms of the no-action relief. |

Optionholders and holdgrs of shares received on exercise of options also would
not be able to freely sell their options or shares received on exercise of such options while
the private, non-reporting issuer is relying on the proposed exemption. Optionholders
and holders of shares received on exercise of such options would not be aﬁle realize value
from the options or shares until after the private, non-reporting issuer becomes subject to
the reporting requirements bf the Exchange Act. Many private, non-reporting issuers that
grant options, however, currently restrict the transfer of securities held by holders of
shares received on exercise of options, in most cases until after the issuer becomes
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act or unless the issuer is acquired
by another entity. In some cases, private, non-reporting issuers retain the right to
brepurchase options or shares received on exercise of an option. Any exercise of such
repurchase right by the issuer would be a cost to such issuer.

Request for Comment

We request comment on the costs and benefits to optionholders, holders of shares
received on exercise of compensatory employee stock options, private, non-reporting
issuers, reporting issuers, and others who may be affected by the proposed exemptions in
Rule 12h-1. We request your views on the costs and beﬁeﬁts described above as well as

on any other costs and benefits that could result from adoption of the proposed
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exemptions. We also request data to quantify the costs and value of the benefits

identified.
V. CONSIDERATION OF IMPACT ON THE ECONOMY, BURDEN ON

COMPETITION AND PROMOTION OF EFFICIENCY, COMPETITION

AND CAPITAL FORMATION ANALYSIS

Section 23(a)(2)82'of the Exchange Act requires us, when adopting rules under the
Exchange Act, to consid;:r the impact that any new rule would have on competition. In
addition, Section 23(a)(2) prohibits ﬁs from adopting any rule that would impose a
burden on competition not necessary or appropriate in furtherance of the purposes of the
Exchange Act. We are proposiné an exemption for private, non-reporting issuers from
Exchaﬁge Act’ Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options issued
under employee stock option plans. We also are proposing an exemption from Exchange
‘Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options of issuers that
have registered under Exchange Act Section 12 the cléss of equity security underlying
those options.

We expect that the proposed exemption for private, non-reporting issuers from
Exchange Act registration of compensatory emplojree stock options will provide
necessary certainty to those issuers in their compensation decisions and will help them
avoid becoming subject to the registration and reporting requirements of the Exchange
Act prior to the time they have public shareholders. We anticipate that the exemption
would save such private, non-reporting issuers significant costs and would not require

that their confidential issuer information become public prior to the issuer voluntarily

determining to become a public reporting issuer. Further, we anticipate that the proposed

82 15 U.S.C. 78w(a)(2).
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exefnption would continue to provide private, non-reporting issuers freedom to determine
” appropriate methods of compensating fheir employees, directors, consultants, and
advisors without concemn that they would be required to register their compensatory
employee stock options as a class of equity sécurity under Exchange Act Section 12.
Thus, the proposed exemption eliminates a possible disincentive for issuers to use certain
compensatory employee stock options. This may be a benefit if this type of
compensation is useful in attracting and retaining qualified employees that increase the
private, non-reporting issuer’s competitiveness.

The proposed exemption for reporting issuers will provide certainty regarding the
obligations of issuers that already have registered under the Exchange Act the securities
 underlying compensatory employee stock options to register those options under the

Exchange Act. In addition, in the case of these reporting issuers, the optionholders would
have access to the issuer’s publicly filed Exchange Act reports and th¢ appropriate
‘provisions of Sections 13, 14, and 16 would apply to the compensatory employee stock
options'and the equify securities issuable on exercise of those options.
Section 3(f)83 of the Exchange Act requires us, when engaging in rulemaking that |
requires us to consider or determine whether an action is necessary or appropriate in the
| public interest, to consider, in addition to the protection of investors, whether the action
will promote efficiency, competition, and capital formation..

We anticipate that the proposed amendments, if adobted, would allow private,

noh—reporting issuers to continue to maintain the confidentiality of information regarding

their business and operations through the use of confidentiality agreements with

8 15 U.S.C. 78¢().

60



optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of the options. For issuers that
are voluntarily reporting under the Exchange Act or those reporting issuers that are
subject to Exchange Act reporting under Section 15(d), the proposed exemption from
Section 12(g) for compensatory employee stoc;k options would be ilnavailable and such
issuers would be required to register under Exchange Act Section 12 the class of equity
security underlying the options in order to take advantage of the proposed exemption.

We believe that the proposed exemption from Exchange Act registration for the
compensatory stock optioné may beneficially affect the issuer’s ability to compete for
employees because it will allow such issuers to continue to use employee sfock options in
their compensation programs, thus enabling them to compete for such emplbyees with
both private, non-reporting issuers and public reporting issuers. The proposed exemption
also will provide an eligible issuer a more efficient, self-executing exemption from
Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration of compensatory employee stock options,
instead of such issuer having to seek no-action relief.

The proposed exemptions do nof relate to or affect capital formation, as the
compensatory employee stock options covered by the proposed exemptions are issued for
compensatory and not capital raising purposes.

The proposed exemptions would allow eligible issuers to continue to have -
freedom to determine appropriate methods of compensating their employees, directors,
c-onsultants, and advisors. For private, non-reporting issuers, these compensation
decisions could be made without concern that the issuer would become subject to the

Exchange Act reporting requirements before they had public shareholders.

Request for Comment
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| We request comment on whether the proposed rule would impose a burden on
competition or whether it would promote efficiency, competition, and capital formation.
Commenters are requested to provide empirical data and other factual support for their
views if possible.
VL.  INITIAL REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ANALYSIS
This Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis has been prepared in accordance with
5U.S.C. 603. Itrelates to proposed amendments to Rule 12h-1 that would provide two
exemptions from the registration provisions of Exchange Act Section 12(g) for
cdmpensatofy employee stock options issued under employee stock option plans that are
llimi>ted to employees, directors, consultants, and advisors of the issuer, its parents, and
the majority-owned subsidiaries of the issuer or its parents. |
A. Reasons for the Proposed Action
Compensatory stock options provide a method to use non-cash compensation to
attract, retain, and motivate issuer employees, directors 'an_d consultants. Since the 1990s,
a number of private, non-reportipg issuers have granted compensatory employee stock
options to 500 or more employees, directors, and consultants. Compensatory employee
stock options routinely are used by issuers required to report under the Exchange Act as

well.

Stock options, including stock options issued to employees under stock option
plans, are a separate class of equity security for purposes of the Exchange Act. Under
| Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, an issuer with 500 or more holders of record of a
class of equity security and assets in excess of $10 million at the end of its most recently

ended fiscal year must register that class of equity security, unless there is an available
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exemption from registration. While there is an exemption from Section 12(g) registration
for interests and participations in certain other types of employee compensation plans
involving securities, currently there is no exemption for compensatory employee stock
options:

B.  Objectives

The primary objective of the proposed amendments is to provide two exemptions
from Exchange Act Section 12(g) registration for compensatory employee stock options.
One proposed exemption would be for compensatory employee stock options of issuers
that do not have a class of securities registered under Section 12 and are not subject to the
reporting requirements of Exchange Act Section 15(d). The second proposed exemption
would be for compensatory employee stock options of issuers that are required to file
reports under the Exchange Act because they have registered under Exchange Act
Section 12 the class of equity security underlying those options.

Codifying an exemption from registration for compensatory employee stock
options will provide necessary certainty to issuers in their compensation decisions and
will help private non-reporting issuers avoid becoming subject to the régistration and
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act prior to the time they have public
shareholders. For reporting issuers that have registered under Sectioﬁ 12 the class of
security underlying the compensatory employee stock options, we believe the proposed
exemption of compensatory employee stock options from Exchange Act registration is
approiariate because the optionholders would have access to the issuer’s publicly filed
Exchange Act reports and the appropriate provisions of Sections 13, 14, and 16 would

apply to the compensatory employee stock options and the equity securities issuable on
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exercise of those options. The proposed exemptions would allow private, non-reporting
issuers, as well as reporting issuers, to continue to reward and retain employees with the
issuers’ securities.
C. Legal Basis
| We are proposing the amendments to Rule 12h-1 under the authority set forth in

Sections 12,% 23,3 and 36% of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
D. Small Entities Subject to the Proposed Rules

The proposed exemptions would not affect issuers that are small entities.
Exchange Act Rule 0-10(a)®” defines an issuer to be a “small business” or “small
organization” for purposes of the Regulatory Flexibility Act if it had total assets of $5
million or less on the last day of its most recent fiscal year. The registration requirements
of Section 12(g) arise only if an issuer has more than $10 million in assets and has 500 or
more holders of a class of equity security at the end of its most recently ended fiscal year.
Small entities do not satisfy the asset threshold of Section 12(g) and therefore the
proposed exemptions would not be needed by such entities until their asset size increased
to more than $10 million at the end of a fiscal year.

Because the registration requirements of Section 12(g) are not implicated unless
an entity has asséts in excess of $10 million at the end of a fiscal year, we conclude that
there are not a large number of small entities that may be impacted. We request comment

on this conclusion, including any available empirical data. -

8 15U.S.C. 781

8 15U.S.C. 78w.

86 15U.S.C. 78mm.

87 17 CFR 240.0-10(a).
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E. Reporting, Reéordkeeping and Other Compliance Requirements

The proposed exemptions would not affect small entities. The proposed
amendments would require the same information that the issuer otherwise would be
required to provide if securities sold in reliance on Securities Act Rule 701 exceeded $5
million during any consecutive 12-month period. Thus, for private, non-reporting issuers
with a significant number of ;>ptionholders (and with more than $10 million in assets at
the end of its fiscal year), it is likely that such issuer either already is obligated to provide
the same information to optionholders due to sales of securities in reliance on Securities
Act Rule 701 or alrcady prepares and provides such information to its shareholders.
F. Duplicative, Overlapping or Conflicting Federal Rules

We believe that there are no rules that conflict with or duplicate the proposed
amendments to Exchange Act Rule 12h-1.
G. Significant Alternatives

The Regulatory Flexibility Act directs us to consider significant alternatives tﬁat
would accomplish the stated objective, while ininimizing any significant adverse impact
on small entities. Insofar as the amendments only apply to entities that are subject to
Section 12(g) registration with regard to a class of equity securify and, therefore, do not
apply to small entities, we did not consider any alternatives to the proposed amendments
specifically with respect to small entities. In connection with the proposed exemptions,
we considered alternatives related to the scope of issuers eligible for the exemption, the
information required to be provided, and transfer restrictions on the options an& shares
issuable on exercise of the options.

H. Request for Comment -
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We encourage the submission of comments with respect to any aspect of this

. Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis. Commenters are asked to describe the nature of

any impact and provide empirical data supporting the extent of any impact on small
entities. Suéh comments will be considered in the preparation of the Final Regulatory
Flexibility Analysis, if the proposed amendments are adopted, and will be placed in the
same public file as comments on the proposed amendments.
VII. SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY ENFORCEMENT FAIRNESS ACT.
For purposes of the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of

199688 (“SBREFA”), arule is “major” if it has resulted, or is likely to result in:

e An annual effect on the economy of $100 million or more;

¢ A major increase in costs or prices for consumers or individual industries; or

¢ Significant adverse effects on competition, investment or innovation.
We request comment on whether oﬁr proposed ¢xemptions would be a “major rule” for
purposes of SBREFA. We solicit comment and empiricél data on:

e The potehtial effect on the U.S.v economy on an annual basis;

¢ Any potential increase in costs or prices for consumers or individual industries;
and

¢ Any potential effect on competition, investment or innovation.
VIII. STATUTORY BASIS AND TEXT OF PROPOSED RULE AMENDMENTS
We are proposing to amend Exchange Act Rule 12h-1 under the authority in
Sections 12, 23, and 36 of the Securities Exchangé Act of 1934, as amended.

List of Subjects

8 Pub. L. 104-121, Title II, 110 Stat. 857 (1996).
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17 CFR Part 240

Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Securities.

TEXT OF PROPOSED RULE

For the reasons set out in the preamble, we propose to amend Title 17, Chapter II of the
Code of Federal Regulations as follows:

PART 240 - GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS, SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 193;1

1. The autﬁority citation for Part 240 continues to.read in part as follows:
Authority: 15 U.S8.C. 77¢c, 77d, 77g, 775, 77s, 172-2, 772-3, T7eee, 77ggg, 77nnn, 77sss,
77ttt, 78c, 78d, 78e, 781, 78g, 78i, 78], 78j-1, 78k, 78k-1, 781, 78m, 78n, 780, 78p, 78q,
785, 78u-5, 78w, 78x, 7811, 78mm, 80a-20, 80a-23, 80a-29, 80a-37, 80b-3, 80b-4, 80b-11,
and 720.1 et seq.; and 18 U.S.C. 1350, unless otherwise noted.

2. Amend §240.12h-1 to add paragraphs (f) and (g) to read as follows:

§240.12h-1 Exemptions from registration under section 12(g) of the Act

* * * * *

(H)(1) Stock options issued under written compensatory stock option plans of an
issuer under the following conditions:

) The issuer of the stock options does not have a class of security registered
under section 12 of the Act and is not required to file reports pursuant to section 15(d) of
the Act;

(i)  The stock options have been issued by the issuer pursuant to bne or more
written compensatory stock option plans establisﬁed by the issuer, its parents, its

majority-owned subsidiaries or majority-owned subsidiaries of the issuer’s parents;

67



Note to paragraph (f)(1)(i1): All stock options issued under all of the issuer’s

written compensatory stock option plans on the_séme class of equity security will be
considered part of the same class of equity security for purposes of the provisions of this
section.

(iii)  The stock options are held .only by those persons described in Rule 701(c)
under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.701(c));

(iv)  The stock options and the shares issuable upon exércise of such stock
options are restricted as to transfer by the optionholder or holder of the shares received on
- exercise of the option other than to persons who are family members (as defined in Rule
701(¢)(3) under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.701(c)(3)) through gifts or domestic
relations orders, or to an executor or guardian of the optionholder or holder of shares
received on exercise of such stock option upon the death or disability of the optionholder
or holder of shares, until the issuer becomes subject to the reporting requirements of
section 13 or 15(d) of the Act; provided that the optionholder or holder .Of shares may
transfer the options or shares to the issuer (or its designated affiliate if the issuer is unable

to repurchase the options or shares) if applicable law prohibits a restriction on transfer;

Note té paragraph ((1)(iv): For purposes of this section, optionholders and
holders of shares received on exércise of an option may include ény permitted transferee
under paragraph (f)(1)(iv) of this section; provided that such permitted transferees may
not further transfer the stock options or shares issuable upon eXeréisve of such stock
options; |

) The stock options, the shares issuable upon exercise of such stock options,

and shares of the same class of equity security as those underlying the options are

68



restricted as to any pledge, hypothecation, or other transfer, including any short position,
any “put equivalent position” (as defined in §240.16>a—1(h) of this chapter), or any “call
equivalent position” (as defined in §240.16a-1(b) of this chapter) by the optionholder or
holder of shares received on exercise of an option, except as permitted in paragraph
(H)(1)(iv) of this section, until the issuer becomes subj ect to the reporting requirements of
section 13 or 15(d) of the Act;

(vi)  There caﬁ be no market or available process or methodology that permits
an optionholder or holder of shares received on exercise of an option to receive any
consideration or compensation for the options, the shares issuable on exercise of the
options, or shares of the same class of equity security as those underlying the options,
except as permitted in paragraph (f)(1)(iv) of t_his section, until the issuer becomes subject
to the reporting requirements éf section 13 or 15(d) of the Act ;

Note to paragraphs (f)(1)(iv). (D(1)(v), and (f)(1)(vi):  The transferability

restrictions in paragraphs (f)(1)(iv), (f)(1)(v), and (f)(1)(vi) of this sectiqn must be
contained in either the written compensatory stock option plan, individual written
compensatory stock option agreement, or other stock purchase or stockholder agreement
to which the issuer and the optionholder. or holder of shares are a signatory or party, or in
the issuer’s by-laws, certificate of incorporation; and

(vii) The issuer has agreed in the written compensatory stock option plan or the
individual written compensatory stock option agreement to provide the following
information to optionholders and holders of shares received on exercise of an option until

the issuer becomes subject to the reporting requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the Act:
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(A)  The information described in Rules 701(e)(3), (4), and (5) under the
Securities Act (17 CFR 230.701(e)(3),A (4), and (5)), with such information provided
either by physical or electronic delivery to the optionholders and holders of shares
received on exercise of an option or by written notice to the optionholders and holders of
shares received on exercise of an option of the availability of the information on a
password-protected Internet site and of any password needed to access the information;
and |

(B)  Access to the issuer’s books and records, including corporate governance
documents, to the same extent that they are available to other shareholders of the issuer.

Note to paragraph (f)(1)(vii): The issuer may request that the optionholder or

holder of shares received on exercise of an option agree to keep the information to be
provided pursuant to this section confidential. If an optionholder or holder of shares
received on exercise of an option does not agree to keep the information to be provided
pursuant to this section confidential, then the issuer is not required to provide the
information; provided, that the issuer must then allow the optionholder or holder of
shares received on exercise of an option to inspect the information and documents at one
of the issuer’s offices that is at or near where the optionholder or holder of shares
received on exercise of an option is or was employed or retained by the issuer.

(2) If the exemption provided by paragraph (f)(1) of this section ceases to be
available; the issuer of the compensatory stock options that is relying on the exemption *
providéd by this section must file a registration statement to register the class of options
under section 12 of the Act within 60 calendar days after the conditions in paragraph

(H(1) of this section are no longer satisfied.
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(g) (1) Stock options issued under written compensatory stock option plans of an
issuer under the following conditions:

(i) The issuer of the stock options has registered the class of equity security
issuable on exercise of the options under section 12 of the Act;

(1) The stock options have been issued by the issuer pursuant to one or more
written compensatory stock option plahs established by the issuer, its parents, its
majority-owned subsidiaries or majority-owned subsidiaries of the issuer’s parents;

Note to paragraph (g)(1)(ii): All stock options issued under all of the issuer’s

written compensatory stock option plans on the same class of equity security will be
considered part of the same class of equity security for purposes of the provisions of this
section; and
(i)  The stock options are held only by those persons described in Rule 701(c)
under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.701(c)).
| 2) If the exemption proVided by paragraph (g)(1) of this section ceases to be
available, the issuer of the compensatory stock options that is relying on the exemption

provided by this section must file a registration statement to register the class of options

- or the class of equity security issuable on exercise of the options under section 12 of the

Act within 60 calendar days after the conditions in paragraph (g)(1) of this section are no

longer satisfied. —
A)Btm crn A MA;Q_ ’

By the Commission.
Nancy M. Morris

Secretary

July 5, 2007
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SECiJRITIES AND EXCHANGE COMﬁISSION

17 CFR PARTS 210, 228, 229, 230, 239, 240, 249, 260, and 269
RELEASE NOS. 33-8819; 34-56013;'39-2447; FILE NO. S7-15-07
RIN 3235-AJ86 | |

SMALLER REPORTING COMPANY REGULATORY RELIEF AND
SIMPLIFICATION

AGENCY: Securities and Exchange Commission.

ACTiON: Proposed amendments.

SUMMARY: The Securities and Exchange Commission is proposing rule amendments relating
to our disclosure and reporting requirements for smaller companies under the Securities Act of
1933 énd the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We 'propose to extend the beneﬁ;s of our current
optiorllal disclosure and reporting requirements for smaller companies to a much larger group of
compifinies. The proposals would allow companies with a public float of less than $75 million to
qualify for the smaller company requirements, up from $25 million for most companies today.
The proposals also would combine for most purposes the “small business issuer” and
“non—;ccelerated filer” categories of smaller companies into a single category of “smaller
reporting companies.” In addition, the proposals would maintain the current disclosure

_ requir;ements for smaller companies contained in Regulation S-B, but integrate them into
Regufation S-K. We alsov are soliciting suggestions for additional ways in which we could better
scale our disclosure and reporting requirements to the needs of smaller reporting companies and
their ili‘lVCStOI'S.

DATES: Comments should be received on or before [insert date 60 days after publication in the

Federal Register].

ADDRESSES: Comments may be submitted by any of the following methods:

1 bchmzrt\—S\O{‘SC]

Electronic Comments:



e Use the Commission’s Internet comment form

(http://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed.shtml);

e . Send an e-mail to rule—.comments(a)sec.ggv. Please include File Number S7-15-07 on the

subject line; or

e Use the Federal Rulemaking Portal (http://www.regulations.gov). Follow the instructions

for submitting comments.

Paper Comments:

| . Send paper comments in triplicate to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Securities and
Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090.
All submissions should refer to File Number S7-15-07. This file number should be included on the
subject line if e-mail is used. To help us process and review your comments more efficiently,
please use only one method. The Commission will post all comments on the Commission’s Internet

Web site (http://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed.shtml). Comments are also available for public

inspéction and copying in the Commission’s Public Reference Room, 100 F Street, NE,
‘Washington, DC 20549, on official business days between the hours of 10:00 am and 3:00 pm. All
comments received will be posted without change; we do not edit personal identifying information
from submissions. You should submit only information that you wish to make available publicly.
F OR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Gerald J. Laporte, Chief, Kevin M. O’Neill,

|
Special Counsel, or Johanna Vega Losert, Attorney-Advisor, Office of Small Business Policy,

“Division of Corporation Finance, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, NE,

Washington, DC 20549-3628, (202) 551-3460.
|

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: We propose amendments to Regulation S-K,' and

1 17 CFR 229.10-229.1123.



rulesland forms under the Securities Act of 1 933, Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Trust
Indelémrg Actof1939.% In Regulation S-K, we propose to amend Items 10, 101, 201, 301, 302,
303, 305, 401, 402, 404, 407, 503, 504, 512, 601, 701, and 1118.° We propose to add a neW Item
310 to Regulation S-K. We propose to amend Securities Act Rules 110, 138, 139, 158, 175, 405,
415, 428, 430B, 430C, 455, and 502.% Further, we propose to repeal Regulation S-B’ and
eliminate the forms associated with it, which include Forms SB-1, SB-2, IO—SB, 10-QSB, and
IO—KISB.8 We propose to amend Securities Act Forms 0-1, S-1, S-3, S-4, S-8, S-11, 1-A, and
F-X.° We also propose to amend Exchange Act Rules 0-2, 0-12, 3b-6, 10A-1, 10A-3, 12b-2,
12b-i23, 12b-25, 12h-3, 13a-10, 13a-13, 13a-14, 13a-16, 13a-20, 14a-3, 14a-5, 14a-8, 14c-3,
14d-3, 15d-10, 15d-13, 15d-14, 15d-20, and 15d-21'"° and Exchange Act Forms 0-1, 8-A, 8-K,
10, IEO-Q, 10-K, 11-K, 20-F, and SE.' We also propose to amend Schedules 14A and 14C."
Under Regulation S-X,'* we propose to amend Rules 210.3-01, 210.3-10, 210.3-12, 210.3-14,

210.4-01, and 210.10-01.'* Finally, we propose to amend Trust Indenture Act Rules 0-11, 4d-9,

2 15U.S.C. 77aet seq.
*. 15U.S.C. 78a et seq.

15 U.S.C. 77aaa et seq.

5 17 CFR 229.10, 229.101, 229.201, 229.301, 229.302, 229.303, 229.305, 229.401, 229.402, 229.404, 229.407,
229.503,229.504, 229.512, 229.601, 229.701, and 229.1118.

¢ 17 CFR 230.110, 230.138, 230.139, 230.158, 230.175, 230.405, 230.415, 230.428, 230.430B, 230.430C,
230.455, and 230.502.

7 17 CFR 228.10-228.703.
¥ 17 CFR 239.9, 239.10, 249.210b, 249.308b, and 249.310b.
® 17 CFR 239.0-1, 239.11, 239.13, 239.25, 239.16b, 239.18, 239.90, and 239.42.

%17 CFR 240.0-2, 240.0-12, 240.3b-6, 240.10A-1, 240.10A-3, 240.12b-2, 240.12b-23, 240.12b-25, 240.12h-3,
240.13a-10, 240.13a-13, 240.13a-14, 240.13a-16, 240.13a-20, 240.14a-3, 240.14a-5, 240.14a-8, 240.14c-3,
240.14d-3, 240.15d-10, 240.15d-13, 240.15d-14, 240.15d-20, and 240.15d-21.

1" 17 CFR 249.0-1, 249.208a, 249.210, 249.308, 249.308a, 239.310, 249.311, 249.220f, and 249.444.
1217 CFR 240.14a-101 and 240.14¢-101.
3 17 CFR 210.3-01-210.12-29.

14 17 CFR 210.3-01, 210.3-10, 210.3-12, 210.3-14, 210.4-01, and 210.10-01.
3



. 10a-5,"° and § 269.0-1 of the Trust Indenture Act Forms.'®

‘ 517 CFR 260.0-11, 260.4d-9, and 260.10a-5.
6 17 CFR 269.0-1.
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| Background

Since the federal securities laws were first enacted, the Commission has made special
efforts not to subject smaller éompanies and their investors to unduly burdensome federal
securities regulation.'” This special concern for small business in part reflects recognition of the
special role that small business historically has played as a driver of economic activity,
innovation, and job creation in the United States. In March 2005, we chartered the Advisory
Committee on Smaller Public Companies and asked that panel to assess the current regulatory
system for smaller companies under the federal securities laws and to recommend changes to that
system.' ¥ The major proposals we are making in this release stem from the Advisory
Committee’s recommendations.

Our rules currently include two major categories of smaller companies — “small business
issuers” and “non-accelerated filers” — for purposes of scaling our disclosure and reporting
requirements to the needs of smaller companies and their investors. These two categories of
smaller companies are defined as follows:

« “Small business issuers” essentially are companies with both a public float and revenues
of less than $25 million. Of the 11,898 companies that filed annual reports under the

Exchange Act in 2006, 3,749 had a public float of less than $25 million."

. “Non-accelerated filers” are companies that do not qualify as “large accelerated filers” or

7" See SEC Advisory Committee on Smaller Public Companies, Final Report 20-21 (2006) (“Advisory Committee

Final Report”), available at http://www.sec.gov/info/smallbus/acspc.shtm].

See Advisory Committee Final Report 1, App. B (Advisory Committee Charter).

¥ Of these 11,898 filers, 3,395 filed a Form 10-KSB, the annual report filed by small business issuers. We
determined that there were an additional 354 filers with a public float of less than $25 million that did not file a
Form 10-KSB because they opted to use Form 10-K, the form prescribed for most larger companies, instead.
We have not attempted to provide information on companies with revenues of less than $25 million because, as
discussed below, we propose to eliminate the revenue test for purposes of the primary determination of whether
smaller companies qualify for scaled regulation under our disclosure requirements.
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“accelerated filers” under our rules.”’ Non-accelerated filers essentially are companies
with a public float of less than $75 million. Of the 11,898 companies that filed annual
reports under the Exchange Act in 2006, 4,976 had a public float of less than $75
million.”"

The scaled disclosure and reporting requirements available to these smaller companies

apply to companies filing registration statements covering offerings of securities under the

Securities Act and companies required to file annual and other reports under Exchange Act

Sections 13 and 15(d).22

“Small business issuers” are eligible to make required disclosures based on the

requirements in Regulation S-B,?* which sets forth disclosure standards for small business

issuers that must file documents with the Commission under the Securities Act, Exchange Act, or

Trust Indenture Act. In most cases, small business issuers may make disclosures based on

Regulation S-B only if they use one of the forms we have designated with the letters “SB” —

Form 10-SB, Form 10-QSB, Form 10-KSB, Form SB¥1, and Form SB-2. One of the most

importanf provisions of Regulation S-B is Item 310, which governs the form, content, and

preparation of financial statements for companies that provide disclosure pursuant to Regulation

S-B. The requirements in Item 310 of Regulation S-B are less detailed than the requirements in

Regulation S-X, the regulation that governs the financial statements of most companies that do

not rely on Regulation S-B. Regulation S-B also contains a number of disclosure requirements

20

21

22

23

The terms “large accelerated filer” and “accelerated filer” are defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 (17 CFR
240.12b-2). . '

Statistics are based on 2006 data from the Commission’s computerized filing system and Thomson Financial
(Datastream). Datastream data includes all registered public firms trading on the New York Stock Exchange, the
American Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq, the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, and the Pink Sheets and excludes
closed end funds, exchange traded funds, American depository receipts, and direct foreign listings.

15 U.S.C. 78m and 15 U.S.C. 780(d).
The term “small business issuer” is defined in Item 10(a)(1) of Regulation S-B (17 CFR 228.10(a)(1)), among
other places. The Commission adopted Regulation S-B in 1992, See Release No. 33-6949 (July 30, 1992) [57
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that are scaled to the characteristics of smaller companies, including requirements on executive
compensation, related person transactions, and management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results or plan of operation.zr4

Smaller companies qualifying as “non-accelerated filers” may file their annual reports no
later than 90 days after fiscal year end and their quarterly reports no later than 45 daysAaﬁer the
end of each fiscal quarter.”” This contrasts with the 60-day and 75-day deadlines for the annual
reports of large accelerated filers and accelerated filers, respectively, and the 40-day deadline for
qﬁarterly reports of those larger companies. Non-accelerated filers also are treated differently
with regard to the compliance dates applicable to the internal control over financial reporting
provisions in Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.%

Our proposals héve three primary objectives, each of §vhich is consistent with investor
protection:

- Expanding eligibility for our scaled disclosure and reporting requirements for smaller
companies by making those requirements available to most companies with a public float
of less than $75 million;

« Simplifying our rules for smaller companies by combining the two categories of small
business issuers and non-accelerated filers into one category called “smaller reporting

companies;” and

FR 36442].

4 . . . . . .
" For a more complete survey of the disclosure requirements for small business issuers in Regulation S-B, see

Section I1.B.2 below.
»  See Release No. 33-8644 (Dec. 21, 2005) [70 FR 76626).

2% Pub. L No. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745 (July 30, 2002); see also Release No. 33-8760 (Dec. 15, 2006) [71 FR
76580).



Simplifying and improving our disclosure and reporting rules for smaller companies by
maintaining the Regulation S-B disclosure requirements for smaller companies but
integrating them into the disclosure requirements in Regulation S-K.

The Advisory Committee on Smaller Public Compaﬁies addressed these objectives in the

following recommendations:

+ Recommendation I1.P.1: Establish a new system of scaled or proportional securities

regulation for smaller public companies using the following six determinants to define a
“smaller public company”:

o the total market capitalization of the company;

© ameasurement metric that facilitates scaling of regulation;

o ameasurement metric that is self-calibrating;

o a standardized measurement and methodology for computing market capitalization;
o adate for determining total market capitalization; and

o clear and firm transition rules, i.e., small to lafge and large to small.

Develop specific scaled or proportional regulation for companies under the system if they
qualify as “microcap companies” because their equity market capitalization places them
in the lowest 1% of total U.S. equity market capitalization or as “smallcap Companies”
because their equity market capitalization places them in the next lowest 1% to 5% of
total U.S. equity market capitalization, with the result that all companies comprising the
7

lowest 6% would be considered for scaled or proportional regulation;”

Recommendation IV.P.1: Incorporate the scaled disclosure accommodations currently

available to small business issuers under Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K, make them

27

See Advisory Committee Final Report 14-22.



available to all microcap companies, and cease prescribing separate specialized
disclosure forms for smaller companies;*® and -

. Recommendation IV.P.2: Incorporate the primary scaled financial statement

accommodations currently available to small business issuers under Regulation S-B into
Regulation S-K or Regulation S-X and make them available to all microcap and smallcap
companies.29

It has been maintained that regulation and disclosure standards are proportional when
compliance requirements are flexible enough to be modified and scaled according to the size,
resources, operations, and financial complexities of the reporting company without sacrificing
investor protection.® We believe that our proposals meet this standard. We also believe these
proposals maintain investor protection while providing greater capital formation opportunities
for smaller reporting coﬁpanies and encouréging more robust smaller company participation in
the United States capital markets.
II. Explanation of Proposals

The proposals that we publish for comment today would simplify, and increase
significantly the number of companies eligible for our scaled disclosure and réporting tules for
smaller reporting companies, consistent with investor protection. Our proposals largely would

implement several of the recommendations of our Advisory Committee on Smaller Public

Companies in these areas.

% See Advisory Committee Final Report 60-64.

»  See Advisory Committee Final Report 65-68.

¥ See generally C. Steven Bradford, Does Size Matter? An Economic Analysis of Small Business Exemptions
from Regulation, 8 J. Small & Emerging Bus. L. 1, 2 (1999) (providing an economic analysis of costs and
benefits associated with small business exemptions).
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A. Expanding Eligibility for Smaller Company Scaled Regulation

The proposals would expand the availability of our disclosure and reporting requirements
for smaller companies to most companies with a public float of less than $75 million.' We are
proposing a new term — “smaller reporting company” — to replace the term “small business

kb

issuer” and proposing to make évailable to these “smaller reporting companies 32 the disclosure
apd reporting standards that we make available to small business issuers and most
non-accelerated filers.> Our proposals would provide further regulatory simplification and relief
for smaller reporting companies by integrating into Regulation S-K the salient “small business
issuer” disclosure requirements currently found in Regulation S-B. Finaliy, our proposals would
eliminate all “SB” forms associated with Regulation S-B.
1. Quantitative Standards in the Proposed Definition of “Smaller Reporting
‘ Company”
a. Proposed Standard
The smaller reporting'company definition would include a public float eligibility ceiling
of $75 million for most companies. Other companies, for example, companies that do not have a

public float as defined or are unable to calculate it, would be eligible for scaled treatment if their

revenues are below $50 million annually.>* At present, 3,395 reporting companies use our

' See proposed Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. We propose to continue to exclude investment companies and

asset-backed issuers from eligibility for scaled reporting and disclosure regulation.

32 The definition would replace the almost identical definitions of the term “small business issuer” in Securities

Act Rule 405 and Exchange Act Rule 12b-2. We also would insert the new definition as a new paragraph in
Item 10(f) of Regulation S-K.

> Under our proposals, we would continue to use the term “non-accelerated filer” to refer to companies that are

not subject to our accelerated filing requirements for their annual and quarterly reports under the Exchange Act
‘ and are currently eligible to use different compliance dates applicable to internal control over financial reporting
and different periodic report deadlines.

*  See proposed Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K.
11



current scaled disclosure and reporting requirements for smaller companies.® If the proposals
aré adopted, a total 0of 4,976 companies would .be eligible to use the scaled disclosure item
requirements. The 4,976 eligible companies represent 42% of the 11,898 companies that filed
annual reports under the Exchange Act in 2006.*

The term “smaller reporting company” would replace the term “small business issuer,”
which defines the companies eligible currently to use the Regulation S-B disclosure
requirements.3 " The proposed definition of smaller reporting company also would include most
non-accelerated filers, which generally are those filers with a public float of less than $75
million.*® Non-accelerated filers are the companies currently eligible to use different compliance
dates applicable to internal control over financial reporting and different periodic report
deadlines. By using the same term to refer to both current groups of companies, we would
effectively combine the two groups of scaled requirements into a single group — companies with
a public float of less than $75 million, or revenues below $50 million if their public float cannot
be calculated. As proposed, the $75 million and $50 million ceilings would be adjusted for
inflation on September 1, 2012, and every fifth year thereafter, to reflect any chénges in the
value of the Personal Consumption Expenditﬁres Chain-Type Price Index (PCECTP Index) (or
any successor index thereto), as published by the Department of Commerce,. from December 31,

2006.%°

3% See footnote 19 above.

% See footnote 21 above.

31 See Item 10(a)(1) of Regulation S-B, Securities Act Rule 405, and Exchange Act Rule 12b-2.

3% Although the term “non-accelerated filer” is not defined in our rules, we allude to it in Exchange Act Rule

12b-2 and have used it throughout several releases to refer to an Exchange Act reporting company that does not
meet the Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 definitions of either an “accelerated filer” or a “large accelerated filer.” See
Release No. 33-8760 n.15 (Dec. 15, 2006) [71 FR 76580].

% Each adjustment would be rounded to the nearest multiple of $5,000,000. We propose to use the PCECTP
Index because it is a widely used and broad indicator of inflation in the U.S. economy.
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We propose to set the initial ceiling for smaller reporting companies at $75 million in
public float because we now have several rules using the $75 million public float metric to
distinguish smaller companies. In addition to the use of this public float metric in the definition
of accelerated filer, the $75 million public float requirement is used to determine expanded
eligibility in Form S-3 and Form F-3.* Further, i‘ssuers are required to provide their public float
on the cover page of their Exchange Act annual reports.

Our proposed definition of “smaller reporting company” does not include a revenue test |
for most companies. While our current definition of “small business issuer” includes a revenue
standard, the classification of an issuer as a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or (by
default) a non-accelerated filer does not involve a revenue standard.v We chose not to propose a
revenue standard to qualify for “smaller reporting company” status for most companies to
provide greater simplicity, consistency, and certainty.

While our proposed definition of “smallef reporting company” does not generally apply a
revenue standard, where an issuer has no common equity public float or market price, \.ve
propose a revenue test.*' If an issuer has no common equity public float or market price and it
has reported annual revenues of less than $50 million in the most recently completed fiscal year
for which audited financial statements are available, then it would qualify initially for scaled
regulation as a smaller reporting company for the fiscal year in which it files a registration
statement under the Securities Act or Exchange Act with the Commission as a smaller reporting

company. ¥

4017 CFR 239.33 and 239.13.

*'' An issuer may have no public float or market price because it has no significant public equity outstanding or no

public market for its equity. For example, a company with only debt publicly outstanding would use the
revenue test.

* The issuer would refer to its most recently audited financial statements available at the time it files with the

Commission as a smaller reporting company.
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As proposed, the determination date for calculating a company’s public float to establish
eligibility for smaller reporting company status would be the same date used ‘to determine
accelerated filer status today — the last business day of a company’s second fiscal quarter.* The
public float of a reporting company would be calculated by using the price at which the shares of
its common equity were last sold or the average of the bid and asked prices of sﬁch shares in the
principal market for the shares as of the last business day of the company’s second»ﬁscal quarter,
multiplied by the number of outstanding shares held by non-afﬁlviates.44

With regafd to a Securities Act registration statement for an initial public offering of
common equity securities, however, a company would calculate its public float as of a date
within 30 days of the date it files the initial registration statement. These companies would
compute public float by multiplying the aggregate worldwide number of such shares held by
non-affiliates before the offering plus the number of such shares included in the registration
statement by the estimated public offering price of the shares.*> The pfoposed method of
calculating public float with regard to a Securities Act registration statement for an initial public |
offering would operate consistently with the following example:

« Company X has 50,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding;

. Company X has 25,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding that are held by non-
affiliates;

. Company X files a Securities Act registration statement for its initial public offering — in
that registration statement, Company X registers 7,000,000 shares of common stock to be

sold at an estimated offering price of $10 per share; and

® See proposed Item 10(f)(1)(i) of Regulation S-K.
I
*  See proposed Item 10(f)(1)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
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. « For purposes of the smaller reporting company definition, Company X’s “public float” -
* would be $320,000,000 ((25,000,000 shares + 7,000,000 shares) x $10 per share).
Currently, Regulation S-B requires a company preparing an initial public offering of
securities to calculate its public float for purposes of deterrhi’ning small business issuer status on
the basis of the total number of equity shares outstanding before the offering and the estimated
public offering price of the securities. Our proposed change to this rule is intended to more
accurately reflect the company’s public float by requiring companies to include the number of
shares registered to be offered to the public in calculating the public float.
With regard to a company’s initial registration statement under the Exchange Act
covering a class of securities, the company would calculate its public float as of a date within a
30-day window of the registration statement being filed. Because such an Exchange Act
. registration statement would not directly affect the issuer’s public float, if an issuer that files
such an Exchange Act registration statement does not have a public float or its public float
cannot be calculated because there is no market price for the issuer’s equity securities, the
issuer’s eligibility for the scaled disclosure and reporting would be based on its revenue.

b. Comparison of the Proposed Standard to the Advisory Committee’s .
Recommendation

The proposal to broaden the number of smaller companies eligible for our scaled
disclosure and reporting requirements is consistent with, but not identical to the Advisory
Committee recommendation. The Advisory Committee recommended that we make the majority
of our smaller company requirements available to companies whose equity market capitalization
places them in the lowest 1% of total U.S. market capitalization, which it called “microcap

companies.” The Advisory Committee indicated that, based on the information it relied upon,
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’ the ceiling for that category was $128 million in market capitalization.‘“’ We have chosen to
propose using public float rather than market capitalization to set the ceiling for several reasons:

The Commission has consistently used public float in this context, %7 rather than market

capitalization,;

» Each reporting company already is required to disclose its public float on the cover page
of its annual report on Form 10-K or Form 10-KSB;

» The use of market capitalization would require us to establish new standards for reporting
companies to calculate that information and a new obligation for those companies to
disclose that information; and

» The overlap between reporting companies with $128 million in market capitalization and
reporting companies with $75 million in public float is approximately 98%.*¢

. We have not proposed a standard based on a company’s ranking within a speciﬁed
percentage of total U.S. market capitalization because we believe that such a standard may make
the smaller reporting company system unduly complivcated and create confusion among both
smaller companies and their investors. Our proposal to adjust the $75 million public float and
$50 million in revenue ceilings every five years to account for inflation, however, responds to
the Advisory Committee’s concern that our regulatory metrics should be adjusted in a timely
manner to reflect changes in our economy.

The Advisory Committee received numerous comments to the effect that the $25 million

*  The Advisory Committee relied on data derived from Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) for 9,428

New York and American Stock Exchange companies as of March 31, 2005 and from Nasdaq for NASDAQ
Stock Market and Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board firms as of June 10, 2005. See Advisory Committee Final
Report, at 15 n.36.

7" In our adopting release for public securities offering reform, we provided the historical background for the use
_ of public float as a measure for determining Form S-3 or F-3 eligibility. See Release No. 33-8591, at 26 n.50
(July 19, 2005) [70 FR 148]. '

“®  This estimate was calculated from data obtained from Thomson Financial (Datastream).
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public float and revenﬁe standards in Regulation S-B are too low and should be increased to
permit a broader range of smaller companies to be eligible for its benefits, particularly in light of
the increased costs associated with Exchange Act reporting obligations.49 A group responding to
the Advisory Committee’s request for comments on its proposed agenda noted that the $25
million standards resulted in Regulation S-B being available only to the very smallest public
companies.”® This group also expressed the view to the Advisory Committee that, for Regulation
S-B to Have any meaningful benefit to new and smaller public companies, the threshold needed
to be raised to $100 million in both revenue and market capitalization. Another commentator has
argued that the standard should be less concerned with market capitalization and more concerned
with revenue, which iﬁ part indicates the ability of small companies to shoulder the burdens of
regulation.”’ The Advisory Committee rejected a revenue-based metric in determining general
eligibility for scaling, however, stating that market capitalization should be the primary metric
for determining eligibility for scaling regulations and that including revenues would introduce
unnecessary additional complexity.52

The Advisory Committee recommended that we extend eligibility for scaled disclosure to
two tiers of companies — what the Advisory Committee called “microcap companies” and
“smallcap corﬁpanies.” More specifically, the Committee recommended that we develop scaled
or proportional regulation for companies that qualify as “microcap companies” because their

equity market capitalization places them in the lowest 1% of total U.S. market capitalization and

4" See Advisory Committee Final Report 64 n.132.

% See Letter from Subcommittee on Smaller Public Companies, Securities Law Committee, Society of Corporate

-Secretaries & Governance Professionals (June 7, 2005) (on file in Commission Rulemaking File No. 256-23),
available at http.//www.sec.gov/info/smallbus/acspc.shtm).

' Paul Rose, Balancing Public Market Benefits and Burdens for Smaller Companies Post Sarbanes-Oxley, 41

Willamette L. Rev. 707, 740 (2005).

2 The Advisory Committee did recommend that we adopt a revenue ceiling for companies to be eligible for

certain scaled regulations under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. See Advisory Committee Final Report
43. o
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“smallcap companies” because their equity market capitalization places them in the next lowest
1% to 5% of total U.S. equity market capitalization, with the result being that all companies
comprising the lowest 6% would be eligible for scaled or proportional regulation.”> Based on the
statistics relied upon by the Advisory Committee, companies with less than $787 million in
market capitalization would have been included in the lowest 6% of market capitalization as of
March 31, 2005.>* Our proposals do not extend the scaled disclosure regime or develop another
scaled disclosure regime for companies between $75 million and $787 million in market
capitalization at this time. We solicit comment below on the appropriateness of scaled disclosure
requirements for companies with a public ﬂoét greater than $75 million.

2. Exclusions from the Definition of “Smaller Reporting Company”

The current definition of “small business issuer” excludes companies that are not
organized in the United States or Canada, investment companies, and asset-backed issuers.”
Under the proposed amendments, all foreign companies that meet the criteria would be able to
qualify as smaller reporting companies. Foreign companies could, therefore, take advantage of
the scaled standards available to domestic smaller reporting companies if they otherwise qualify
for that status and file a form that permits disclosure based on the standards for smaller reporting
companies, such as Forms S-1, S-3, S-4, and Forms 10-Q and 10-K. In this regard, the forms
available only to “foreign private issuers,” such as Form F-1,’® Form F-3°’, Form F-.4,5 ¥ and

Form 20-F,* would not permit disclosure based on the standards for smaller reporting

3 See Advisory Committee Final Report 14-19.

o

% See Item 10(a)(1)(ii) through (iii) of Regulation S-B.
17 CFR 239.31.

7 17 CFR 239.33.

8 17 CFR 239.34.

%9 17 CFR 249.220f,
18



. companies.®® Foreign private issuer_s who qualify for smaller reporting company status could
choose whether to use the domestic forms and be able to provide disclosure based on these
standards or to use the “F” forms and comply with the disclosure requirements of those forms.

We propose to continue to exclude investment companies and asset-backed issuers from
eligibility for scaled reporting and disclosure regulation. Investment companies are subject to
separate disclosure and reporting requirements.(’] Asset-backed issuers have a separate
disclosure system that applies to them and do not use Regulation S-K for their disclosure
requirements.(’2
Request for Comments

« Should the definition of smaller reporting company include tests based on both public
float and revenue? Should the definition contain only a revenue test, rather.than the

. proposed public float test? If the definition containéd a revenue test, should the standard

be $50 million, $75 million, $100 million, or some other amount? Please explain in

detail and provide a reasoned basis for your views.

. Is a public float of less than $75 million the appropriate standard for deﬁnin.g a “smaller
reporting company?” Should the public float standard be $50 million, $150 million, or
some other amount? Please explain in detail and provide a reasoned basis for your views.

- Isit appropriate to compute public float for an initial public offering by a smaller
reportirig company by multiplying the aggregate worldwide number of such shares held

by non-affiliates before the offering plus the number of shares included in the registration

% The term “foreign private issuer” is defined in Securities Act Rule 405 and Exchange Act Rule 12b-2.

' See, e.g., Form N-1A (17 CFR 239.15A; 274.11A), N-2 (17 CFR 239.14; 274.11a-1), and N-3 (17 CFR
239.17a; 274.11b), the registration forms used by management investment companies to register under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, (15 U.S.C. 80a-1 et seq.) and to register their securities under the Securities
‘ Act. Business development companies, which are a category of investment companies that are not required to
register under the Investment Company Act, register their securities under the Securities Act on Form N-2.

62 See Regulation AB (17 CFR 229.1100 through 229.1123).
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statement by the estimated public offering price of the shares? Is it appropriate to permit
the calculation of public float on any date within 30 days of a filing?

Ié it appropriate to require compénies to estimate the public offering price of the
securities before filing an initial registration statement that would qualify them for
smaller reporting company status, as has been required in the past under Regulation S-B
and as we propose to continue to require? For purposes of calculating the estimated
public offering price per share, should we require issuers to rely on the high, ldw, or mid-
point of the price range for the securities?

Is there an alternative standard that would more accurately calculate a company’s public
float before it files its initial Securities Act registration statement with the Commission to
determine smaller reporting company eligibility? Please provide details and reasoned -
support for your posttion.

Should the definition of smaller reporting company be based on market capitalization, as
suggested by the Advisory Committee, rather than public float? If so, should the market
capitalization standard bé $150 million, $125 million, $100 million, or some other level?
Please discuss the benefits and burdens of ydur suggested standard and provide reasoned
support for your position.

Should a system of scaled or proportional regulation be made available to companies in
the lowest 1% of total U.S. market cépitalization (less than $128 million as of March 31,
2005) or the lowest 6% of total U.S. market capitalization. (8787 million as of March 31,
2005), as suggested by the Advisory Committee? Please provide r‘easoned support for
your position. |

Is the $50 million revenue threshold an appropriate level for companies without a public

float or market price, or should the test be $75 million or $25 million in revenue or some
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other standard?

Should any public float and/or revenue ceilings be indexed to adjust for inflation?
Should any ceilings be indexed using a different index than the PCECTP Index, the one
we propose to use? Please provide details and reasoned support for your position:
Should the Commission allow asset-backed issuers and investment companies, including

business development companies, or business development companies only, to qualify as

" smaller reporting companies?

Is it appropriate to permit all non-U.S. companies to qualify for smaller reporting
company status?

Are there companies reporting as small business issuers that have only public debt
outstanding aﬁd have little or no publicly-held common equity? Are there companies
with one or more classes of public debt outstanding but no significant amount of
outstanding common equity held by non-affiliates that should qualify as smaller reporting
companies? If so, should we permit such companies to qualify as smaller reporting
companies on the basis of a revenue test? Does the proposed revenue test meet the needs
of smaller companies?

What benefits would flow to investors if the Commission adopted these proposals? For
example, would the possible cost savings for the company provide a net benefit to
shareholders? Please provide details and reasoned support for your position.

If adopted, would these proposals have any negative effect on investors? For example,
would investors in companies that have a public float of between $25 million and $75
million be harmed if a company chose to provide the disclosure required of a smaller
reporting company rather than the disclosure currently required under Regulation S-K? If

so0, please describe the negative effect in detail, providing data and support where
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possible.

B. Integrating Requirements of Current Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K

1. Policy Objectives of Proposal

We have maintained a separate registration, reporting, and qualification system for small
business issuers under the Securities Act, Exchange Act, and Trust Indenture Act since 1992.%
The centerpiece of this system, Regulation S-B, followed the model of Regulation S-K. When
adopting Regulation S-B, we incorporated some concepts from Form S-18, which was a
simplified registration form for smaller companies under the Securities Act that we replaced with
Forms SB-1 and SB-2.*

Regulation S-B was designed to provide small business issuers with a siﬁgle source for
their SEC disclosure requirements. Our objectives in adopting a disclosure system for smaller
companies were to reduce compliance costs while maintaining adequate investor protection, to
improve the ability of start-ups and other small businesses to obtain financing through the public
capital markets, and to encourage those companies to provide their investors with the benefits of
trading in those markets.®®

We propose to integrate the substantive provisions of Regulation S-B into Regulation
S-K for a number of reasons. We believe integration will simplify regulation for small business
and lower costs. The current dual system scheme is complex, and we believe this complexity
may deter smaller companies from takihg advantage of scaled regulation. We also are aware of
anecdotal reports that securities lawyers recommend against using the Regulation S-B system

because it results in increased legal costs. The Advisory Committee, in recommending that we

8 See Release No. 33-6949 (Jul. 30, 1992) [57 FR 36442].

6 See Release No. 33-6949 (Jul. 30, 1992) [57 FR 36442] and Release No. 33-6924 (Mar. 20, 1992) [57 FR
9768).

% See Release No. 33-6924.
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integrate the scaled disclosure requirements available to small business issuers into Regulation

S-K and make them available to microcap companies, heard testimony that Regulation S-B was

not used for two principal reasons. The first reason is that lawyers assert that they cannot use

prior examples of filings involving companies that are not relying on Regulation S-B. The

second reason is that the lawyers must maintain expertise in two different disclosure systems.

66

Maintaining two separate but largely similar systems also results in increased burdens on the

Commission staff.

Request for Comments

Assuming we should revise Regulation S-B, should we do so in some way other than
integrating its substantive provisions into Regulation S-K? Please be as specific as
possible with your comments.

Might integrating our two disclosure systems make it more difficult to maintain scaled
securities regulation for smaller companies? How should we maintain scaled regulation
over time? Please provide opposing or supporting views and clearly explain the bases for
your views.

Will this proposal simplify the disclosure obligations of smaller companies? Please
provide details to support your view.

If these proposals are adopted, would smaller companies experience lower costs for legal
assistance and other services?

If adopted, would these proposals have any effect on investors, either positive or
negative? Please provide a detailed explanation of your views, with supporting data if

possible.

66

See Advisory Committee Final Report 64.
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. ' 2. Specific Integration Proposals

a. Financial Statements
We propose to add a new Item 310 (Financial Statements of Smaller Reporting
Companies) to Regulation S-K to set forth the alternative requirements on form and content of
financial statements for smaller companies that now appear in Item 310 of Regulation S-B. Item
310 of Regulation S-B constitutes perhaps the most significant example of scaling for smaller
companies in all of Régulation S-B, as it bases the requirements on form, content, and
preparation of financial statements for smaller companies solely on generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”); It does not require smaller companies to conform their
financial statements to the Commission’s Regulation S-X.*’ Item 310 of Regulation S-B allows
smaller companies to provide an audited balance sheet for the latest fiscal year only and audited
. statements of income, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the latest two
fiscal years only, rather than an audited balance sheet for the latest two fiscal years and audited
statements of income, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the latest three
fiscal years, as required in Regulation S-X. Item 310 of Regulation S-B also differs from
Regulation S-X in its requirements for historical and pro forma financial statements for
significant acquired businesses, the maximum age of financial statements, and limited
partr_lerships.68
We propose one substantive change in Item 310 that would differentiate it from the
current Item 310 in Regulation S-B. Currentfy, in Note 2 preceding the Item, foreign private
issuers are permitted to prepare and present financial statements in accordance with Item 17 of

Form 20-F. Item 17 of Form 20-F allows an issuer to provide alternative financial statements

‘ 7 See Rule 1.01 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.1-01).

8 The requirements of Item 310 of Regulation S-B were consistent with the requirements of Form S-18, which

governed the form and content of financial statements of smaller companies choosing to use that form before
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. prepared according to a comprehensive body of accounting principles other than those generally
accepted in the United States if certain conditions are met. Regulation S-B currently is available
only to U.S. and Canadian issuers, so permitting non-U.S. GAAP for Canadian foreign private
issuers was a modest adjustment in terms of the number of companies eligible to use this
adjustment. Because we propose to expand the definition of smaller reporting company to
include all foreign companies, we do not feel that non-U.S. GAAP financial statements would be
appropriate for a larger number of issuers. Therefore, we propose that foreigﬁ issuers who elect
to use Item 310 disclosure for smaller reporting companies be required to present financial
statements pursuant to U.S. GAAP. Currently, all financial statements in registration statements
that may be used by domestic issuers, other than Canadian small business issuers using Forms
SB-1 and SB-2, are required to conform to U.S. GAAP.®

’ Request for Comments

« Should the Commission incorporate the requirements on form and content of financial
statements of smaller companies now in Item 310 of Regulation S-B into Regulation S-X,
as proposed? Should the.Commission modify proposed Item 310 in any way?

- Isitappropriate to require U.S. GAAP for foreign private issuers and other foreign
issuers who take advantage of the smaller reporting company requirements? Or is the
option of filing a registration statement on Form ZQ-F an acceptable alternative? What
effect, if any, will this have on foreign private issuers?

« The Advisory Committee believed that a second year of audited balance sheet data would

provide investors with a basis for comparison with the current period, without

‘ Regulation S-B was adopted in 1992. See Release No. 33-6949 (Jul. 30, 1992) [57 FR 36442].
5 As noted previously, foreign private issuers may use the forms and disclosure standards available only for such

issuers.
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substantially increasing audit costs.”” Should we consider following the Advisory

Committee recommendation to require smaller reporting companies to provide fwo years

of audited balance sheet data in annual reports and registration statements?

b. Proposed Changes to Other Regulation S-K Disclosure Items

As a general rule, we propose to integrate the individual Regulation S-B disclosure items
(other than Item 310 as discussed immediately above) into Regulation S-K. To do this, we
propose to add a new paragraph to each item of Rggulatién S-K that will contain separate
disclosure standards for smaller reporting companies, to the extent that a particular item permits
such disclosure.”! To ease navigation, each new paragraph would have a heading reading
“Smaller reporting companies,” so readers can easily find the requirements tailored for smaller
-reporting companies. At this time, we do not propose any major substantive changes to the items
that we are moving from Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K. Where the disclosure standards of
identically numbered items in Regulation S-B and Regulation S-K are substantially the same for
smaller reporting companies and larger companies, we propose no change to the existing
Regulation S-K disclosure items.”> We discuss our proposed treatment of specific Regulation

S-K disclosure items below.

" See Advisory Committeé Final Report 65-66.

" We propose to add the new paragraphs at the end of items in Regulation S-K as they exist today. If we add
additional paragraphs to items of Regulation S-K in the future, we may or may not move the smaller reporting
company paragraph to the end of the item at that time. '

> We propose no changes to the following items of Regulation S-K because the disclosure standards are currently
substantially the same: Item 102 (Description of Property), Item 103 (Legal Proceedings), Item 202
{Description of Registrant’s Securities), Item 304 (Changes In and Disagreements with Accountant on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure), Item 307 (Disclosure Controls and Procedures), Item 308 (Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting), Item 308T (Internal Control Over Financial Reporting), Item 401 (Directors,
Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons), Item 403 (Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management), Item 405 (Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act), Item 406 (Code of
Ethics), Item 501( Forepart of Registration Statement and Outside From Cover Page of Prospectus), Item 502
(Inside Front and Outside Back Cover Pages of Prospectus), Item 505 (Determination of Offering Price), Item
506 (Dilution), Item 507 ( Selling Security Holders), Item 508 (Plan of Distribution), item 509 (Interest of
Named Experts and Counsel), Item 510 (Disclosure of Commission Position on Indemnification for Securities
Act Liabilities), Item 511 (Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution), Item 701 (Recent Sales of
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‘Ttem 101 (Description of Business). We propose to add a new paragraph (h) to Item 101

of Regulation S-K to set forth the alternative disclosure standards for smaller companies that
appear now in Item 101 of Regulation S-B. Under Item 101 of Regulation S-B, smaller

companies are required to provide a description of their business that is less detailed than the

" description that larger companies provide and to disclose business development activities for
~only three years, instead of the five-year disclosure required of larger companies by Item 101 of

Regulation S-K.

Item 201 (Market Price of and Dividends on Registrant’s Common Equity and Related

Stockholder Matters). We propose only a minor change in wording to this item because

Instruction 6 to paragraph (e) of Item 201 of Regulation S-K currently contains a provision
permitting smaller companies to use the alternative disclosure standards of Regulation S-B when
preparing documents under Regulation S-K. Therefore, no substantive change is necessary. We
propose to replace the reference to.a “small business issuer’” with a reference to a “smaller
reporting company” and add a heading to Instruction 6.

Items 301 (Selected Financial Data) and 302 (Supplementary Financial Information).

Regulation S-B currently does not require smaller companies to disclose Item 301 (Selected
Financial Data) or Item 302 (Supplementary Financial Information) data. We therefore propose
to add a new paragraph (c) to Items 301 and 302 in Regulation S-K, providing that smaller
reporting companies are not required to present the information required by these items.

Item 303 (Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations). We propose to add a new paragraph (d) to Item 303 of Regulation S-K to reflect
the alternative disclosure standards for smaller companies now in Item 303 of Regulation S-B.

Regulation S-B provides more streamlined disclosure requirements for a smaller company’s

Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities), Item 702 (Indemnification of Directors
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management to present its discussion and analysis of the company’s financial condition and
results of operations. It requires only two years of analysis if the company is presenting only two
years of financial statements instead of the three years of analysis required of larger companies
as required in Regulation S-X. Further, Regulation S-B does not require smaller companies to
provide tabular disclosure of contractual obligations, as required for companies reporting under
Jtem 303(a)(5) of Regulation SK.7

Iterm 305 (Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk). Regulation S-B

currently does not require smaller companies to disclose Item 305 (Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk) information. We therefore propose to add a new paragraph (¢)
to Item 305 of Regulation S-K providing that smaller reporting companies are not required to
respond to this item.

Item 402 (Executive Compensation). We propose to add a new paragraph (1) to Item 402

of Regulation S-K to add the alternative standards for smaller reporting companies for disclosure
of compensation of executives and directors now in Item 402 of Regulation S-B. Under Item
402 of Regulation S-B, a smaller company is allowed to provide executive compensation
disclosure for only three officers, rather than the five required under Item 402 of Regulation S-K,
and Summary Compensation Table disclosure for only two years, rather than the three years
required under Regulation S-K. A smaller company does not need to provide a Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, is required to provide only three of the séven tables prescribed by Item .
402 of Regulation S-K, and is required to provide alternative narrative disclosures. In the

Director Compensation Table, a smaller company need not include footnote disclosure of the

and Officers), and Item 703 (Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers).
17 CFR 229.303(a)(5).
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-grant date fair value of equity awards, given that no corresponding Grants of Plan-Based Award
Table disclosure for named executive officers of smaller companies is required.”

Item 404 (Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons).

We propose to add a new paragraph (d) to Item 404 of Regulation S-K to add the
alternative standards for disclosure of related person transactions now available to smaller
companies in Item 404 of Regulation S-B. A smaller reporting company would not be required
to disclose policies and procedures for approving related person transactions, which is required
of other companies under paragraph (b). Item 404 of Regulation S-B requires disclosure
regarding transactions where the amount exceeds the lesser of 1% of a smaller company’s total
assets or $120,000. Companies using Regulation S-K are required to disclose information only
about transactions above $120,000 in amount. As such, for smaller companies with an asset
level such that 1% of its assets would equal a dollar amount lower than $120,000, related person
disclosure under Item 404 is more rigorous than for larger companies. Further, smaller
companies are required to disclose additional specific information about underwriting discounts
and commissions and corporate parents. We propose, however, to change the calculation of total
assets for smaller reporting companies from 1% percent of their fotal assets based on the average

of total assets at year end for the last three completed fiscal years to the last two completed fiscal

years. This standard is more consistent with the two years of financial statements required of
smaller reporting companies in the filings containing these disclosures.

Item 407 (Corporate Governance). We propose to add a new paragraph (g) to Item 407

of Regulatioﬁ S-K to add the corporate governance disclosure standards now available to smaller
companies in Item 407 of Regulation S-B. Smaller reporting companies would not be required

~ to provide Compensation Committee Interlock and Insider Participation disclosure or a

™ See Release No. 8732A (Aug. 8, 2006) [71 FR 53158] and Release No. 33-8765 (Dec. 22, 2006) [71 FR
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Compensation Committee Report. In addition, smaller reporting companies would not be

required to provide an Audit Committee Report until the first annual report after their initial

~ registration statement is filed with the Commission.

Item 503 (Prospectus Summary. Risk Factors, and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges).

We propose to add a new paragraph (e) to Item 503 of Regulation S-K to add the alternative
standards for disclosure now available to smaller companies in Item 503 of Regulation S-B.
Item 503 of Regulation S-B does not require smaller companies to p_rovide the information
required by paragraph (d) ;)f Item 503 regarding the ratio of earnings to fixed charges when a
registrant issues debt, or the ratio of combined fixed charges and preference dividends to
earnings when a registrant issues preference equity securities.

Item 504 (Use of Proceeds). We propose no change to the primary text of Item 504 of

Regulation S-K because the disclosure standards of Regulation S-K and Regulation S-B
currently are substantially the same. We propose a minor change to the instructions to the item,
hO\;VCVCI', to clarify that new Item 310 of Regulation S-K, rather than Regulation S-X, will
govern whether financial statements of businesses proposed to be acquired are to be included in
the filings of smaller reporting companies relying on Item 310 of Regulation S-K rather thanv
Regulation S-X. We recognize that the instructions to Item 504 in Regulation S-K are more
specific than and more than twice as long as those in Item 504 of Regulation S-B. We do not
propose to substitute the shorter instructions of Regulation S-B for smaller reporting companies
complying with Item 504 because we do not regard the longer instructions as necessarily more
burdeﬁsome or not scaled to the needs of smaller companies.

Item 512 (Undertakings). We propose to add a new paragraph (m) to Item 512 of

Regulation S-K to add the alternative standards for disclosure now available to smaller

78338].
30



companies in Item 512 of Regulation S-B. Item 512 of Regulation S-B does not réquire smaller
companies to provide the information about asset-backed securities, foreign private issuers, and
trust indenture offerings now required by Regulation S-K.

Item 601 (Exhibits). We propose to add a new paragraph (c) to Item 601 of Regulation

S-K to incorporate the standards currently in Item 601 of Regulation S-B. The paragraph would
clarify that a smaller reporting company is not required to provide Exhibit 12 (Statements re
Computation of Ratios) unless it discloses one of the ratios discussed in the requirement upon the
registration of debt or preference equity securities. The paragraph also would clarify that, for
purposes of Exhibit 7 (Corfespondence from an Independent Accountant Regarding |
Non-Reliance on a Previously Issued Audit Report or Completed Interim Review), new Item 310
of Regulation S-K, rather than Regulation S-X, may govern the form, content, and preparation of
financial statements provided by a smaller reporting company. Our proposal also would revise
Item 601 of Regulation S-K to delete referencés to several “SB” forms and to Regulation S-B, all
of which would be deleted from our rules and regulations.

Request for Comments

« Would a different format in the proposed integrated Regulation S-K more clearly identify
the provisions that are different for smaller reporting companies?

« Is the proposed Item 101 (Description of Business) requirement adequate for most
smaller reporting companies? Please be as specific as possible and provide details to
support your position.

. Should the Commi.ssion consider requiring smaller reporting companies to provide
tabular disclosure of contractual obligations required in paragraph (5) of Regulation S-K
Item 3037 Would this disclosure provide meaningful information for investors or would

it be overly burdensome for smaller reporting companies?
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« Should smaller reporting companies be required to fully comply with any other items of
Regulation S-K to which we do not propose to subject them?

- Are there any other provisions in current Regulation S-B that should be carried over for
smaller reporting companies into Regulation S-K that we have not proposed to be carried
over?

« Conversely, are any of the current Regulation S-B items that we propose to carry over
inappropriate for the larger group of companies we propose to define as smaller reporting
companies?
¢. A La Carte Approach
We propose to allow a company that qualifies as a smaller reporting company to choose,

on an item-by-item or “a la carte” basis, to comply with either the scaled disclosure requirements
made available in Regulation S-K for smaller reporting companies or the disclosure requirements
for other companies in Regulation S-K, when the requirements for other companies are more
rigorous.”” A smaller reporting company would have the option to take advantage of the smaller
reporting company requireménts for one, some, all or none of the items, at its election, in any
one filing, in such cases. We would require, however, that a smaller reporting company provide
its financial statements on the basis of either Item 310 of Regulation S-K or Regulation S-X for
an entire fiscal year, and not be permitted to switch back and forth from one to the other in
different filings within a single fiscal year. If this approach is adopted, we would expect that our
staff, in reviewing filings of smaller reporting companies, would be instructed to evaluate item-
by-item compliance only with the Regulation S-K requirements applicable to smaller reporting

companies, and not with the requirements applicable to larger companies, even if the company

> As proposed, Item 404 would be the only disclosure requirement in Regulation S-K that would be more

nigorous for smaller reporting companies than for other companies.
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whose filing is being reviewed chooses to comply with the larger company requirements.’® The
staff also woﬁld continue to seek clarity in disclosure provided by smaller reporting companies.

Our objective in proposing the “a la carte” approach is to provide maximum flexibility
for smaller reporting companies without disadvantaging investors. While establishing a baseline
of required disclosure, we want to encourage smaller reporting companies to determine for
themselves the proper balance and mix of disclosure for their investors within the boundaries of
the law, given the costs of compliance and the market demand for information.

We propose to add a check box to the cover page of all filings in which smaller reporting
companies may take advantage of the alternative disclosure requirements. The check box would
require smaller reporting companies to indicate that they are eligible for “Smaller Reporting
Company” status. Investors and others reviewing the filing would be able to tell from the check
box that the disclosing company is eligible to comply with the scaled disclosure availablé to
smaller feportin g companies.

In propos{ng to require smaller reporting to companies to check a box identifying
themselves as such on the cover page of their filings, we are attempting to strike the appropriate
balance among investor protection, transparency, and the legitimate needs of smaller companies.
We are aware that, as discussed by the Advisory Committee, a major reason our current
Regulation S-B system has not worked as well as intended 1s that it requires filing on “SB” forms
that may not have achieved an optimal level of market acceptance.”” By requiring a company to
check a box on the front of its filings, we are trying to address the legitimate needs of investors
who may want to know if a company is eligible to comply with standards scaled for smaller

companies. We are attempting, however, to avoid unduly stigmatizing smaller companies. We

" These proposals would have no effect on the legal requirements and liabilities that would continue to apply to

all disclosures made by issuers.

"7 See Advisory Committee Final Report 63-64.
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believe that, if we have scaled our disclosure and reporting requirements to properly reflect the

characteristics of smaller companies, investors will be adequately protected by our rules and

should not be unduly concerned that a company may be providing information under a different,

scaled standard. -

Request for Comments

Should the Commission adopt the a la carte approach, allowing smaller reporting
companieé to take advantage of the adjusted disclosure requirements available to them on
an item-by-item basis?

Have smaller companies filing on “SB” forms not achieved greater market acceptance
because investors believe that the disclosure required by Regulatién S-K is valuable?
Please provide a detailed explanation and a reasoned basis for your view.

Does the proposal to scale disclosure for smaller reporting companies strike the proper
balance between imposing proportional costs and burdens on smaller reporting
companies while adequately protecting investors?

Should the Commission adopt an approach requiring smaller reporting corﬁpanies to
comply with all disclosure requirements for larger companies if they elect to comply with
any of those requireménts? Should we require smaller reporting companies that choose
to no longer follow the disclosure requirements for larger companies to separately
disclose that change?

Is the Commission creating a situation in which newly eligible companies could
selectively choose not to discloée information that may be beneficial to investors?

Does requiring smaller reporting companies to check a box indicating their “Smaller

Reporting Company” status on the cover page of filings unduly penalize or stigmatize
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smaller reporting companies? Is a check box necessary for investor protection? Is
another alternative preferable to a check box?

Should the proposal require a smaller reporting company to check the box only if it is
choosing to comply with at least one item in Regulation S-K scaled for smaller reporting
companies, rather than requiring all eligible compénies to check the box even if they
choose not to comply with any scaled items?

What should be the impact on a smaller reporting company that attempts to satisfy the
disclosure requirements of larger companies but fails to satisfy those requirements?
Please provide details to support your vie@s.

Instead of a check box indicating the size of the company, would it be preferable to have
check boxes or some other form of identification indicating what smaller reporting
company items the company has relied upon in preparing its filing?

How would the a la carte approach affect the ability of investors to compare disclo‘sures
of smaller reporting companies?

d. Eliminating “SB” Forms

We anticipate that the elimination of forms associated with Regulation S-B (Forms

10-SB, 10-QSB, 10-KSB, SB-1, and SB-2) will result in regulatory simplification by

mainstreaming smaller reporting company filers into the Regulation S-K framework. We

anticipate that legal practitioners, accountants, and other individuals preparing disclosure forms

will appreciate the convenience of referring to only one set of disclosure requirements.

The Advisory Committee noted that elimination of the “SB” forms would reduce the

complexity of federal securities regulations. The Advisory Committee recognized that the

drawbacks associated with Regulation S-B included a lack of acceptance of “SB” filers in the
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marketplace.”® Also, North American Securities Administrators Association officials
representing state securities regulators have commented that small businesses issuing securities
were especially vulnerable to loss of investor confidence if some issuers “pqisoned the well”
with material misstatements.”

The elimination of the forms associated with Regulation S-B would result in most smaller
reporting companies using Securities Act Form S-1 to offer securities to the public. Since 2005,
an issuer using Form S-1 that is subject to the requirement to file reports pursuant to Section 13
or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act may be permitted to incorporate by reference its previously
filed Exchange Act reports if it has filed an annual report for its most recently completed fiscal
year, has filed allv reports and other materials réquired to be filed by Sections 13(a), 14, or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act during the breceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and makes available all incorporated materials on its
Web site.*® We believe that this ability to incorporate previously filed reports by reference
would result in some cost savings and efficiencies in pfepafing registration statements for
smaller reporting companies.

It is our intention that the integration of the disclosure standards of Regulation S-B into
Regulation S-K will mitigate the reported lack of market acceptance associated with smaller
filers. As one commentator has explained, it is not enough to establish that small business
should at times be treated separately from larger business; the manner in which the distinction is
made is equally important, “for a misguided partition may be worse than no partition at all.”®!

We expect that adoption of our proposal to eliminate the forms associated with Regulation S-B

78 ld__

™ U.S. General Accounting Office, Small Business: Efforts to Facilitate Equity Capital Formation 190 (2000).
8 See Release No. 33-8591 (Jul. 19, 2005) [70 FR 44722].

8 See Larry T. Garvin, Small Business and the False Dichotomies of Contract Law, 40 Wake Forest L. Rev. 295,
373 (2005).
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. will further our goals of eliminating unwarranted negative perceptions of the smaller reporting
company disclosure regime.
Request for Comments

. Is it appropriate to eliminate all “SB” forms associated with Regulation S-B?

« Should we maintain some or all of the “SB” forms, even if we integrate the provisions of
Regulatjon S-B into Regulation S-K?

- Ifadopted, would elimination of the “SB” forms provide significant benefits to legal
practitioners, accountants, and other individuals preparing disclosure for smaller
companies? Would there be any impact on investors? Please provide details to support
your views.

e. Transition to and from Smaller Reporting Company Status

. As discussed above, we propose to significantly expand eligibility for smaller company
scaled regulation by combining our two current smaller company regulatory categories, “small
business issuer” and “non-accelerated filer,” into a new category called “smaller reporting
- company.” These companies would have their own eligibility standards and rules for

transitioning up to a category of larger companies once a company exceeds the limitations for the
smaller reporting company designation. In addition, each category of larger companies has rules
for transitioning down to a smaller company category. This ordinarily would occur if the
company drops below the ceiling marking the boundary between the smaller and larger company
categories.

Currently, a small business issuer that exceeds the $25 million revenue and $25 million
public float standards for that status at the end of two consecutive ﬁscalvy'ears must transition out
of small business issuer status, effective immediately for filings covering events and completed

‘ fiscal periods in the next fiscal year. A non-accelerated filer ceases to qualify for that status and
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must transition to accelerated filer status in the next fiscal year.after its public float first rises
above $75 million as of the last business day of its most recently compieted second fiscal
quau.Ter.82 For smaller reporting companies, we propose to follow the transition model currently
used to determine “accelerated filer” status. Under our proposal, smaller reporting companies
would lose eligibility to claim that status in the first fiscal year following a fiscal year in which
the smaller reporting company’s public float rises above $75 million as of the last business day
of the second fiscal quauter.83

We also propose to follow the accelerated filer model in establishing rules for companies
to transition to smaller reporting company status. Under our current rules, a reporting company
may transition to small business issuer status in the next fiscal year if its public float and revenue
fall below $25 miilion at the end of two consecutive fiscal years.®* An accelerated filer may
transition to non-accelerated filer status in the next fiscal year if its public float falls below $50
million as of the last business day of the company’s second fiscal quarter. We propose that a
reporting corﬁpany that does not file reports claimingvsmaller reporting company status be
required to transition to that status in the next fiscal year if its public float falls below $50 million
as of the last business day of the company’s second fiscal quarter.®®

Where an issuer does not have a public float or no public market for its common equity
securities exists and it has less than $50 million in revenue, we propose to allow it to use the

scaled disclosure item requirements until it exceeds $50 million in annual revenue. Once an -

2 Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 (paragraph (3)(i) of the definition of “accelerated filer”) provides:

The determination at the end of the issuer’s fiscal year for whether a non-accelerated filer becomes an
accelerated filer, or whether a non-accelerated filer or accelerated filer becomes a large accelerated filer,
governs the deadlines for the annual report to be filed for that fiscal year, the quarterly and annual reports
to be filed for the subsequent fiscal year and all annual and quarterly reports to be filed thereafter while the
1ssuer remains an accelerated filer or large accelerated filer.

See proposed Item 10(f) of Reguiation S-K.
¥ See Item 10 of Regulation S-B.
See proposed Item 10(f) of Regulation S-K.
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issuer fails to qualify for smaller reporting status under the revenue test, it would remain
unqualified unless its annual revenues fall below $40 million during the previous fiscal year.

The determination as to whether a company qualifies for smallér reportihg company
treatment would be made at the beginning of a fiscal year on the basis of the information in a
quarterly report on Form 10-Q or an initial registration statement under the Securities Act or
Exchange Act, whichever is the first to be filed during that year. If an issuer that qualified on the
basis of revenue develops a public float or its public float increases during the year, the issuer
would remain a smaller reporting company for the entire fiscal year.

Our purpose in proposing these transition rules is to provide both predictability and
flexibility to smaller companies, while at the same time assuring that investors have access to the
appropriate level of disclosure. We do not wish to have the rules under which a smaller
company is reporting change too frequently. It also is our intention to provide smaller reporting
companies with the ability to take advantage of scaled regulation in the appropriate
circumstances.

Request for Comments

« Should the transition rules to and from smaller reporting company status be more similar
to the current transition rules for small business issuer status?

+ Should we provide a two-year test period, rather than a single determination date, for
transitioning from smaller reporting company status, as is the case for transitioning from
sfnall business issuer status today?

.« Should the Commission consider a threshold other than $50 million in public float to
transition into smaller reporting company status? Should we set the public float level for
transitioning into smaller reporting company status at $40 million, $60 million, $75

million, or some other level?
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. - Is there a better way for smaller reporting companies to transition to or from that status?
Please be as specific as possible and provide details with your comments.
f. Eliminating Transitional Small Business Issuer Format
As part of the adoption of Regulation S-B, and later additional small business initiatives,
the Commission developed a transitional registration statement, Form SB-1, and annual report,
Form 10-KSB, allowing disclosure based on Model A or B found in Regulation A% The
Commission allowed the question-and-answer format for small business issuers to make an easy
transition from a non-reporting company to a reporting company under the Securities Act or
Exchange Act. A small business issuer may use this transitional disclosure format until it:
. registers more than $10 million under the Securities Act in any continuous 12-month
period, other than on a Form S-§;
‘ . elects to graduate to a non-transitional disclosure system; or
- 1s no longer a small business issuer.

The number of companies that registered on Form SB-1 and followed the transitional
disclosure format within Form 10-KSB has declined over time. During the past five years, the
Commission has received only 56 Form SB-1 registration statements.®’” The number of
companies that file their Form 10-KSB using the transitiopal disclosure format is also small. For
the calendar years 2000 to 2005, two small business issuers out of 56 filed a Form 10-KSB using
the transttional disclosure format.

Because the transitional disclosure format is not commonly understood and infrequently

used, we propose to eliminate this disclosure option. Accordingly, smaller reporting companies

8 The transitional registration statement and annual report on Form 10-KSB allow some small business issuers to

provide alternative disclosure. The Commission also allowed some small business issuers to provide
. Regulation A model disclosure on Form SB-1 to raise up to $10 million of securities in a continuous 12-month
period. See Release No. 33-6949; see also Release No. 33-6996 (Apr. 28, 1993) [58 FR 26509].

7 We calculated the number of Forms SB-1 filed by adding those received from 2002 through 2006.
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no longer would have the option to use Form SB-1 and the transitional format version of Form
10-KSB. Instead, they would use Form S-1 and 10-K. Our proposal would remove all

references to transitional filer status, including removing paragraph 4 of General Instruction D in

Form S-4, the Note to Small Business Issuers in Rules 14a-3 and 14¢-3, and General Instructions

G in Schedule 14A. We are not proposing to alter the disclosure format permitted in Regulation
A offerings on Form 1-A.
Request for Comments
» Should the Commission maintain the transitional disclosure format option? If so, please
indicate the reasons why the option should be maintained.

g. Other Proposals

We also are soliciting suggestions for additional ways in which we could better scale our
disclosure and reporting requirements to the needs of smaller corhpanies and their investors. All
suggestions that ease the burdens of smaller companies without compromising investor
protection are welcome.

We also propose several minor and technical amendments to our rules and forms to
conform them to the regulatory changes we propose today. Most of these amendments are
deletions of references to Regulation S-B or a small business issuer rule and substitutions of
references to Regulation S-K. In a few instances, we propose to amend rules to reflect the
Commission’s current address of 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.

Request for Comments
« Are there additional ways in which we could better scale our disclosure and reporting
requirements to the needs of smaller reporting companies and their investors, while
continuing to take investor protection into account? Please be as specific as possible and

provide detailed support for your suggestions.
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III.  General Request for Comments

We request and encourage any interested person to submit comments on any aspect of
our proposals and any of the matters that might have an impact on the proposed amendments.
We request comment from investors and companies that may be affected by the proposals. We
also request comment from service professionals, such as law and accounting firms, and
facilitators of capital formation, such as underwriters and placement agents, and other regulatory
bodies, such as state securities regulators. We are especially interested in comments from
service professionals that regularly work with smaller reporting companies. With respect to any
comments, we note that they are of greatest assistance to our rulemaking initiatives if
accompanied by supporting data and analysis of the issues addressed and by alternatives to our
proposals where appropriate. |
IV. Paperwork Reduction Act

A. Background

The proposed amendments contain “collection of information” requirements within the
meaning of the Paperwork Reduétion Act 0f 1995.%% We are submitting a request for approval of
the proposed amendments to the Office of Management and Budget for review in accordance
with the Paperwork Reduction Act and its implementing regulations.®” The titles of the
collections of information are:””

(1) “Regulation S-B” (OMB Control No. 3235-0417);

(2) “Regulation S-K” (OMB Control No. 3235-0071);

(3) “Regulation C” (OMB Control No. 3235-0074);

88 44 USC 3501 et seq.

8 44 USC 3507(d); 5 CFR 1320.11.
. % The paperwork burden from Regulation S-K and S-B is imposed through the forms that are subject to the

requirements in those regulations and is reflected in the analysis of those forms. To avoid a Paperwork

42



(4) “Form SB-1” (OMB Control No. 3235-0423),

(5) “Form SB-2” (OMB Control No. 3235-0418);

(6) “Form S-1” (OMB Control No. 3235-0065);

(7) “Form S-3” (OMB Control No. 3235-0073); °
(8) “Form S-4” (OMB Control No. 3235-0324);

(9) “Form S-8” (OMB Control No. 3235-0066);

(10) “Form S-11” (OMB Control No. 3235-0067);
(11) “Form 1-A” (OMB Control No. 3235-0286);
(12) “Form 10” (OMB Control No. 3235-0064);

. (13) “Form 10-SB” (OMB Control No. 3235-0419);
(14) “Form 10-K”” (OMB Control No. 3235-0063);
(15) “Form 10-KSB” (OMB Control No. 3235-0420);
(16) “Form 8-K” (OMB Control No. 3235-0060);
(17) “Form 8-A” (OMB Control No. 3235-0056);
(18) “Form 10-Q” (OMB Control No. 3235-0070);
(19) “Form 10-QSB” (OMB Control No. 3235-0416);
(20) “Form 11-K” (OMB Control No. 3235-0082); and

(21) “Form SE” (OMB Control No. 3235-0327).

We adopted all of the existing regulations and forms pursuant to the Securities Act, the

Exchange Act, and the Trust Indenture Act. These regulations and forms set forth the disclosure
requirements for annual, periodic, and current reports and registration statements that are
prepared by issuers to provide investors information to make informed investment decisions in

registered offerings of securities and in secondary market transactions.

Reduction Act inventory reflecting duplicative burdens and for administrative convenience, we assign a one-
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Our prop.osed amendments to existing forms and regulations and the proposed
elimination of Regulation S-B, Form SB-1, Form SB-2, Form 10-SB, Form 10-KSB, and Form
10-QSB are intended to:

e make proportional and scaled disclosure options available to a larger number of

smaller companies;

e promote regulatory simplification; and

e integrate current Regulation S-B disclosure requirements for smaller companies into

disclosure requirements of Regulation S-K.

These proposed amendments are intended to result in regulatory simplification for a
greater number of entities that would be eligible for scaled disclosure item requirements. These
proposals should not increase the disclosure requirements for any registrant, but will require
some registrants to file different forms than they currently use. These proposals do not affect
any diéclosure requirements for any company with a public float over $75 million.

The hours and costs associated with preparing disclosure, filing information required by
forms, and retaining records constitute reporting and cost burdens imposed by collection of
information requirements. An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required
to respond to, a collection of information requirement unless it displays a currently valid control
number.

The information collections related to annual, periodic, and current reports and
registration statements would be mandatory for larger reporting companies; some of the

requirements, however, would be voluntary for smaller reporting companies.

hour burden to Regulations S-K and S-B.
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B.

Summary of Information Collections

Our proposals would amend the forms listed above as collections of information but

focus primarily on the forms discussed below.

The proposals would increase existing collection of information total burden estimates

for reports on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q as well as registration statements on Form 10, Form

S-1, and Form S-11 for the following reasons:

the elimination of Form 10-KSB would cause an increase in the number of companies
that are required to file an annual report on Form 10-K;*!

the elimination of Form 10-QSB would cause an increase in the number of companies
that are required to file quarterly reports on Form 10-Q;*”

the elimination of Form SB-1 would cause ah increase in the number of registration
statements filed on Form S-1 ;93

the elimination of Form SB-2 would cause an increase in the number of registration
statements filed on Form S-1 ;94 and

the elimination of Form SB-2 would cause real estate companies that had previously

used that form to use Form S-11 instead, thereby increasing the number of

registration statements filed on Form S-11.%°

91
k23
93

94

We estimate that approximately 3,504 small business issuers would file their annual reports on Form 10-X,
rather than Form 10-KSB.

We estimate that approximately 11,299 reports on Form 10-QSB that were filed in the last fiscal year would be
filed on Form 10-Q. '

We estimate that approximately 24 registration statements in the last fiscal year were filed on Form SB-1 and
would be required to be filed on Form S-1.

We estimate that approximately 1,028 registration statements were filed on Form SB-2 in the last fiscal year and
that the number of Form S-1 registration statements would increase by the same number.

We estimate that approximately 15 registration statements were filed on Form SB-2 in the last fiscal year
covering real estate transactions that would be required to be registered on Form S-11 if these proposals were
adopted.
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At the same time, the proposals would decrease existing collection of information total
burden estimates for annual repoﬁs on Form 10-KSB, quarterly reports on Form 10-QSB, and
registration statements on Form 10-SB, Form SB-1, and Form SB-2 by:

e eliminating Form SB-1, Form SB-2, Form 10-SB, Form 10-KSB, and Form 10-QSB

and integrating the disclosure requirements of Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K,

thereby simplifying the disclosure requirements by combining them into one

regulation.

In addition, the proposals may decrease existing collection of information total burden
estimates, or not affect them at all, for some reports filed on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q and
some registration statements on Form 10, Form S-1, and Form S-11, depending on the
company’s particular circumstances, by:

e replacing the definition of small business issuer with a broader category of
smaller reporting companies comprised of most non-accelerated filers with a
public float between $25 million and $75 million, and provid.ing these smaller
reporting companies with the option of scaled disclosure;

e allowing smaller reporting companies to provide. a three-year discussion of their
business development (Item 101), rather than five years as required of larger |
companies;

e allowing smaller reporting companies to provide more streamlined disclosure for
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations (Item 303) by requiring two years of analysis if the company is
presenting only two years of financial statements rather thén three years as

required of larger companies. Further, smaller reporting companies would not
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have to provide tabular disclosure of contractual obligations as required for larger
companies under Item 303(a)(5);

allowing smaller repoﬂing companies to provide an audited balance sheet for the
most recent fiscal year and audited statements of income, cash flows, and changes
in stockholders’ equity for each of the latest two fiscal years rather than an
audited balance sheet for the latest two fiscal years and audited statements of
income, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the latest three
fiscal years as required by Regulation S-X for larger companies;

allowing smaller reporting companies to provide information about the chief
executive officer and two other highly compensated executive officers (Item 402),
rather than information about the chief executive officer, chief financial officer,
and three other highly compensated executive officers as required for larger
companies and to provide only a summary compensation table, an outstanding
equity awards table, and a director compensation- tabie, rather than the seven
tables required for larger c.ompanies. Furthermore, a smaller reporting company
would not be required to provide a Compensation Discussion and Analysis, as
required of larger companies; and

allowing smaller reporting companies to disclose related person transactions that
exceed the lower of 1% of their total assets or $120,000 in amount. In this
instance, a smaller reporting company for which 1% of its assets is less than
$120,000 may have a more rigorous disclosure burden than a larger registrant if it
chose to provide the sc:aled disclosure available to smaller reporting companies.
Smaller reporting companies also would provide the related person disclosure for

two years rather than the three years required for larger companies. A smaller
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. reporting company would not be reqﬁired to disclose its policies and procedures
for approving related person transactions.
C. Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Estimates
For purposes of the Paperwork Reduction Act, we believe that if these proposals were
adopted, the burden changes would be insignificant for companies that currently meet the small
business issuer definition.
We estimate that the total increase in burden hours for Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, Form 10,
Form S-1, and Form S-11 would be 6,151,112 aﬁd that the total increase in cost would be
$933,954,800. These increases are offset by the total decrease in burden hours for Form .
10-KSB, Form 10-QSB, Form 10-SB, Form SB-1, and Form SB-2 of 6,149,012 burden hours
and a total decrease in cost of $927,927,800. The net difference between the increase and
‘ decrease is an increase of 2,100 burden hours and a cost of $6,027,000. The reason for the net
difference is that small real estate companies, which are currently eligible to use Form SB-2,
would be required to use Form S-11 if these proposals are adopted. Form S-11 is a form tailored
to the real estate industry that requires more internal burden hours and increased professional
costs. The net increase of 2,100 burden hours and costs of $6,027,000 is outweighed by the
possible decrease of 356,390 burden hours and costs of $47,479,000, as discussed in detail
below.
Our methodologies for deriving the burden hour and cost estimates presented below
represent the average burdens for all issuers, both large and small. For Exchange Act annual

reports and quarterly reports on Form 10-K and 10-Q, we estimate that 75% of the burden of
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preparation is carried by the company internally and that 25% of the burden is carried by outside
professionals retained by the issuer at an average cost of $400 per hour.”®
For purposes of the Paperwork Reduction Act, we estimate that over a three-year period’’
the annual increased incremental disclosure burden imposed by the proposed revisions would
average 4,457,088 hours per Form 10-K, 7,387 hours per Form 10, 1,155,209 hours per Form
10-Q, 138,765 hours per Form S-1, and 7,413.75 hours per Form S-11. The plain English
requirements would apply to these disclosure statements and is factored into the incremental
burden of preparing these forms.
These estimates were based on the following assumptions:
Form 10-K
e The elimination of Form 10-KSB would cause the number of Form 10-Ks filed to
increase. We estimate there were approximately 3,504 Form 10-KSBs filed in the
last fiscal year so there would be a corresponding increase of 3,504 Form 10-Ks filed.
e We estimate that an increase of 3,504 Form 10-Ks filed would result in an increase in
the compliance burden by an estimated 4,457,088 hours (3,504 companies x 1,272
internal hours per company) and an annual cost increase of $594,278,400 ($169,600

cost per response X 3,504 annual responses) with respect to the current Form 10-K.*

% In connection with other recent rulemakings, we have had discussions with several private law firms to estimate

an hourly rate of $400 as the average cost of outside professionals that assist issuers in preparing disclosure and
conducting registered offerings.

7 We calculated an annual average over a three-year period because OMB approval of Paperwork Reduction Act

submissions cover a three year period.
% Our current PRA inventory for completing a Form 10-KSB is 1,272 burden hours and a cost of $169,600 (424
professional hours x $400/hour) per report.
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Form 10-Q

Form 10

Form S-1

The elimination of Form 10-QSB would cause the number of Form 10-Qs to increase.
We estimate that there were approximately 11,299 Form 10-QSBs filed last. fiscal
year so there would be a corresponding increase of 11,299 more Form 10-Qs filed.
We estimate that an increase of 11,299 to the number of Form 10-Qs filed would
result in an increase in the compliance burden by 1,155,209 hours (11,299 responses
by companies x 102.24 internal hours per response) and an annual cost increase of
$154,027,968 (34.08 professional hours x $400 per hour = $13,632 cost per response

x 11,299 responses annually) with respect to the current Form 10-Q.

The elimination of Form 10-SB would cause the number of Form 10s to increase. We
estimate that approximately 166 Form 10-SBs were filed in the last fiscal year so
there would be a corresponding increase of 166 Form 10s.

We estimate that an increase of 166 to the number of Form ]Os filed would result in
an increase in the compliance burden by 7,387 hours (166 responses by companies x
44.5 internal hours per response) and an annual cost increase of $8,864,000 (133.5
professional hours x $400 per hour = $53,400 cost per response x 166 responses

annually) with respect to the current Form 10.

The elimination of Form SB-1 would cause the number of Form S-1s to increase. We
estimate there were approximately 17 Form SB-1s filed in the last fiscal year so there

would be a corresponding increase of 17 Form S-1s filed.

. We estimate that 17 more Form S-1s would increase the compliance burden by 3,009

hours (17 company responses x 177 internal hours per response) and increase the
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Form S-11

annual cost by $3,610,800 (531 professional hours x $400 per hour = $212,400 cost
per response x 17 responses annually).

The elimination of Form SB-2 would cause the number of Form S-1s to increase. We
estimate that there were approximately 870 Form SB-2s filed in the last fiscal year so
there would be a corresponding increase of 870 more Form S-1s ﬁléd.

We estimate that 870 more Form S-1s would result in an increase in the compliance
burden by 138,765 hours (870 company responses x 159.5 internal hours per
response) and an annual cost of $166,518,000 (478.5 professional hours x $400 .per
hour = $191,400 cost per response x 870 responses annually) increase to the current

Form S-1.

The elimination of Form SB-2 would also cause the number of Form S-11s to

increase. We estimate there were approximately 15 Form SB-2s filed by real estate

-companies in the last fiscal year so that there would be a corresponding increase of 15

Form S-11s filed.
We estimate that 15 more Form S-11s would result in an increase in the compliance

burden by 7,414 hours (15 company responses x 494.25 internal hours per response)

‘and an annual cost of $8,898,000 (1,483 professional hours x $400 per hour =

$593,200 cost per response x 15 responses annually) increase in the current Form

S-11.

The annual decrease in incremental disclosure burden resulting from the proposed revisions

would average 4,457,000 hours per Form 10-KSB, 7,387 hours per Form 10-SB, 1,540,458 hours

per Form 10-QSB, 3,009 hours per Form SB-1, and 141,158 hours per Form SB-2. The annual

decrease in incremental cost burden resulting from the proposed revisions would average
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. $594,278,000 per Form 10-KSB, $8,864,000 per Form 10-SB, $151,786,000 per Form 10-QSB,
$3,610,800 per Form SB-1, and $169,389,000 per Form SB-2. The plain English requirements
would apply to these disclosure statements and is factored into the incremental burden of
preparing these forms.

These estimates were based on the following assumptions:
Form 10-KSB
e We estimate that the elimination of 3,504 Form 10-KSBs filed would result in a
decrease in the compliance burden by 4,457,088 hours (3,504 responses by
companies x 1,272 internal hours per response) and an annual cost decrease of
$594,278,400 (424 professional hours x $400 per hour = $169,600 cost per response
x 3,504 responses annually).
. Form 10-QSB
, e We estimate that the elimination of 11,299 Form 10-QSBs filed would result in a
. decrease in the compliance burden by 1,155,209 hours (11,299 responses by
companies x 102.24 internal hours per response) and an annual cost decrease of
$154,027,968 (34.08 professional hours x $400 per hour = $13,632 cost per response
x 11,299 filings annually).
Form 10-SB
e We estimate that the elimination of 166 Form 10-SBs filed would result in a decrease
in the compliance burden by 7,387 hours (166 responses by companies x 44.5 ihtemal
hours per response) and an annual cost decrease of $8,864,000 (133.5 professional

hours x $400 per hour = $53,400 cost per response X 166 responses annually).
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' Form SB-1

e We estimate that the elimination of 17 Form SB-1s would result in a decrease in the
compliance burden by 3,009 hours (17 company responses x 177 internal hours per
response) and an annual cost decrease of $3,610,800 (531 professional hours x $400
per hour = $212,400 cost per response x 17 responses annually).

Form SB-2

e We estimate the elimination of 885 Form SB-2s would result in a decrease in the
compliance burden by 141,157.5 hours (885 company responses x 159.5 internal
hours) and an annual cost decrease of $169,389,000 (478.5 professional hours x $400
per hour = $191,400 cost per response x 885 responses annually).

Additionally, we estimate th?lt approximately 1,581 companies would become newly
' eligible to use scaled disclosure for smaller reporting compénies or have a new opportunity to
assess whether they should avail themselves of scaled regulation under the restructured regime
and could experience significant burden and cost savings if these proposals are adopted.”” We
estimate that if these smaller reporting companies use all of the scaled smaller reporting
company requirements, they would save 713,031 burden hours and an aggregate cost of
$95,01 8,100.'” We do not expect all of the 1;581 companies, however, to use all of the scaled

disclosure available to smaller reporting companies.

% We estimate that 1,227 companies would be newly eligible to use the scaled disclosure available to smaller

reporting companies in addition to another 354 companies that currently are eligible for scaled disclosure but do
not use it, resulting in a total of 1,581 companies. Approximately 1,227 companies have a public float between
$25 and $75 million, in addition to approximately 354 companies with a public float below $25 million that
currently use the “SK” forms rather than the “SB” forms.

190 A smaller reporting company generally may choose to comply with one, some, all, or none of the scaled disclosure

requirements available for smaller reporting companies under our proposals. If a smaller reporting company used all
scaled disclosure available, it would decrease the compliance burden by up to 713,031 hours (1,581 responses by
companies using regular Regulation S-K disclosure x 1,723 internal hours per company = 2,724,063 hours minus

‘ 1,581 responses by companies using scaled disclosure x 1,272 internal hours per company = 2,011,032 hours for
smaller reporting companies) and decrease the annual cost by up to $95,018,100 (574.25 professional hours x $400
per hour = $229,700 cost per response using the regular Regulation S-K disclosure x 1,581 annual responses minus
424 professional hours x $400 per hour = $169,600 cost per response x 1,581 annual responses).
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While we are unsure how many of the 1,581 smaller reporting companies would use the
scaled disclosure requirements, for purposes of this analysis, we estimate that approximately
50% of these companies would use the proposed scaled disclosure available to smaller reporting
companies. As a result, we estimate that these 790 smaller reporting companies could save
356,390 internal burden hours and costs of $47,479,000 as indicated in the table below showing
our estimates if 50% of the companies used the scaled disclosure in preparing their Form
10-K.""

Totals

The tables below illustrate the incremental annual compliance burden in the collection of
information in hours and cost for Exchange Act periodic reports, Exchange Act registration
statements, and Securities Act registration statements.

Calculation of Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Estimates for Exchange Act Reports,
Exchange Act Registration Statements, and Securities Act Registration Statements

Table 1-Decreases

Form Annual Responses Burden Hours Annual Costs
10-KSB 3,504 4,457,000 $594,278,000
10-QSB 11,299 . ‘ 1,540,458 $151,786,000

10-SB 166 7,387 $8,864,000

SB-1 17 3,009 $3,610,800

SB-2 885 141,158 $169,389,000

Total 6,149,012 $927,927,800

1% This estimate of a decrease in the compliance burden by 356,290 hours is based upon 790 responses by

companies using regular Regulation S-K disclosure x 1,723 internal hours per company = 1,361,170 hours
minus 790 responses by companies x 1,272 internal hours per company = 1,004,880 hours for smaller reporting
companies and a decrease in the annual cost by $47,479,000 (574.25 professional hours x $400 per hour=
$229,700 cost per response using regular Regulation S-K disclosure x 790 responses minus 424 professional
hours X $400 per hour = $169,600 cost per response using the scaled disclosure x 790 annual responses).
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Table 2-Increases

Form Current " Increased Proposed Current Increase Proposed Current Increase in Proposed
Annual Annual Annual Burden in Burden Burden Professional Professional Professional
Responses | Responses | Responses Hours Hours Hours Costs Costs Costs
10-K 8,602 3,504 12,106 14,819,096 | 4,457,088 19,276,184 $1,975,879,000 $594,278,000 2,570,157,000
10-Q 20,264 11,299 31,563 2,918,263 1,540,458 4,458721 $291,826,000 $151,786,000 $443,612,000
10 72 166 238 4,338 7,387 11,725 $5,206,000 $8,864,000 $14,070,000
S-1 528 887 1,415 155,232 138,765 293,997 $186,278,000 $170,128,800 $356,406,800
S-11 60 15 75 29,655 7,414 37,069 $35,586,000 $8,898,000 $44,484,000
Total 6,151,112 $933,954,800
Table 1- Decreases for Newly Eligible Companies
Companies Current Proposed Decrease in Current Proposed Decrease in
between $25 Burden Hours Burden Hours Burden Professional Professional Professional
Million and $75 under Standard using Scaled -Hours using Costs under Costs using Costs using
Million Regulation S-K Disclosure- Scaled Standard Scaled Scaled
: Disclosure Regulation S-K Disclosure Disclosure
790 1,361,170 1,004,880 - 356,290 $181,463,000 $133,984,000 $47,479,000
D. Request for Comment

We request comment in order to (a) evaluate whether the collections of information are

necessary for the proper performance of our functions, including whether the information will

have practical utility; (b) evaluate the accuracy of our estimate of the burden of collections of

information; (c) determine whether there are ways to enhance the quality, utility, and clarity of

the information to be collected; and (d) evaluate whether there are ways to minimize the burden

of the collections of information on those who respond, including through the use of automated

collection techniques or other forms of information technology.'??

Any member of the public may direct to us any comments concerning the accuracy of

these burden estimates and any suggestions for reducing these burdens. Persons submitting

comments on the collection of information requirements should direct the comments to the

102

Comments are requested pursuant to 44 U.S.C. 3506(c)(2)(B).
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Office of Management and Budget, Attention: Desk Officer for the Securities and Exchange
Commission, Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Washington, DC 20503, and should-
send a copy to Nancy M. Morris, Secretary, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090, with reference to File No. S7-15-07. Requests for materials
submitted to OMB by the Commission with regard to these collections of information should be
in writing, refer to File No. S7-15-07, and be submitted to the Securities and Exchange
Commission, Records Management, 6432 General Green Way, Alexandria, VA 22312. Because
OMB is required to make a decision concerning the collection of information requirements
between 30 and 60 days after publication of this release, your comments are best assured of
having their full effect if OMB receives them within 30 days of publication.
V. Cost-Benefit Analysis

A. Background

We are proposing to eliminate our “SB” forms and integrate Regulation S-B item
requirements into amended Regulation S-K. We propose to amend all relevant rules and forms
under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the Trust Indenture Act to replace the existing
definition of “small business issuer” with the new definition of a “smaller reporting company.”
The “smaller reporting company” would replace fhe current “small business issuer” eligibility
standards to allow a broader range of public companies to provide disclosure based on the scaled
disclosure requirements. The proposed new definition for smaller reporting company would
include companies with a public float of less than §75 million and would therefore provide a
significant increase from the $25 million levels for public float and revenue under the current

“small business issuer” definition.
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B. | Summary of Proposals

As noted above, our proposals would eliminate the separate disclosure framework of

Regulation S-B by integrating those requirements into Regulation S-K. The proposed new

definition for “smaller reporting company” would expand the number of filers that would qualify
to provide disclosure under the more scaled item requirements of the current Regulation S-B
framework. As proposed, smaller reporting companies and non-accelerated filers would both be
subject to Regulation S-K, but smaller reporting companies would have the option to provide
disclosure on an item-by-item basis according to the scaled item requirements of amended
Regulation S-K.

New Definition of Smaller Reporting Company in Regulation S-K

Under the proposals, the newly defined term “smaller reporting company” would include
previously excluded companies with public float levéls of between $25 and $75 million.
Additionally, companies that do not have a public float as defined, or are unable to calculate it,
would be eligible for scaled disclosure if their revenues are below $50 million annually. A
smaller reporting company would have the option to prepare disclosure based on the scaled
disclosure item requirements of amended Regulation S-K. The proposed amendments to
Regulation S-K would foster regulatory flexibility because eligible filers would be able to choose
the level of disclosure to provide on an item-by-item basis. We believe providing disclosure
choice is consistent with a principles-based approach, which .encourages filers to provide more
meaningful and relevant disclosure that is specific to the needs of the company and its investors. |

Description of Business

Under the proposal, companies with public float levels of less than $75 million would be

able to elect to provide disclosure regarding the development of their business for three years
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. rather than the current requirement applicable to companies between $25 million and $75 million
in public float to disclose the general development of the business for the past five years.

Financial Information

As part of our proposals to reduce costs associated with regulatory compliance, we are
proposing to simplify financial statemen§ disclosure requirements for smaller reporting
companies.

As proposed, the current financial statement requirements in Item 310 of Regulation S-B
would be available to smaller reporting companies. As proposed, Item 310 of Regulation S-K
would permit smaller reporting companies to provide an audited balance sheet for the last fiscal
year and audited statements of income, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ equity for each
of the latest two fiscal years. In addition, the expanded category of smaller reporting companies

' (companies with public float levels between $25 and $75 million) would no longer be required to
provide an audited balance sheet for the latest two fiscal years and audited statements of income,
cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the latest three fiscal years as
required by Regulation S-X. Other simpliﬁéd aspects under proposed Item 310 of Regulation
S-K would include: |

e the historical and pro forma financial statements for significant acquired businesses;

e the maximum age of financial statements; and

e limited partnerships financial statement disclosure of general partners.

Executive Compensation

As proposed to be amended, Item 402 of Regulation S-K would require smaller reporting
companies to provide:
. "~ e disclosure about the chief executive officer and two other highly compensated

executive officers only, rather than the information for the Chief Executive Officer,
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Chief Financial Officer and three other executive officers required of larger
registrants; and

e only three of the seven tables (Summary Compensation, Qutstanding Equity Awards,
and Director Compensation) required of larger reporting companies.

Transactions with related persons, promoters, and certain control persons

Under the proposals, smaller reporting companies W'ould be able to use the scaled
disclosure requirements for transactions with related persons currently in Itém 404 of Regulation
S-B. Unlike Item 404 of Regulation S-K, Item 404 of Regulation S-B does not require

“disclosure regarding the company’s policies and procedures for approving related person
transactions. Smaller reporting companies would be required, however, to report transactions
occurring within the last two years, whereas Item 404 of Regulation S-K requires disclosure for
the last fiscal year, unless the information is included in a Securities Act or Exchange Act
registration statement, where information as to the last three fiscal years is required.

C. Benefits

As discussed above, our proposals would promote regulatory simplification by
eliminating all “SB” forms and consolidating the Regulation S-B disclosure item requirements
into Regulation S-K. The integrated Regulation S-K regime would enable a larger category of
public companies to have more flexibility in tailoring disclosure standards to fit the realities of
their company. The proposed increased public float standards in the definition of smaller
reporting company would pfovide more companies the flexibility to choose between scaled item
requirements such as financial statement information and executive compensation disclosure.

Eliminating the “SB” forms would mitigate the perceived notion that smaller companieé
are currently reporting under a completely different disclosure framework. Integrating smaller

reporting companies into the Regulation S-K framework and importing Regulation S-B
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disclosure standards into Regulation S-K would provide regulatory flexibility and reduce
compliance costs for companies. We believe that these proposals will beneﬁt the capital markets
by encouraging private companies to consider offerings that are registered under the Securities
Act or to enter the Exchange Act reporting system.

As proposed, an integrated disclosure system for all companies filing forms using
Regulation S-K would promote efficiency because practitioners and investors would refer to one
disclosure framework. Filers and their practitioners would have one consolidated regulation to
find all relevant disclosure item requirements, which would reduce complexity and improve
regulatory efficiencies.

The disclosure requirements will not change for current small business issuers that have
filed under Regulation S-B. We nonetheless believe that the benefits of increased flexibility and
efficiency and mitigating the perceived notion that small business issuers are reporting under a
different framework are important to small business issuers.

As discussed earlier in this release, we estimate that approximately 1,581 companies
would have a new opportunity to use the restructured scaled disclosure requirements for smaller
reporting companies and could experience significant burden and cost savings if these proposals
are adopted.'® If all 1,581 smaller repbning companies provided scaled disclosure, they could
savé 713,031 burden hours and costs of $95,018,100, using the assumptions from our Paperwork

1% However, we do not expect all of the 1,581 companies to use all of the

Reduction Analysis.
scaled disclosure available to smaller reporting companies.

For purposes of the Paperwork Reduction Analysis, we assumed that approximately 50%

of the 1,581 companies (or 790 companies) would use the scaled disclosure requirements. We

13 See footnote 100 above.

1 1d.
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estimate that these 790 smalier reporting companies could save 356,390 internal burden hours
and costs in the amount of $47,479,000 by using the scaled disclosure requirements.'®’

We believe investors would benefit from the proposed scaled and proportional disclosure
amendments to Regulation S-K because the proposals would allow issuers to make disclosure
based on the size, business opérations, and financial condition of the smaller reporting company.
Allowing smaller reporting companies to choose scaled disclosure on an item-by-item basis
allows companies to tailor their disclosure to meet their own needs.

Finally, another benefit to smaller reporting companies is that by using Registration
Statement Form S-1 a company may be permitted to incorporate by reference its previously filed
periodic reports. .\We believe that this would result in some minor cost savings and efficiencies in
preparing registration statements for smaller repérting companies.

D. Costs

In our view, the proposed elimination of the “SB> forms and the proposed consolidation of
the Regulation S-B disclosure standards into Regulation S-K would not increase significantly the
costs of complying with the Commission’s rules. For current “SB” filers, we estimate the net
difference of reporting under Regulation S-K would be an increase of 2,100 burden hours and a
cost of 556-,027,000.106 The reason for the net difference is that small real estate companies,
which are currently e]igiblé to use Form SB-2, would be required to use Form S-11 if these -
proposals are adopted. Form S-11 is a form tailored to the real estate industry and requires more
internal burden hours and increased professional costs.

As proposed, we are not creating new rules or item requirements that would increase

burdens or impose new: requirements other than requiring foreign private issuers that elect to file

105 gee footnote 101 above.

1% See Section C. Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Estimates.
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reports as smaller reporting companies.to provide financial statements according to U.S. GAAP.
We believe that combining disclosure standards into one éentralized source in amended
Regulation S-K would streamline and simplify the disclosure burdens associated with the
registration process for many filers. Under the pfoposed amendments, our intention is to provide
regulatory relief to a Broader category of filers consistent with investor protection. We anticipate
that companies would be able to reduce costs associated with the preparation of disclosure.

We recognize that some of the 1,581 companies may choose to avail themselves of the
scaled disclosure requirements when they have complied with standard Regulation S-K
previously. These companies may be providing less information to the marketplace. But more
information is not ne;:essarily better if the cost to provide the information is greater than the
benefit. These companies would be providing scaled disclosure to fit the characteristics of their
company while balancing the burdens of providing information with their benefits.
Request for Comments

We solicit comments, especially quantitative data, to assist in our assessment of the
benefits and costs of scaled disclosure resulting from:

» expanding the category of filers that may be eligible for “smaller reporting company”
status by increasing the public float threshold to a level of less than $75 milli.on in public
float;

e climinating all forms associated with Regulation S-B;

e allowing smaller reporting companies to provide disclosure based on the scaled item
r'equirements of amended Regulation S-K, which would include Items 101, 303, 310,
402, 404, and any others that would be amended based on the current scaled standards set

forth in Regulation S-B;
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indexing the public float threshold for “smaller reporting company” eligibility to provide
for periodic adjustments based on inflation; and

making the scaled disclosure requirements in current Regulation S-B Items 101, 303,
310, 402, and 404 available to more companies eligible for “smaller reporting company”
status.”

Additionally, we request comments on the following:

Do members of the public have comments,‘ especially quantitative data, to assist our
assessment of the ben.eﬁts and costs of scaled disclosure resulting from our proposed
amendments?

Are there costs or benefits to our proposals that we have not identified?

Some companies with a public float between $25 million and $75 million may choose to
use the scaled disclosure to provide less information to investors than they have in the
past. Would this loss of information have a negative or positive effect on investors?
Would it affect the cost of capital?

It may be more difficult under the current proposal for a smaller reporting company that
filed as a Regulation S-K filer in the past to differentiate itself from other smaller
companies. Would the lack of differentiation affect investors and, if so, what impact will
it have? Would it affect the cost of capital?

Would any reporting companies that would newly qualify for scaled disclosure
requirements incur increased costs as a result of adoption of our proposed amended and

scaled item requirements of Regulation S-K?
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V1. Consideration of Impact on the Economy, Burden on
Competition and Promotion of Efficiency, Competition and Capital Formation

Section 23(a)(2) of the Exchange Act requires us to consider the impact that any new rule

would have on competition.lo7 Section 23(a)(2) also prohibits us from adopting any rule that
would impose a burden on competition not necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of
the Exchange Act.

Securities Act Section 2(b) and Exchange Act Section 3(f) require us to consider or
determine, when engaged in rulemaking, whether an action is necessary or appropriate in the
public interest and whether the action will promote efficiency, competition, and capital
formation.

The proposed amendments to Regulation S-K are intended to result in regulatory
simpliﬁcatioﬁ and efficiency by removing the duplicative sections of Regulation S-B and
consolidating the scaled item requirements of Regulation S-B, such as financial statement
information and executive compensation, into amended Regulation S-K. As proposed, amended
Regulation S-K would consolidate into a single framework the disclosure requirements
applicable to all filers that are subject to the reporting requirements of Sections 13 and 15 of the
Exchange Act and companies filing registration statements under the Securities Act. To comply
with disclosure item requirements, pracfitioners and companies would no longer need to refer to
two disclosure frameworks. Practitioners and companies would benefit from the ease of
reference thét a single disclosure framework would provide.

It is intended that the proposed amendments would promote capital formation for smaller

reporting companies and improve their ability to compete with larger companies for capita]. For

197 15 USC 78 w(a)(2).
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example, we believe capital formation would be improved by providing more flexibility to -
smaller reporting companies to tailor their disclosure to their investors’ needs. In addition, the
costs to raise capital could be reduced to the extent compliance costs would be reduced as a
result of the proposed scaled disclosure requirements. If smaller reporting companies allocate
the capital they raise and save as a result of our proposed scaled disclosure requirements to
business development in an effective manner, these companies could be more competitive.

The proposed amendments to Regulation S-K are intended to make the scaled disclosure
requirements of the current Regulation S-B regimé available to a broader category of filers on an
optional basis. More companies would be able to take advantage of more scaled disclosure item
requirements such as those contained currently in Item 310 and Item 402 of Regulation S-B.
Smaller reporting companies that avail themselves of the scaled disclosure requirements would
provide tailored disclosure that may better meet the needs of their investors. The proposed
amendments to Regulation S-K are intended to provide more disclosure choice without adding
édditional requirements.

We request comment on whether the proposals, if adopted, would promote efficiency,
competition and capital formation or have an impact or burden on competition. Commenters are
requested to provide empirical data and other factual suppoﬁ for’their viéw, if possible.

VI1. Inmitial Regulatory Flexibility Act Analysis

This Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis has been prepared in accordance with 5
U.S.C. 603. The following analysis relates to proposed revisions to the rules and forms under the
Securities Act and Exchange Act, which would include a new definition of smaller reporting
company under Regulation S-K. The new definition would expand the group of smaller
companies that qualify to provide disclosure in accordance with the scaled requirements of the

current Regulation S-B disclosure framework.
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. As proposed, a smaller reporting company would be defined as a company that meets all
of the following criteria: is not an investment company, an asset-backed issuer, or the majority-
‘owned subsidiary of a parent that was not a smaller reporting company and that had a public .
float of less than $75 million as of the last business day of its most recently completed second
fiscal quarter, and in the case of an issuer whose public float was zero because the issuer had no
significant equity outstanding or no market price for its equity, had annual revenues of less than
$50 million during its most recently completed fiscal year for which audited financial statements
are available on the date of ihe filing that establishes whether or not the issuer is a smaller
reporting company for any fiscal year.
The proposed révisions also would eliminate the separate disclosure regime of
Regulation S-B by removing all related “SB” forms and merging the Regulation S-B item
. requirements into Regulation S-K. The proposed revisions to Regulation S-K include revising
item requirements to offer smaller reporting i:ompanies optional disclosure alternatives that are
designed to provide flexibility, cost efficiencies and regulatory simpliﬁcation. The revisions
would result in greater uniformity of rules and regulations and compliance simplification for
filers.
A. Reasons for and Objectives of the Proposed Action

1. The Advisory Committee on Smaller Public Companies Recommended
Scaled Federal Securities Regulation for Smaller Companies

In March 2005, the Commission chartered the Advisory Committee on Smaller Public
Companies to assess the current regulatory system for smaller companies under the federal
securities laws and to make recommendations for changes to improve regulatory conditions for

smaller companies. The Commission directed the Advisory Committee on Smaller Public

66



2'% and several other

Companies to consider the irﬁpact that the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200
areas, including the disclosure aﬁd reporting requirements applicable to smaller companies under
the federal securities laws.

In 2005, the Advisbry Committee received numerous comments stating that the $25
million eligibility thresholds in the Regulation S-B definition of small business issuer are too
low. The comments also indicated that the $25 million thresholds for public float and revenue in
the current definition for small business issuer should be increased to permit a much larger group
of smaller public companies to qualify for the scaled disclosure benefits of Regulation S-B,
particularly in light of the increased costs associated with reporting obligations under the
Exchange Act since passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The Advisory Committee made three recommendations in this area, which included
expanding the definition of smalier public company, incorporating Regulation S-B into
Regulation S-K, and incorporating Item 310 of Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K to make the
scaled financial statement accommodations available to a much larger group of smaller
companies.

2. Expanding Eligibility for Smaller Company Scaled Regulation Under
Amended Regulation S-K

To make the scaled requirements of the Regulation S-B disclosure framework applicable
to many more companies, the Advisory Committee recommended revising the definition of
“small business issuer” to include a company with a higher public float threshold than the $25
million ceiling currently required in the small business issuer definition found in Item 10 of

Regulation S-B.

1% pub. L. No. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745 (2002).
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‘.

Although the Advisory Committee did not recommend that we use a publié float
threshold, increased to $75 million, as we propose today, the proposed $75 million public. float
threshold is based on the reference to that number in the accelerated filer definition set forth in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. To maintain uniformity with current regulation, we believe
setting a public float threshold based on the current levels established for non-accelerated filers is
practical and avoids regulatory complexity.

3. Integrating Substantive Requirements of Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K

The overall goal of the rule proposals is to integrate the most substantive provisions of
Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K and make these scaled disclosure requirements available to
more companies as smaller reporting companies. We believe that the proposals would:

o further the goals of regulatory simplification by eliminating the current Regulation

S-B framework as a separate stand-alone disclosure standard for the smallest
reporting companies;

e update the public float threshold and eliminate the revenue threshold restriction in the
current “small business issuer” definition to accommodate many more companies that
are contemplating an offering registered under the Securities Act or entry into the
Exchange Act reporting system;

e streamline énd modernize forms under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act by
eliminating all of the “SB” forms; and -

e provide regulatory flexibility by permitting smaller reporting companies to provide
financial statement information in accordance with Item 310 of Regulation S-K

instead of Regulation S-X.
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B. Legal Basis

We are proposing the amendments pursuant to Sections 6, 7, 10 and 19(a) of the
Securities Act, Sections 12, 13, 14(a), 15(d), and 23(a) of the Exchange Act, and Section 319(a)
of the Trust Indenture Act, as amended.

C. Small Entities Subjeét to the Rule

The proposals would affect small entities, the securities of which are registered under
Section 12 of the Exchange Act or that are required to file reporté under Section 15(d) of the
Exchange Act. The proposals also would affect small entities that file, or have filed, a
registration statement that has not yet become effective under the Securities Act and that has not

19 define an issuer

been withdrawn. Securities Act Rule 157'% and Exchange Act Rule 0-10(a)
to be a “small entity” for purposes of the Regulatory Flexibility Act if it had total assets of $5
million or less on the last day of its most recent fiscal year. We believe the proposals would
affect some small entities. We estimate that there are approximately 1,100 issuers that may be
considered small entities."!

D. Reporting, Recordkeeping, and cher Compliance Requirements

As proposed, integrating Regulation S-B requirements into Regulation S-K and
rescinding all of the “SB” forms would shift the location of disclosure requirements and would
require that smaller reporting companies adapt to new formats in preparing their disclosure for
Form S-1. The proposed amendments to Regulation S-K would include a new definition for

smaller reporting company, which would broaden the category of filers preparing disclosure to

comply with the scaled item requirements of amended Regulation S-K. Companies with public

19917 CFR 230.157.
11917 CFR 240.0-10(a).

"1 The estimated number of reporting small entities is based on 2007 data including the Commission’s internal

computerized filing system and Thomson Financial’s Worldscope database. This represents an update from the
number of reporting small entities estimated in prior rulemakings.
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floats between $25 and $75 million would be included in the class of filers that is éligible to
provide disclosure based on the scaled requirements of propésed revisions tb amended
Regulation S-K. Under the proposals, the scope and presentaﬁon of information disclosed based
on the item requirements of amended Regulation S-K would differ in a number of significant
ways from the current Regulation S-K disclosure framework. Under amended Regulation S-K,
smaller reporting companies would: |

e provide three years rather than five years of business development activities and not
be required to provide segment disclosure under amended Item 101 of Regulation
S-K;

e not be required to provide disclosure required by Items 301 and 302 relating to
selected financial data and supplementary financial information;

e provide more streamlined disclosure for management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operation found in Item 303 by requiring only two
years of analysis if the company is presenting only two years of financial statements
instead of the three years currently required of larger companies;

e provide an aﬁdited balance sheet as of the end of the last fiscal year and audited
statements of income, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the
last two fiscal years in new Item 310 instead of an audited balance sheet as 01; the end
of the last two fiscal years and audited statement of income, cash flows and changes
in stockholders’ equity for each of the last three fiscal years as required by Regulation
S-X;

¢ under Item 402, limit the named executive officers for whom disclosure will be

required to a smaller group, consisting of the principal executive officer and the other
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two highest paid executive officers, require that the Summary Compensation Table
disclose the two most recent fiscal years, require a Outstanding Equity Awards at
Fiscal Year-End Table, and require the Director Compensation Table;

e under Item 402, smaller reporting companies would not be required to provide a
Compensation Discussion and Analysis or a Compensation Committee Report;
information regarding two additional executive officers; the third fiscal year of
Summary Compensation Table disclosure; or the supplementary Grants of
Plan-Based Awards Table, the Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table, the Pension
Benefits Table, and the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table anq the separate
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control narrative section; and

¢ under Item 404, a smaller reporting company would be required to describe any
transaction where the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the
average of the smaller reporting company’s total assets at the year-end for the last two
completed fiscal years, and in which any related person had or will have a direct or
indirect material interest. A smaller reporting company need not provide disclosure
relating to policies and procedures for reviewing related person transactions.

The proposed amendments to Regulation S-K would not increase the disclosure
requirements for former small business issuers and could substantially decrease the disclosure
required for issuers with public float levels between $25 million and $75 million.

Proposed amended Item 404 of Regulation S-K is the only example where it is possible that
the disclosure required for smaller reporting companies could be more extensive than for
standard Regulation S-K filers. Item 404 would contain a provision that would require
disclosure of transactions with related persons that exceed the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the

average of the smaller reporting company’s total assets at the fiscal year end for the last two
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completed fiscal years. This requirement may be more burdensome to a smaller reporting
company if 1% of total assets are less than $120,000. We believe transactions involving related
persons are important to disclose, especially for smaller reporting companies, which may
generally have lower materiality thresholds. While larger companies are bound by the higher
$120,000 threshold, we believe this difference is important for the protection of investors. This
disclosure issue would only affect smaller reporting companies that have related person
transactions.

E. Overlapping or Conflicting Federal Rules

We do not believe any current federal rules duplicate, overlap or conflict with th¢
proposed amendments.

F. Significant Alternatives

The Regulatory Flexibility Act directs us to consider significant alternatives that would
accomplish the stated objectives, while minimizing any significant adverse impact on small
entities. In connection with the proposals, we considered the following alternatives:

(a) establishing different compliance or reporting requirements which take into account

the resources available to smaller entities;

(b) the clarification, consolidation or simplification of disclosure for small entities;

(c) use Qf performance standards rather than design standards; and

(d) exempting smaller entities from coverage of the disclosure requirements or any part

thereof.

As proposed, our amendments are intended to maintain current disclosure standards for
small entities while further expanding the scope of eligibility for companies that would elect to
comply with the scaled disclosure item requirements currently set forth in Regulation S-B. Our

proposals do not exempt smaller entities from coverage of the disclosure requirements; but
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rather, they would provide a greater number of smaller reporting companies the choice to
provide scaled disclosure as set forth in the proposed smaller reporting company amendments to
Regulation S-K.

| As amended, a new definition for smaller reporting company would eliminate the current
$25 million revenue threshold and increase the public float threshold requirement up to $75
million from the $25 million level currently set forth in the small business issuer definition of
Regulation S-B.

We considered alternatives such as including a revenue cap in the new definition of
smaller reporting company but currently believe that only requiring less than $75 million in
public float was preferable, given its ease of reference and uniformity with current rules under
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.

As proposed, we would consolidate, clarify and-simplify disclosure requirement
compliance by integrating Regulation S-B into Regulation S-K. The proposed amendments
would include a new definition of smaller reporting company, which would greatly expand the
number of small entities that would qualify to provide disclosure based on the scaled disclosure
item requirements of the current Regulation S-B framework. We considered maintaining the .
Regulation S-B framework and making it available to many more companies, but believe a
single disclosure framework would be more efficient. The proposed amendments also would
eliminate all “SB” forms, which would result in regulatory simplification for smaller entities by
requiring that all registrants rely on one set of forms, such as Forms S-1, S-3, 10-K and 10-Q, for
example. These forms would include scaled item requirements for smaller reporting companies
under proposed amended Regulation S-K.

Finally, we considered the use of performance rather than design standards and

concluded that it would be inconsistent with the purposes of the Securities Act and Exchange Act
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and investor protection to specify different requirements other than those set forth in the item
requirements of Regulation S-B and Regulation S-K.
Request for Comments:
e Are there any other significant alternatives we should consider in our final regulatory

flexibility analysis?

G. Solicitation of Comments

We encourage the submission of written comments with respect to any aspect of this
initial regulatory flexibility analysis, especially empirical data on the impact on small businesses.
In particular, we request comment on: (1) the number of small entities that would be affected by
the proposed amendments of Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, Form 10, Form S-1, and Form S-11 as well
as the elimination of Regulation S-B and.Form 10-KSB, Form 10-QSB, Form 10-SB, Form
SB-1, and Form SB-2; and (2) whether these amendments would increase the reporting, record
keeping and other compliance requirements for small businesses. Such written cémments will be
considered in the preparation of the final regulatory flexibility analysis if the proposed
amendments are adopted.
VIII. Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act

For purposes of the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996''? a rule

1s “major” if it has resulted, or is likely to result in:

e an annual effect on the economy of $100 million or more;

e a major increase in costs or prices for consumers or individual industries; or

e significant adverse effects on competition, investment or innovation.

We request comment on whether our proposals would be a “major rule” for purposes of the

Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act. We solicit comment and empirical data

12 pyb. L. No. 104-121, Title II, 110 Stat. 857 (1996).
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on (a) the potential effect on the U.S. economy on an annual basis; (b) any potential increase in
costs or prices for consumers or individual industries; and (c) any potential effect on
competition, investment or innovation..
IX. Statutory Basis and Text of Proposal

We are proposing rule amendments pursuant to Sections 6, 7, 10, and 19(a) of the
Securities Act, as amended, Sections 12, 13, 14(a), 15(d), and 23(a) of the Exchange Act, as
amended, ahd SectionA319(a) of the Trust Indenture Act, as amended.
List of Subjects

17 CFR Part 228

Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Securities, Small businesses.

17 CFR Parts 210, 229, 230, 239, 240, 249, 260, and 269

Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Securities.

In accordance with the foregoing, under the authority of 15 U.S.C. 19(a) Title 17,
Chapter 11 of the Code of Federal Regulations is proposed to be amended as follows:
PART 210—-FORM AND CONTENT OF AND REQUIREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS, SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF 1935, INVESTMENT COMPANY
ACT OF 1940, INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, AND ENERGY POLICY AND
CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975

1. The authority citation for Part 210 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 771, 77g, 77h, 77, 77s, 772-2, 77z-3, T7aa(25), 77aa(26), 78c,
783-1, 781, 78m, 78n, 780(d), 78q, 78u-5, 78w(a), 7811, 78mm, 80a-8, 80a-20, 80a-29, §0a-30,
80a-31, 80a-37(a), 80b-3, 80b-11, 7202 and 7262, unless otherwise noted.

2. Amend § 210.3-01 by revising paragraphs (b), the introductory text of paragraph (c)

and (f) to read as follows:
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§ 210.3—-01 Consolidated balance sheets.
¥ %k k ok ok

(b) If the filing, other than a filing on Form 10-K or Form 10, is made within 45 days
after the end of the registrant's fiscal year and audited financial statements for the most recent
fiscal year are not available, the balance sheets may be as of the end of the two preceding fiscal
years and the filing shall include an additional balance sheet as of an ;nterim date at least as
current as the end of the registrant's third fiscal quarter of the most recenﬂy completed fiscal
year.

(c) The instruction in paragraph (b) of this section is also applicable to filings, other than
on Form 10X or Form 10, made after 45 days but within the number of days of the end of the

registrant's fiscal year specified in paragraph (i) of this section: Provided, That the following

conditions are met:
% k % % k
(f) Any interim balance sheet provided in accordance with the requirements of this
section may be unaudited and need not be presented in greater detail than is required by
§ 210.10-01. Notwithstanding the requirements-of this section, the most recent interim balance
sheet included in a filing shall be at least as current as the most recent balance sheet filed with

the Commission on Form 10-Q.

% % % ok %

3. Amend § 210.3—10 by revising paragraphs (h)(3) and (h)(4) to read as follows:

§ 210.3-10 Financial statements of guarantors and issuers of guaranteed securities
registered or being registered.

% k % ok %

(h) * ok %
76



(1) * % %
(3) Annual report refers to an annual report on Form 10-K or Form 20-F (§ 249.310 or
249.220f of this chapter).

(4) Quarterly report refers to a quarterly report on Form 10-Q (§ 249.308a of this

chapter).
% %k k%
4. Amend § 210.3-12 by revising paragraphs (a) and (d) to read as follows:

§210.3-12 Age of financial statements at effective date of registration statement or at
mailing date of proxy statement.

(a) If the financial statements in a filing are as of a date the number of days speciﬁed‘in
paragraph (g) of this section or more prior to the date the filing is expected to become effective
or proposed mailing date in the case of a proxy statement, the financial statements shall be
updated, except as specified in the following paragraphs, with a balance sheet as of an interim
date within the number of days specified in paragraph (g) of this section and with statements of
income and cash flows for the interim period between the end of the most recent fiscal year and
the date of the interim balance sheet provided and for the corresponding period of the preceding
fiscal year. Such interim financial statements may be unaudited and need not be presented in
greater detail than is required by § 210.10-01. Notwithstanding the above requirements, the
most recent interim financial statements shall be at least as current as the most recent financial
statements filed with the Commission on Form 10-Q.

%* % k %k %

(d) ﬁe age of the registrant's most recent audited financial statements included in a
registration statement filed under the Securities Act of 1933 or filed on Form 10 (17 CFR
249.210) under thé Securities Exéhange Act of 1934 shall not be more than one year and 45 days

old at the date the registration statement becomes effective if the registration statement relates to
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the security of an issuer that was not subject, immediately prior to the time of filing the
registration statement, to the reporting requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.
| * %k k k %k
5. Amend § 210.3-14 by removing the authority citations following the section and
revising paragraph (b) to read as follows:
§ 210.3-14 Special instructions for real estate operations to be acquired.
%k KK K
(b) Information required by this section is not required to be included in a filing on Form
10-K.
% % ok ok %
6. Amend § 210.4-01 by revising paragraphs (a)(3)(1)(A) and (a)(3)(1)(B) to read as
follows:

§ 210.4-01 Form, order, and terminology.

(a) * %k %
3@ * > *

(A) The first interim or annual repdrting period of the registrant's first fiscal year
beginning on or after June 15, 2005, provided the registrant does not file as a smaller reporting
company; and

(B) The first interim or annual reporting period of the registrant's first fiscal year
beginning on or after December 15, 2005, provided the registrant files as a smaller reporting

company.

¥ % ok k¥
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7. Amend § 210.10-01 by revising paragraphs (b)(6) and the introductory text of
paragraph (c) to read as follows:

§ 210.10-01 Interim financial statements.

% & ok % ok

(b) * % %k

(6) In addition to meeting the reporting requirements specified by existing standards for
accounting changes, the registraﬁt shall state the date of any material accounting change and the
reasons for making it. In addition, for filings on Form 10-Q), a letter from the registrant's
independent accountant shall be filed as an exhibit (in accordance with the provisions of Item
601 of Regulation S-K, 17 CFR 229.601) in the first Form 10-Q subsequeﬁt to the date of an
accounting change indicating whether or not the change is to an alt.emative principle which in the
accountant’s judgment is preferable under the cifcumstances; except that no letter from the
accountant need be filed when the change is made in response to a sfandard adopted by the

Financial Accounting Standards Board which requires such change.

* % % ok k

(c) Periods to be covered. The periods for which interim financial statements are to be

provided in registration statements are prescribed elsewhere in this Regulation (see §§ 210.3-01
and 3-02). For filings on Form 10—Q, financial statements shall be providéd as set forth in this
paragraph (c):
% % k & k

8. Part 228 is removed and reserved.
PART 229- STANDARD INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING FORMS UNDER SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ENERGY POLICY AND
CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975 - REGULATION S-K ‘

9. The authority citation for part 229 continues to read in part as follows:
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- Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77e, 771, 77g, 77h, 77], 77k, 17s, 772-2, 772z-3, T7aa(25), 77aa(26),
77ddd, 77eee, 77ggg, 77hhh, 777111, 77j3j, 77nnn, 77sss, 78c, 781, 78j, 781, 78m, 78n, 780, 78u-5,
78w, 7811, 78mm, 80a-8, 80a-9, 80a-20, 80a-29, 80a-30, 80a-31(c), 80a-37, 80a-38(a), 80a-39,
80b-11, aﬁd 7201 et seq.; 18 U.S.C. 1350, unless otherwise noted.

* ok ok ok %
10.  Amend § 229.10 by adding paragraph (f) before the Instructions to Item 10 to
read as follows: |

§229.10 (Item 10) General.

* %k k k %

(f) Smaller reporting companies. The requirements of this part apply to smaller

reporting companies. Where an item of this part sets forth requirements for smaller reporting
companies that are different from the requirements applicable to other companies, a smaller
reporting company may comply with either the requirement applicable to smaller reporting

companies or the requirement applicable to other companies:

(1) Definition of smaller reporting company. As used in this part, the term smaller

reporting company means an issuer that is not an investment company, an asset-backed issuer (as

defined in § 229.1101), or a majority-owned subsidiary of a parent that is not a smaller reporting
company and that:

(1) Had a public float of less than $75 million as of the last business day of its most
recently completed second fiscal quarter, computed by multiplying the aggregate worldwide
number of shares of its voting and non-votingvcommon equity held by non-affiliates by the price
at which the common equity was last sold, or the average of the bid and asked prices of common |
equity, in the principal market for the common equity; or

(i1) In the case of an initial registration statement under the Securities Act for shares of its

common equity, had a public float of less than $75 million as of a date within 30 days of the date
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of the filing of the registration statement, computed by multiplying the aggregate worldwide
number of such shares held by non-affiliates before the registration plus the number of such
shares included in the registration statement by the estimated 'pub]ic offering price of the shares; -
or

(iii) In the case of an issuer whose public float as calculated under paragraph (i) or (ii) of
this definition was zero because the issuer had no significant public common equity outstanding
or no market price for its common equity existed, had annual revenues of less than $50 million
during the most recently completed fiscal year for which audited financial statements are
available on the date of the filing that establishes whether or not the issuer is a smaller reporting
company for any fiscal year.

(2) Determination: Whether or not an issuer is a smaller reporting company is
determined for an entire fiscal year on the basis of the information in a quarterly report on Form
10-Q or an initial registration statement under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whichever
is the first to be filed that year. Once an issuer fails to qualify for smaller reporting company
status, it will remain unqualified unless it determines that its public float, as calculated in
accordance with paragraph (f)(1) of this definition was less than $SO million as of the last
business déy of its second fiscal quarter or, if that calculation results in zero because the issuer
had no significant public equity outstanding or no market price for its equity existed, if the issuer
had annual revenues of less than $40 million during its previous fiscal year. An issuer making
this determination becomes a smaller reporting company for the purpose of filings for the next
fiscal year.

k sk k ok ok

11. Amend § 229.101 by:

a. Revising the introductory text of paragraph (a)(2); and
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b. Adding paragraph (h).
The revision and addition read as follows:

§ 229.101 (Item 101) Description of business.

* % k % %

(a) (1) ***

(2) Registrants:

(i) Filing a registration statement on Form S-1 (§ 239.11 of this chapter) under the
Securities Act or on Form 10 (§ 249.210 of this chapter) under the Exchange Act:

(11) Not subject to the reporting requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act immediately prior to the filing of such registration statement; and

(111) That (including predecessors) have not received revenue from operations during each
of the 3 fiscal years immediately prior to the filing of registration statement, shall provide the
following information:

* % & % %

(h) Smaller reporting companies. A smaller reporting company, as defined by

§ 229.10(f)(1), may satisfy its obligations under this item by describing the development of its
business during the last three years. If the smaller reporting company has not been in business
for three years, give the same information for predecessor(s) of the smaller reporting company if
there are any. This business development description should include:

(1) Form and year of organization;

) | Any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceeding; and

3) Any material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a

significant amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business.
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“ (4)‘ Business of the smaller reporting company. Briefly describe the business and
include, to the extent material to an understanding of the smaller reporting company:

(1) Principal products or services and their markets;

(11) Distribution methods of the products or services;

(i)  Status of any publicly announced new product or service;

(iv)  Competitive business conditions and the smaller reporting company’s competitive
position in the industry and methods of competition;v

%) Sources and availability of raw materials and the names of principal suppliers;

(vi)  Dependence on one or a few major customers;

(Vii). Patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises, concessions, royalty agreements or labor
contracts, including duration;

‘ (viii) Need for any government approval of pﬁncipal products or services. If
government approval is necessary and the small reporting company has not yet received that
approval, discuss the status of the approval within the government approval process;

(ix)  Effect of existing or probable governmental regulations on the business;

(x) Estimate of the amount spent during each of the last two fiscal years on research
and development activities, and if applicable, the extent to which the cost of such activities are
borne directly by customers; |

(x1)  Costs and effects of compliance with environmental laws (federal, state and
local); and

(xii)  Number of total employees and number of full time employees.

5) Reports to security holders. Disclose the following in any registration statement

' you file under the Securities Act of 1933:
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(1) | If you are not required to deliver an annual report to security holders, whether you
will voluntarily send an annual report and whether the report will include audited financial
statements;

(i)  Whether you file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If you
are a reporting company, identify the reports and other information you file with the
Commission; and

(i11) | That the public may read and copy any materials you file with the Commissidn at
the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. State that the
public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the
Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. State that the Commission maintains an Internet site that
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that

file electronically with the Commission and state the address of that site (http://www.sec.gov).

You are encouraged to give your Internet address, if available.

(6) Canadian issuers. Provide the information reciuired by Items 101(f)(2) and 101(g) of
Regulation S-K (§229.101(f)(2) and (g)): |
* % k % %
12. Amend § 229.201 by:
a. Revising paragraph (a)(2); and
b. Revising Instruction 6. to Item 201(e).
The revision and addition read as follows:

§ 229.201 (Item 201) Market price of and dividends on the registrant’s common equity
and related stockholder matters. '

(a) ***
(2) If the information called for by this paragraph (a) is being presented in a registration

statement on Form S-1 (§ 239.11 of this chapter) under the Securities Act or on Form 10
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(§ 249.210 of this chapter) under the Exchange Act relating to a class of common equity for
which at the time of filing there is no established United States public trading market, indicate
the amount(s) of common equity: |

(1) That is subject to outstanding options or warrants to purchase, or securities convertible
into, common equity of the registrant;

(i1) That could be sold pursuant to § 230.144 of this chapter or that the registrant has
agreed to register under the Securities Act for sale by security holders; or

(iii) That is being, or has been publicly proposed to be, publicly offered by the registrant
(unless such common equity is being offered pursuant to an employee benefit plan or dividend
reinvestment plan), the offering of which could have a material effect on the market price of the
registrant's common equity.

* %k %k k %

Instructions to Item 201(e):

* ok % % %

(6) Smaller reporting companies. A registrant that qualifies as a smaller reporting

company, as defined by § 229.10(f)(1), is not required to provide the information required by

paragraph (e) of this Item.

* ok k % %

13. Amend § 229.301 by removing the authority citation following the section and adding

paragraph (c) before the Instruction to Item 301 to read as follows:

§ 229.301 (Item 301) Selected financial data.

* %k %k k %
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(c) Smaller reporting companies. A registrant that qualifies as a smaller reporting
company, as defined by § 229.10(f)(1), is not required to provide the information required by this

Item.

% ok ok ok %k

14. Amend § 229.302 by adding paragraph (c) to read as follows:

§ 229.302 (Item 302) Supplementary financial information.

% %k % % Xk

(©) Smaller reporting companies. A registrant that qualifies as a smaller reporting

company, as defined by § 229.10(f)(1), is not required to provide the information required by this
Item.
15. Amend § 229.303 by adding paragraph (d) to read as follows:

§229.303 (Item 303) Management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations. :

% % ok & %

(d) Smaller reborting companies. A smaller reporting company, as defined by

§ 229.10(f)(1), may provide the information required in paragraph (a)(3)(iv) for the last two most
recent fiscal years of the registrant if it provides financial information on net sales and revenues
and on income from continuing operations for only two years. A smaller reporting company is

not required to provide the information required by paragraph (a)(5) of this Item.

16. Amend § 229.305 by revising paragraph (e) to read as follows:

§ 229.305 (Item 305) Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.

% & & & %

(¢) Smaller reporting companies. A smaller reporting company, as defined by

§ 229.10(f)(1), is not required to provide the information required by this Item.
86



* % %k % %

17. Add § 229.310 to read as follows:
§ 229.310 (Item 310) Financial statements for smaller reporting companies.

Note 1 to § 229.310: Financial statements of a smaller reporting company, as defined by

§ 229.10(f)(1), its predecessors or any businesses to which the smaller reporting company is a
successor shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States.

Note 2 to § 229.310: Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.1-01 through 210.12-29) Form and

Content of and Requirements for Financial Statements shall not apply to the preparation of such

financial statements, except that the report and qualifications of the independent accountant shall

comply with the requiremgnts of Article 2 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.2-01), Item 8.A of
Form 20-F (17 CFR 249.220f) énd Article 210.3-20 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.3-20) shall
apply to financial statements of foreign private issuers, the description of accounting policies
shall comply with Article 4-08(n) of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.4-08(n)), and smaller
reporting companies engaged in oil and gas producing activities. shall follow the financial
accounting and reporting standards speciﬁed in Article 4-10 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.4—
10) with respect to such activities. To the extent that Article 11-01 (17 CFR 210.11-01) (Pro
Forma Presentation Requirements) offers enhanced guidelines for the preparation, presentation
and disclosure of pro forma financial information, smaller reporting companies may wish to
consider these items.

Note 3 to § 229.310: Financial statements for a subsidiary of a smaller reporting

company that issues securities guaranteed by the smaller reporting company or guarantees

securities issued by the smaller reporting company must be presented as required by Rule 3-10
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of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.3-10), except that the periods presented are those required by

paragraph (a) of this Item.

Note 4 to § 229.310: Financial statements for a smaller reporting company's affiliates
whose securities constitute a substantial portion of the collateral for any class of securities
registered or being regist-ered must be presented as required by Rule 3—16 of Regulation S-X (17
CFR 21 0.3—1 6), except that the periods presented are those required by paragraph (a) of this
Item.

Note 5 to § 229.310: The Commission, where consistent with the protection of investors,

may permit the omission of one or more of the financial statements or the substitution of
appropriate statements of comparable character. The Commission by informal written notice
may require the filing of other financial statements where necessary or appropriate.

Note 6 to § 229.310: Rule 4-01(a)(3) of Regulation S-X, 17 CFR 210.4-01(a)(3), shall

apply to the preparation of financial statements of smaller reporting companies.

(a) Annual financial statements. Smaller reporting companies shall file an audited

balance sheet as of the end of the most recent fiscal year, or as of a date within 135 days if the
issuers existed for a period less than one fiscal year, and audited statements of income, cash
flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the two fiscal years preceding the date of
such audited balance sheet (or such shorter period as the registrant has been in business).

(b) Interim financial statements. Interim financial statements may bé unaudited;

however, prior to filing, interim financial statements included in quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
(17 CFR § 229.310) must be reviewed by an independent public accountant using professional
standards and procedures for conducting such reviews, as established by generally accepted
auditing standards, as may be modified or supplemented by the Commission. If] in any filing,

the issuer states that interim financial statements have been reviewed by an independent public
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accountant, a report of the accountant on the review must be filed with the interim financial
statements. Interim financial statementé shall include a balance sheet as of the end of the issuer's
most recent fiscal quarter and income statements and statements of cash flows for the interim
period up to the date of such balance sheet and the compérable period of the preceding fiscal
year.

(1) Condensed format. Interim financial statements may be condensed as follows:

(1) Balance sheets should include separate captions for each balance sheet component
presented in the annual financial statements which represents 10% or more of total assets. Cash
and retained earnings should be presented regardless of relative significance to total assets.
Registrants which present a classified balance sheet in their annual financial statements should
present totals for current assets and current liabilities.

(i1) Income statements should include net sales or gross revenue, each cost and expense
category presented in the annual financial statements which exceeds 20% of sales or gross
revenues, provision for income taxes, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and
cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles or practices. (Financial institutions
should substitute net interest income for sales for purposes of determining items to be disclosed.)
Dividends per share should be presented.

(iii) Cash flow statements should include cash flows from operating, investing and
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financing activities as well as cash at the beginning ana end of each period and the increase or - -
decrease in such balance.

(iv) Additional line items may be presented to facilitate the usefulness of the interim
financial statements including their comparability with annual ﬁnancial statements.

(2) Disclosure required and additional instructions as to content. —
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(i) Footnotes. Footnote and other disclosures should be provided as needed for fair
presentation and to ensure that the financial statements are not misleading.

(i) Material subsequent events and contingencies. Disclosure must be provided of

material subsequent events and material contingencies notwithstanding disclosure in the annual
financial statements.

(iii) Significant equity investees. Sales, gross profit, net income (loss) from continuing

operations and net income must be disclosed for equity investees which constitute 20% or more
of a registrant's consolidated assets, equity or income from continuing operations.

(iv) Significant dispositions and purchase business combinations. If a significant

disposition or purchase business combination has occurred during the most recent interim period
and the transaction required the filing of a Form 8K (§249.308 of this chapter), pro forma data
must be presented which reflects revenue, income from continuing operations, net income and
income per share for the current interim period and the corresponding interim period of the

preceding fiscal year as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of the periods.

(v) Material accounting changes. Disclosure must be provided of the date and reasons
for any rﬁaterial accounting change. The registrant's independent accountant must provide a letter
in the first Form 10-Q (§ 249.308a of this Chapter) filed subsequent to the change indicating
whether or not the change is to a preferable method. Disclosure must be provided of any
retroactive change to prior period financial statements, including the effect of any such change

on income and income per share.

(vi) Development stage companies. A registrant in the development stage must provide

cumulative financial information from inception.
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Instruction 1 to Item 310(b): Where Item 310 is applicable to a Form 10-Q and the

interim period is more than one quarter, income statements must also be provided for the most
recent interim quarter and the comparable quarter of the preceding fiscal year.

Instruction 2 to Item 310(b): Interim financial statements must include all adjustments

which in the opinion of management are necessary in order to make the financial statements not
misleading. An affirmative statement that the financial statements have been so adjusted must be

included with the interim financial statements.

(c) Financial statements of businesses acquired or to be acquired. (1) If a business
combination accounted for as a “purchase” has occurred or is probable, financial statements of
the business acquired or to be acquired shall be furnished for the periods specified in paragraph
(¢)(3) of this Item.

(1) The term “purchase” encompasses the purchase of an interest in a business accounted
for by the equity method.

- (11) Acquisitions of a group of related businesses that are probable or that have occurred
subsequent to the latest fiscal year end for which audited financial statements of the issuer have
been filed shall be treated as if they are a single business combination for purposes of this Item.
The required financial statements of related businesses may be presented on a combined basis for
any periods they are under common control or management. A group of businesses are deemed
to be related if:

(A) They are under common control or management;

(B) The acquisition of one business is conditional on the acquisition of each other
business; or

(C) Each acquisition is conditioned on a single common event.
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. (iii) Annual financial statements required by this paragraph (c) shall be audited. The
| form and content of the financial statements shall be in accordance with paragraphs (a) and (b) of
this Item.

. (2) The periods for which financial statements are to be presented are determined by
comparison of the most recent annual financial statements of the business acquired or to be
acquired and the smaller reporting company's most recent annual financial statements filed at or
prior to the date of acquisition to evaluate each of the following conditions:

(1) Compare the smaller reporting company's investments in and advances to the acquiree
to the total consolidated assets of the smaller reporting company as of thé end of the most
recently completed fiscal year. (ii)) Compare the smaller reporting company's proportionate share
of the tota] assets (after intercompany eliminations) of the acquiree to the total consolidated

. assets of the smaller reporting company as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year.

(i1i) Compare the smaller reporting company's equity in the income from continuing
operations before income taxes, extraordinary items and cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principles of the acquiree to such consolidated income of the smaller reporting
company for the most recently completed fiscal year.

Computational note to paragraph (c)(2): For purposes of making the prescribed income

test the following guidance should be applied: If income of the smaller reporting company and
its subsidiaries consolidated for the most recent fiscal year is at least 10 percent lower than the
average of the income for the last five ﬁscAal years, such average income should be substituted for
purposes of the computation. Any loss years should be omitted for purposes of computing
average income.

(3)(i) If none of the conditions specified in paragraph (c)(2) of this Item exceeds 20%,

. financial statements are not required. If any of the conditions exceed 